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There is a village of six houses and more stables 
nearby, and on the mountain to the Ahonen, 

which is called Dörfli Guscha. 
 
 
This is how Bartholomäus Anhorn described  
at the year 1622 the small Walser village 
above the St. Luzisteig near Maienfeld. 
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The challenge in dealing with history is to 
extract the truth and to trace the spirit of those 

who experienced it. 
 

  
Foreword 

 
A lot has already been written about the Walser in general and about the little village of 
Guscha in detail, so I don't have much new to report here. But one thing bothered me and 
aroused my interest. I felt the urge to learn more about it. An emigrant list of people who 
emigrated from Guscha in the first half of the 19th century made me curious. 
In the state archive of the canton of Graubünden in Chur I found their forty-six names in 
the register of residents from 1850. And even after that there were always families who 
turned their backs on Guscha and settled somewhere in the world. So I had many questions 
that I pursued to find answers. 
Who were these people and where did they go? Why had they left their village? How did 
you fare in your new home country? What routes did they take and what means of transport 
were available to them – 
Back then, on the last hike of the Walser from Guscha? 
 
 
An advantage of today is the Internet with access to almost unlimited information, which, 
however, cannot always be trusted blindly. In order to verify this data, you need other 
sources, which I have found in entries in civil status registers, church books, state archives, 
passenger lists, old writings, lists of residents, etc. 
 
 

Andreas R. Metz, 2023 
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Walser-Blut 

 

 

 

Anna Mutzner (1869-1947) was my 
great-grandmother, which is why 

Walser blood still flows in my veins. 
The family tree gives an overview of 

where the source is. 

Joos Mutzner           
geb. unbek. - 1738         

1723      
Margreth Salzgeber 

unbekannt             

Andreas Mutzner         
1735 - 1772              

     1760      
Catharina Just           

1737 - 1814 

Christian Mutzner 
05.07.1761 - 1824      

       1799      
Katharina 
Mutzner            

1775 - 1843 

Jakob Mutzner 
11.06.1801 - 04.07.1852       

      1827      
Elsbeth Riederer            

03.08.1803 - 26.02.1855 
(Eltern von Paulus) 

Paul Riederer            
1780 - 1835               

 
Maria Bernhard          

1780 - 1855  

 

Caspar Riederer       
1744 - 1799            

 
Maria Nigg            
1752 - 1824  

Paulus Mutzner 
07.01.1832 - 07.10.1901       

        03.11.1865      
Anna Mutzner            

09.01.1846 - 07.09.1909 
in Maienfeld 

Tobias Mutzner 
04.05.1808 - 01.09.1870       

 
Elsbeth Boner            

02.03.1805 - 01.05.1861 
(Eltern von Anna) 

Johann Jakob          
Boner                    

1777 - 1855               
 

Katharina Bernhard       
1773 - 1850 

Caspar Mutzner       
1777 - 1846           

    1804      
Elsbeth Schmid        

1780 - 1851 

Christian Mutzner        
um 1753 - unbek.          

    1770      
Magdalena Reich        

unbekannt 

Johannes Reich       
1726 - 1766      

 
Unbekannt 

Peter Mutzner           
unbek. - um 1775            

 
Anna Kuhni (Kuoni)        

um 1730 -  unbek. 

Anna Mutzner            
23.11.1869 in Maienfeld -
26.12.1947 in Buchs/AG 

          27.05.1893 
Florian Metz                 

18.06.1861 in Chur -           
25.11.1918 in Igis 

 

Andreas Metz                   
 26.07.1907 in Chur -
26.04.1960 in Zürich    

         07.10.1933      
Margaretha Decker 
05.10.1900 in Chur - 
11.08.1995 in Zürich  

 

René Kurt Metz                      
geb. 05.07.1935 in Aarau 

      08.07.1963     
Margrit Gertrud 

 Hablützel             
13.04.1940 in Hinwil/ZH - 

29.12.2011 in Berg a.Irchel/ZH 

Andreas René Metz                            
born 24.12.1963 in Zürich 

  
- 05 - 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

I. Chapter 

The Walserism 
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I.  Chapter 

The colonization of the Alps 

owards the end of Roman rule in what is now Switzerland around 400 AD, the Helvetians were 
unable to establish their own state. Old Celtic settlements (oppida), such as in Rheinau-Altenburg 
or Zurich-Lindenhof, were refortified and settled, but the Romanized Helvetii could not prevent 

the immigration of the Alemanni into the central and eastern Mittelland. The old settlements were initially 
able to assert themselves as language islands, but over time they were adapted to the immigrants from the 
north. The Romanesque element was only able to establish itself in western Switzerland and in the Alps. 
Nevertheless, Celtic influences remain in our country to this day. Rivers, older cities and country names 
bear Celtic names. For example, the name of the canton of Uri comes from the Celtic "ure" (bull). 
 
 

–

T   

Research into the Alemannic tribe, later known as 
the «Walser», has made great strides in recent 
decades. What the Glarner chronicler Aegidius 
Tschudi described and classified 400 years ago as 
the "here Lüth", descendants of Celtic Gauls, has 
long since been corrected and rectified. Never-
theless, a lot is still in the dark and to this day the 
researchers of history, names, historians and 
archaeologists do not always agree on the much-
mentioned and partly mystical Walser trains. 
Immigrated from southern Germany via the Bernese 
Oberland, the ethnic group settled in the Upper 
Valais towards the end of the early Middle Ages 
(8th/9th century) and founded various homesteads 
in the sparsely populated side valleys of the Goms 
and the southern valleys of the Italian Piedmont, 
where they often met long-established Roman 
residents. Two different cultures collided and 
created a potential for conflict. The tall Alemanni, 
generally described as blond, blue-eyed, slender, 
with a tough and idiosyncratic character, stuck to 
their culture and way of life and traditionally kept to 
themselves. In the event of a dispute, they expelled 
the Romansh or forced their language, Walser 
German, on them. Since the valley bottoms were 
mostly already inhabited by the local population, the 
immigrants moved to the higher altitudes. The 
chosen or assigned settlement areas and the asso-
ciated climatic conditions were of vital importance 
for the existence of the immigrated clans. Due to the 
altitude of 1300 to 1800 m, arable farming with 
grain planting was only rarely an option. 
 
Greater importance was attached to the management 
of the meadows, the procurement of large hay supp-
lies, which served to overwinter the corresponding 
livestock (cows, sheep, goats). 
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But livestock farming was also restricted by the 
short alpine vegetation period and could only be 
operated at great expense and with a great deal of 
effort. Just think of the steep slopes where the grass 
had to be cut. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Marriage between the two rival ethnic groups was 
forbidden for a long time and was therefore impos-
sible. The social bond of the newcomers came first, 
and they understood themselves as a clan or as a fa-
mily. This was also revealed to the outside world 
through their house signs, family markings that they 
attached to their houses, stables, tools and livestock. 
Later, these house signs were often continued as 
family crests. (page 17) 
 
 



 

The inheritance 
 
The birth rate in the immigrant families was high 
and a flock of ten or more offspring was not uncom-
mon, rather the norm. Sometimes you needed the 
offspring for the work in the house and yard. Back 
then, there was still a long way to go in school, so 
the girls and boys had to help earn a living from an 
early age. It is therefore easy to understand that the 
land and inheritance farmed by the mountain 
dwellers were not always sufficient to allow families 
with many children to make even a modest living. 
Inheritance was a legal form of great economic im-
portance from the early Middle Ages to the 18th 
century. The lenders - these were usually the lords 
who ruled in the respective region and served as 
vassals (feudal lords, nobles, knights) of a king or a 
monastery - gave a borrower a property for use for 
an indefinite period, against interest or other 
services, such as enlistment in warlike conflicts. The 
inheritance also granted the settlers the right to free 
marriage and above all to free residence and 
therefore played a central role with social signifi-
cance in the further development of the Walser 
people and their migrations. 
The constantly growing, restricted living conditions 
therefore prompted numerous borrowers to make 
use of their right to freedom of movement in order 
to find better living conditions elsewhere. 
The situation in Upper Valais, which was under the 
authority of the Bishop of Sitten, was very unsa-
tisfactory at the time. Feuds of the feudal lords, the 
internal political organization, the legal status of the 
peasant population and the organization of law and 
courts were probably more than inadequate. All of 
this can explain the desire to emigrate, but perhaps 
the urge to move on (Walser gene) also contributed 
to the tendency among the settlers in Valais and 
northern Italy to find new living spaces as early as 
the 13th century to tap into. This is evident, among 
other things, in a document from Piedmont, where 
the surname Claus or Clausen is mentioned for the 
first time, which is said to have passed to Mutzner 
in the 15th century. However, it is no longer possible 
to draw any reliable conclusions that would confirm 
this. 
For around 300-400 years, the immigrants from the 
north had settled in the side valleys of Upper Valais 
and Goms, before some of their descendants moved 
on towards northern Italy, Ticino and the area of 
today's canton of Graubünden at the end of the 13th 
century. 
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Exodus from Valais 
 

The colonists climbed the pass heights of the mighty 
Valais Alps and the warmer climatic conditions pre-
vailing at the time must have had an accommoda-
ting effect on them. They settled towards the end of 
the 13th century in the Aosta Valley and in Pomatt 
(in Walser German: Pumatt) in the Val Formazza, 
which they reached via the 2479 meter high Gries 
Pass. This mule track has been known since the 
Bronze Age and was also used extensively by the 
Romans, since this north-south connection has no 
topographical difficulties on either side and is one of 
the few, easily walkable, direct routes from Valais 
to Italy. Even today, German is the main language 
spoken in the Walser villages of the Val Formazza, 
and quite a few resist the increasing ‘Italianisation’. 
Instead, the residents prefer to maintain friendly 
relations with the German-speaking Valaisans. 
But the space in the side valleys of the Aosta Valley 
and in the Pumatt soon became too small, so that the 
tribe spread across Ticino (the most well-known 
place is Bosco Gurin in the upper Maggia Valley, 
the only German-speaking community in Ticino) 
and the San Bernardino migrated to the Hinter-
rheintal and is accordingly referred to as the 'Rhein-
waldgruppe'. 
At the same time, the immigrants who had settled in 
Goms expanded their settlement area to the east and 
as early as the 12th century migrated via the Furka 
into the Urserental (Uri), which belonged to the 
Disentis monastery. Descendants of this 'Vorder-
rhein group' were settled by the monastic lords in the 
Vorderrheintal in Tavetsch and Obersaxen. 
In the 14th century, the Walser migrated back from 
Goms to the Bernese Oberland, where they received 
the valley background of the Lauterbrunnen valley 
and the area around present-day Brienz as their new 
home. 
The feudal lords of Raetia were also aware of the 
advantages of this tough and hard-working ethnic 
group from Valais and northern Italy. One was often 
related or related by marriage to the rulers from the 
other regions and word got around – also with the 
Barons of Vaz, who in the High Middle Ages one of 
the most powerful most noble families in the Alps 
room and their cousins the Lords of Raron were in 
Valais. Documentary they have been proven from 
about 1135 to 1338 and the gender of 'Vaz' deve-
loped over time the time next to the diocese Chur to 
the most important political power in Upper 
Rhaetia. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Um 1289 siedelten die Freiherren von Vaz, allen vo-



 Immigration in Raetia 

Due to linguistic agreements, the 
origin of the Walser colonies in 
Graubünden could be determined 
relatively precisely. 
The western colonies in the Rhine 
Forest were settled by the Walsers 
from Goms via the Val Formazza 
(Pomatt), while the eastern areas 
around  
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Around 1289, the Barons of Vaz, led by Walter von 
Vaz, settled colonists in Tavaus (Davos) and granted 
them extensive self-government rights in a fiefdom. 
As a result, the Davos region, which was originally 
only sparsely populated by Romans, developed into 
the largest Walser settlement in Graubünden. 
Accordingly, the settlers who came from central 
Valais and northern Italy and chose the 
southernmost migration route were later referred to 
as the 'Davoser group', although it cannot be ruled 
out that at least some of them also came from the 
'Rheinwald group'. could come from. 
The local population of Graubünden called the 
immigrants from Valais ‘Valiser’ or ‘Valser’ and 
this is how the term Walser came about as we know 
it today. 
The spread of the Walser cannot be seen as a 
uniform emigration phenomenon, since the settlers 
left their homeland in small groups and at different 
times. Often went of emigration to one of the feudal 
 

 

 

 

an area offered for settlement small patrol ahead 
before before the whole Clan went on the hike.  
The Walser do not behave themselves as 
conquerors, but as discrete settlers and  
did not use force to settle down, even if 
some conflicts with the Romani 
people were waiting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There is a special feature in the Upper Valais and 
Walser dialects that does not occur in any other 
Swiss dialect. In certain words, the s becomes sch: 
In the Upper Valais, the houses are called ‘Hiischer’, 
the Walser from Graubünden call them ‘Hüüscher’, 
while in the rest of German-speaking Switzerland 
the expression ‘Hiiser’ or ‘Hüüser’ is used. 
But the Upper Valais can also be divided into two 
language groups. In the west, the word heavy is 
pronounced ‘schweer’, while in Goms it means 
‘schwaär’. The same language difference can also be 
found in the Walser colonies. In southern Valais, in 
the settlement areas of Monte Rosa, one says 
‘schweer’, while in the east, in the Val Formazza 
and in Bosco Gurin, it means ‘schwaär’. From this 
it can be concluded that the colonies of Monte Rosa 
were founded from the valleys south of Visp, while 
Pumatt in Val Formazza was settled from Goms. 
Linguistics thus made a significant contribution to 
researching the Walser migrations. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

around Davos and the Prättigau were settled mainly 
from the south by the Walsers from the western 
Upper Valais the Monte Rosa area took place. 
 
In den Oberwalliser- und Walsermundarten gibt es 

The verbal proof 



                       When  Davos still called Taveus (Taffüs) 

Where cattle grazed during the growing season, 
there was no hay at all that year. Therefore, the 
Walsers needed large areas for their grass farming, 
which may also explain their single farm and hamlet 
settlements. 
 
 

The survival tool 
 
What to the field farmer in the valley  
his plough was the Walser's scythe 
and became the most important de- 
vice. Although there was before  
the time of Walser hikes a scythe 
similar tool, this however, it is not  
suitable for cutting large areas of grass without ha-
ving to bend down. 
It is therefore an interesting finding that the scythe 
got its current form in the 12th/13th centuries 
received. At the time when the Walser set out to cul-
tivate new settlement areas. This coincidence in 
time is probably more than just a coincidence, 
because the spread of grass economies in high 
mountainous areas would have been unthinkable 
without the provision of a suitable, rational tool. 
The settlement history of Graubünden, Vorarlberg 
and the St. Gallen Oberland would probably have 
taken a different direction without the scythe! 
 

  
 

            he most important Walser colonies in Graubünden were free to choose their mayor and exercise   
            the lower jurisdiction themselves. This local autonomy did not yet exist in Valais at that time, but 
            it was also associated with certain obligations that have already been mentioned (interest payments, 
military service). Nevertheless, the situation was generally better than in Valais, and once they had paid 
their dues, they were free to marry or leave the country at will. This is the core of the «Walser freedom», 
which was only granted to a few colonies in Graubünden. Walser settlements in Valais and outside Raetia 
generally did not have comparable rights and this status attracted more and more families and entire clans 
to Graubünden. 
 

The free Walsers 

The first free Walsers who came to Graubünden and 
the adjacent areas settled mainly on the edge of the 
agricultural zones that had already been settled and 
used by the Romans. That was the area near the tree 
line caused by the climate, which lies between 1,600 
and 1,800 meters above sea level on the north side 
of the Alps. lies. Trees can only thrive up to 2,300 
m in the sheltered Engadin, but the Walser never 
settled there. At the time of the Walser migrations, 
the Engadin and its side valleys were controlled by 
other feudal lords, such as their ‘von Planta’, and 
they apparently had no interest in free Walser 
colonizing their valleys. 
Farming was not possible at this altitude, or only in 
sheltered locations and only to a very limited extent, 
which was not enough for full self-sufficiency. 
Therefore, the life of the Walser was based on ani-
mal husbandry and grass farming. To do this, how-
ever, they needed large areas, since the vegetation 
period and grass growth is short on the alpine pa-
stures. Grazing was only possible after the snow had 
melted for a good five months. The rest of the time 
the cattle had to stay in the barn and be fed with hay, 
which was provided during the summer. In contrast 
to the valley locations, where several grass cuts are 
possible every year, the Walser could only cut one 
single cut on the high-lying areas, on nutrient-poor 
meadows perhaps only every second year. 
 
 
 

- 11 - 

T   



 

How did the Walser come to Guscha? 

At the beginning of the 14th century, a clan migrated 
from the Rheinwald to the Albula Valley. Presu-
mably they followed the route of the 'Davoser 
Group'. They built their huts and stables above 
Tiefencastel in Stürvis and Mutten, in an area over 
which the Bishop of Chur and the Barons of Vaz 
were competing for control. In Stürvis, a family of 
'von Stürfis' is documented as early as the end of the 
13th century. They were probably Walsers from the 
first group of immigrants or scouts to explore the 
area. Before the Walser moved in, the area near 
Mutten was only farmed as an alp by the Romanic 
valley population in Solis. Over the years, groups 
moved further towards Davos and then via Klosters 
along the Schesaplana chain over the Aschariner 
Alp in the Gafiental and settled in Partnun, Aschüel, 
St. Antönien, Schuders, Stels, Valzeina and other 
areas in the Prättigau. The landlords back then were 
still the Barons of Vaz. Donat von Vaz continued his 
father Walter's 'Walser friendliness' and enfeoffed 
the immigrants with the alpine regions along the 
Rätikon. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Around 1333, a group reached a high valley (Wilde-
nen) between Maienfeld and Seewis, and they 
named their settlement, which was founded at 
almost 1,600 meters, Stürfis, presumably because 
they came from the town of the same name in the 
Albula Valley and their leader 'Hans von Stürfis' 
was. Only coniferous wood and hay could be har-
vested in this 'wild one', and a small amount of 
barley could be planted. No deciduous trees thrive 
up there, the area is too barren and the climate too 
cold for farming. Nevertheless, this settlement 
existed for three hundred years and shows the 
inhospitable conditions in which the Walser were 
able to settle down. They only had to capitulate to 
nature in the little sun-drenched Calfeisental, and at 
the beginning of the 15th century the families there 
moved to lower-lying valley areas such as Vättis or 
Tschenner. One of the reasons was that their 
clearing work on the steep slopes gave free rein to 
the avalanches and Rüfen (mud avalanches). 
 
 

The Walser probably came from Stürfis via Flä-
schertal over the Mazorahöhe and the Guscha saddle 
down to today's Guscha. An alpine hiking route that 
shepherds still walk with their sheep to change 
pastures. 
Immigration via the Gleggkamm would also have 
been conceivable. Be that as it may, forty-five years 
after the first Walser settled Davos, the colonists 
reached the slopes above St. Luzisteig, right on the 
border with the Principality of Liechtenstein, and 
named the settlement Mutzen, derived from Mutten. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          Das Hochtal (Wildenen) bei Stürfis 
 

 
Living with the natural hazards 

 
The Walsers had to deal with the whims of nature 
from the start and it was part of everyday life. Life 
in the mountain areas was tough and dealing with 
nature shaped the people and their behavior. It goes 
without saying that the Walsers, who made a new 
home for themselves in the mountains and in the 
wild, were particularly exposed to natural hazards. 
If they wanted to preserve their habitat, they had to 
accept the dangers. The stories about avalanches 
begin with the settlement of the Alps.  
As long as nobody knew exactly how they came 
about, it was believed that they were triggered by 
evil spirits or as a punishment from God. However, 
the Walsers of the late Middle Ages already knew 
how avalanches are triggered. It was observed that 
the smallest vibrations or noises caused by whips, 
shouts or bells were enough to set the masses of 
snow in motion. They also knew about the effects of 
a protective forest, but in this respect they were in a 
quandary, because the creation of housing estates 
made it necessary to clear the forest and if app-
ropriate measures were not taken, there were 
catastrophes with many victims, such as in 1749 in 
Rueras, 1695 and 1749 in Bosco Gurin, 1899 in 
Münster, numerous declines in Galltür etc. etc. 
As a result, many settlements had to be abandoned. 
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Mutzen (today's Guscha) is first mentioned in a 
letter of inheritance from 1366. In it, Albrecht Streiff 
lends 'Hans Änderlins sun from Mutzen the goods 
for an inheritance of five pounds Bilyen, in Churer 
Bisthumb named coin to interest on Martini'. The 
feudal proprietors are obliged to do military service 
with 'swords and spears', except for 'disputes with 
the lords of the city of Mayenvelt.' 
 
However, the Mutzen settlement was founded 
shortly after the Walser arrived on Stürfis thirty 
years earlier. At that time, the local territorial lords 
and holders of the Maienfeld High Court were the 
Knights of Aspermont, the center of power was their 
castle Neu-Aspermont ob Jenins, a fief of the 
higher-ranking barons of Vaz.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                         
                                      Castle Neu-Aspermont 
 
 
Above all, Mutzen was still heavily forested during 
the immigration period, and before grass farming 
could even be considered, the ground first had to be 
cleared and made usable. Perhaps this explains why 
Mutzen was named Guscha after the settlement was 
destroyed in 1622 during the 'Bündner confusion' by 
Austrian troops, or more aptly 'hordes' under the 
leadership of Alois Baldiron. The name derives 
from the Roman word 'cuscha', which means tree 
trunk. 
The two settlements of Mutzen and Stürfis were 
burned down for the first time in 1499 during the 
Swabian War.  
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The founding of Mutzen – today's Guscha 

In view of the topography, one has to ask oneself 
how the troops got up there, especially since they 
descended from Stürfis via the 2,050m high alpine 
route of the Mazorahöhe to Guscha. 
After the departure of the Baldironic troops, the 
Walser rebuilt their homesteads in that uncertain 
political period when the balance of power was 
constantly oscillating between the Grisons and 
Habsburg-Austria. 
 
But Mutzen was not the only settlement that the 
Walser from Stürfis founded. Rofels, further down 
in the valley, and the groups of houses in Bovel and 
on Vatscherinenberg (today Ochsenberg) were also 
settled and this is how the Walser settlement "Am 
Berg" came into being. For the next 250 years or so, 
the loose association of municipalities was to exist 
until 1633, when Rofel was incorporated into the 
town of Maienfeld, and the association tacitly 
dissolved, with Guscha remaining economically and 
legally independent. 
The village of Guscha was described by the 
chronicler and pastor Nicolin Sererhart von Seewis 
around 1742 with the following words: 
"The third neighborhood that belongs to Meienfeld-
Kirch (apart from Rofels and Bovel) is Guscha, 
located next to the fruit of St. Luzisteig on a high, 
steep mountain, consists of twelve houses, and when 
you are up there, has a pleasant prospect (View) 
towards Chur, Switzerland and over the Steig down. 
They had a good cattle ranch and also some corn 
wax. From the land they can have nothing but what 
they themselves carry up on their humps, for the 
road is so narrow that no loaded horse can be 
brought up and the cattle can hardly be brought 
down. They have church rights in Meienfeld, but 
they have nothing to say in matters of authority and 
elections and they do not receive the slightest 
emoluments (revenues) from the canton of Grau-
bünden. So they are not really Bündner and also not 
Austrian subjects and one would not like to call them 
the small republic of twelve houses for that reason." 
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The settlement area Guscha above the St. Luzi-
steig. Clearly visible are the clearings carried out 
by the Walser, which created a clearing. Before 
1333 everything was still forested here. 

 
 

‘Hans Änderlins sun ab 

sen’
‘Schilten und Spiessen’

The fall of Stürfis 
 

A Maienfeld document shows that the families of Enderli, Jakob, Ulrich, Konrad and Bernhard Mutzner, 
Bartli Nigg and Thoma Senti from Stürfis had already migrated to the farms at Vaterscherinenberg and 
Bovel around 1500 and in exchange for their goods and grazing rights had exchanged Maienfeld citizenship. 
They could continue to use their former property on Stürfis for a fee of two pounds and 30 shillings. In this 
way, over time, all goods and alpine rights came to Maienfeld. In addition, the proximity of the border, 
which led to frequent attacks and looting from Vorarlberg and Liechtenstein in the defenseless seclusion of 
Stürfis, especially in times of war, may also have contributed to the abandonment of the settlement. 

Stürfis was also not spared from various plague epidemics and the 'Black Death' also decimated the popula-
tion. According to tradition, the last Stürfiser were a pair of siblings named Mutzner, who did not want to 
leave their dearly loved mountain home and fell victim to the plague in their old age in 1629. After the 
lonely deceased had been found in their hut, they were buried in the small cemetery at St. Niklaus-Kirchlein 
on Stürfis. With this the Walser settlement between Falknis, Vilan and Naafkopf ceased to exist. 

Today Stürfis is only managed as an alp during the summer months. A memorial stone with a plaque on the 
settlement's former church hill bears witness to the Walser past. 

 berichten, dass der letzte Stürviser Walser während einer der vielen Pestwellen um 1630 der Seuche im 



 

          t was simply a constant struggle for survival that the residents had to fight every day. No trace of Wal- 
          ser romance. The slopes were so sloping that even the citizens of Maienfeld scoffed at ‘those up there’: 
          ‘They have to put shackles on their chickens and tie the children up so they don’t tumble down the 
steep slopes!’ In fact, only two narrow, steep footpaths, which couldn’t be driven on with a car, led from 
the Guscha down into the valley. One path led to St. Luzisteig and on to Maienfeld, a shorter one over the 
Guscha ravine to Balzers. The Guschner people used these two mule tracks to bring their cattle, wood and 
sticks to the local markets in the valley in order to exchange or sell goods that they could not produce 
themselves, such as salt or rice. They carried all their goods up the mountain on a back stretcher, the so-
called «Reff». Above all, they promoted the economic and social exchange with the neighboring Lie-
chtensteiners and are likely to have laid the foundation for the good relations that have lasted to this day. 
 
 

–

Life on Guscha 
 

The city of Maienfeld was not fundamentally dis-
missive of the residents of Guscha. Nevertheless, the 
relationships among each other were not easy. On 
the one hand the idiosyncratic Walser and on the 
other the autocratic Maienfelder, who saw them-
selves on a higher level. The decrees and laws that 
the city fathers of Maienfeld enacted were certainly 
not always to the advantage of the Guschner. As 
early as the 15th century, disputes regarding the 
course of borders and the use of forests and wood 
were increasing. When the settlement of Rofels was 
included in municipal law in 1633, Guscha received 
a much worse political and civil position than be-
fore. They had to pay a tax to the Maienfeld city 
lords, but had no share in the benefits of the citizens 
and no civic duties. These regulations remained in 
place until well into the 19th century, although they 
were not compatible with the enactment of the can-
ton's constitution at the beginning of the same 
century. On the contrary - 
In 1829, the Guschners received an additional agree-
ment, which further reduced their legal status. 
Among other things, they were ordered to pay 
arrears of confinement and wuhrgeld. For many 
residents of Dörfli, this was the 'death blow' to 
Guscha, because these demands on a small commu-
nity, which worked hard every day to survive and 
cash was almost non-existent, prompted numerous 
Guschners to emigrate , be it in other district com-
munities, in neighboring countries or even overseas. 
The Guschner lived in family groups with tradi-
tionally many children. The death rate among young 
people was high and during a hard, snowy winter, 
the residents could only bring their deceased down 
to the “Lichlegi” of their little St. Luzisteig church 
after the spring had melted. They earned their living 

I 
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During the "heyday" up to 170 people, men, women 
and above all children, lived on Guscha. In 1742 
there were still 140 people divided into twelve 
families who lived in houses with the names: 
Rainhaus, Tolenborthaus, Brunnenhaus, Neuhaus, 
Oberhaus, Krachenhaus and Tobelhaus. 
 
Guscha had no schoolhouse and the children were 
taught in the teacher's room. It was only around 
1826 that they were allowed to go to school in 
Maienfeld, which meant a daily walk of two hours 
there and back. It therefore happened that a mother 
moved to Maienfeld with the children over the 
winter and ran her own household, or the children 
took lodgings with acquaintances near the city 
(Rofels, Bovel). 
 
The people of Guschner supplemented their need for 
meat by hunting deer, stags and chamois, but golden 
eagles and marmots were not spared either. The 
extent to which hunting was then limited to 
domestic areas and did not spread to foreign 
countries such as neighboring Liechtenstein or 
Vorarlberg remains to be seen. Certainly there were 
also cases of poaching, as we will learn later using 
the example of Andreas Just. (page 72) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reff 
after the spring had melted. They 
earned their living by keeping 
animals; Cows and goats gave 
milk, chickens gave eggs, and 
sheep gave wool for making 
clothes and blankets. Sometimes 
it was also possible to do some 
farming; Cabbage, turnips, later 
also potatoes, but also some 
barley was planted, as can be 
seen from the chronicles: 
 
'Item anno 1516 great damage 
happened on Mutzen and the 
hail, hew and Korn completely 
smashed'. 
 

‘Item anno 1516 ist uff Mutzen

Korn gantz zerschlagen’



            

War, sickness and misery 

Diseases such as dysentery, typhus and the real 
bogeyman - the plague, which was highly contagious 
and usually led to death within a few hours - kept 
spreading until the 19th century (no comparison to 
today's corona virus). The science of medicine at that 
time had no means against it, and where the disease 
appeared, it was not the medicine man who was cal-
led, but the clergy, who gave the last consolation, 
which is why many priests also contracted the plague 
and ultimately died. 
The Walsers benefited from the fact that they usually 
built their houses in scattered settlements and at a 
great distance from the cities, so that they could keep 
enough distance between themselves. This prevented 
a widespread spread of the disease among the 
mountain dwellers. Nevertheless, they were not 
spared, but the number of illnesses and deaths was 
significantly lower than in the narrow towns and 
villages of the valley. There, the plague often swept 
away entire families in one night, and in a few days 
the entire population of a hamlet. 
Already in the years 1493 and 1507 hundreds of men, 
women and children died in Maienfeld alone. In the 
two years 1595/96, so many people fell victim to the 
plague that the cemetery had to be relocated. In Fläsch 
there were eighty-eight deaths within three months. 
In 1611, the plague returned to the Sarganserland, 
which is why guards were posted at the St. Luzisteig 
crossing and other access routes, as well as at the town 
gates of Maienfeld. No one was allowed into the city 
who did not have a certificate certifying that they 
came from a 'healthy place' (looks somehow familiar 
to me, Corona measures 2020/21) and the beggars 
were given the alms that were in the Church were 
gathered outside the city walls. 
The disease reappeared violently in 1629, the year of 
disaster when the Austrians invaded the country for 
the third time and subjugated the people with 
unprecedented severity. The plague lasted seven 
months. A directory that has been preserved to this 
day notes four burials for Maienfeld on August 13, 
1629, eight for August 20, and rarely a day remained 
empty. At that time, 22,000 people, a quarter of the 
entire population, died of the plague in the three 
federations. 
 
The plague also raged in the Austrian armies with the 
same intensity. More than 2,000 warriors are said to 
have been buried in the fields near Maienfeld, but 
there was no stopping the bloody activity, and so 
Bartholomäus Anhorn wrote: 
 
"War and death, hardship and misery do not want to 
end in rule." 
 
 
 
 

The family names on Guscha 
 
The most common family names are Just, Riederer, 
Nigg and Mutzner, with the Mutzner clan relocating 
to Rofels early on and most of them settling there. 
From the 18th century onwards, it was mainly the 
Just and Riederer families who made up the 
majority of the inhabitants of Guscha. Around 1800, 
the whole of Guscha's able-bodied team consisted 
of only three men named Riederer, whereas about 
fifteen bore the name Just. In 1845 the last Riederer, 
Andreas, emigrated to America with his family. 
(page 52) 
It is therefore not surprising that the last resident of 
Guscha was called Just. It was Mathis Just in 1969 
who, after 630 years since it was founded by his 
ancestors, did not have to leave the settlement 
entirely voluntarily. But this is a different story - 
like so many stories that tell of the "Free Walsers on 
Guscha". 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                 
As early as 1800, some families began to move 
away from Guscha. The exodus peaked in mid-
century, caused by the same reasons thousands of 
people across Europe were fleeing their homes at 
the time; Wars, poverty, famine, diseases, climate 
change, desperation, etc. It was also a burden for the 
people of Guschen that the then city fathers of 
Maienfeld banned the 'Walser up there, who had to 
tie their chickens and children' with the decree of 
1829 that hadn't made life easier either.  
Who knows - maybe one or the other Just, Riederer 
or Mutzner would have stayed otherwise - 
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Mathis Just, born in 
1898 when he moved 

out in 1969 



       

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

House sign and family crest of the Guschner Walser 

House signs (house brands) are personality signs that indicate a family or an individual person and can be 
found on houses, stables, wells and on furniture and equipment. Families used to mark their possessions with 
them. House signs are geometric figures formed only by assembling strokes. Contracts and other documents 
were sometimes also 'signed' with the sign, since one was not always able to read and write in the early years. 

The Graubünden State Archive contains the largest collection (approx. 10,000) of house signs from 
Graubünden families and individuals. 

 

–

JUST     

Andreas          
RIEDERER  

Andris jun.       
JUST  

Andris          
JUST 

Anton           
JUST 

Paul                
MUTZNER 

Hans                
MUTZNER 

Christian            
MUTZNER 

Andreas         
MUTZNER 

MUTZNER     

RIEDERER   

Bernhard             
RIEDERER 

Hans                      
RIEDERER 

Kaspar               
RIEDERER 

Peter                      
RIEDERER  

Christian            
JUST 

Christian jun.      
JUST 

Florian (Fluri)       
JUST 

Peter         
JUST 

(the last of his name, 
emigrated to America 
in 1845) 

Stoffel         
BONER 

BONER 

Christoffel      
BONER 

NIGG 

Hans          
NIGG 

Andres      
NIGG 

Bernhard       
NIGG 

Bernhard       
NIGG 

Christian       
BONER 
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In the Principality of Liechtenstein, a stamp issue was dedicated to                       
the house emblems of the Walser 

 

The Walser colonies did not form a unit in the Roman regions and were widely scattered. 
Due to the relative isolation, certain colonies have retained numerous characteristics 
to this day, while other Walser people adapted more quickly and mixed with the neigh-
boring population. In the Bernese Oberland and in Savoy in particular, the untrained 
eye will hardly find any traces of the Walser settlement from back then. The last 
recognizable element of an early Walser culture is the language related to the Upper 
Valais dialect. 

In the 19th century, the Walser people of Graubünden lost all awareness of the Walser 
culture. The memory of the wanderings of their ancestors from the Valais had faded. 

In the 20th century, the Walser language continued to decline due to the development of 
traffic and tourism and was replaced by German and Italian dialects. Only in the 
originally settled areas in certain regions of Graubünden and Vorarlberg is the 'Walser' 
culture continued. 

In the 21st century, awareness of the Walser culture has grown again and efforts are 
being made to preserve the old Walser settlements, to revive the culture, language and 
traditions and to promote exchange among the descendants of the Walser in the 
community. 
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The (almost) forgotten culture 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

II. Chapter 

Life in the 19th Century 

Bibliography: 

- Historisches Lexikon der Schweiz  
- Staatsarchiv Kt. Graubünden, Chur 
- Churer Stadtgeschichte, Bd. I, S. 303ff, Bd. II, S. 121ff, Chur 1993                                                
- Mosca Nicola (Das Churer Zunftwesen, Teile I-III, in: Jahresbericht der Historisch antiquarischen 

Gesellschaft von Graubünden) 
- Militärmuseum St. Luzisteig/GR 
- ETH Bibliothek Zürich  
- Deutsches Historisches Museum (Tambora) 
- Jakob Kuoni (Maienfeld, St. Luzisteig und die Walser)  
- Rätisches Museum, Chur      
- Wikipedia 
- sozialgeschichte.ch (Pädagogische Hochschule St. Gallen) 
- Heinrich Huber, Walenstadt (Bericht über das Auswandern nach Amerika von 1845) 
- Landesmuseum Zürich 

 



 

 

        

       

II.  Chapter 

Hard times  

          n 1798 the Rhaetian Free State was occupied by the French after they had proclaimed the Helvetic  
          Republic on April 12 of the same year on the soil of the old Confederation and had to be held by  
         French arms. Now the republics of the 'Three Leagues', which contractually were a place facing 
the old Confederation, faced the unfortunate alternative of deciding for France or Austria, because 
alone and independently they could do it in the middle these two powerful and warring states do not 
remain. 

 

–

I   

It was only with great difficulty that neutrality could 
be maintained for some time and the Bündner War 
Council ordered 6,000 men to be deployed to cover 
the territorial borders. The differences between 
France and Austria grew and a peaceful solution to 
the conflict seemed a long way off. In the Three Lea-
gues, people were divided (patriots and aristocrats) 
and did not agree on which side to take. However, a 
predominantly Catholic majority voted in favor of 
Austria, since the aristocrats hoped that this would 
give them the Valtellina and other subject areas, 
which had broken away from Bunden in 1797 and 
joined the Cisalpine Republic founded by Napoleon 
and the French connected, would get back again. 
As a result, the patriotically Helvetic rulers of 
Maienfeld threatened to break away from the fede-
rations and join the Helvetic Republic on their own 
initiative. When more and more French troops were 
marching up in the Sarganserland at the end of Sep-
tember 1798 and these were already moving into Uri 
and Ticino, the French envoy no longer wanted to 
wait any longer to see whether the people of 
Graubünden would now voluntarily let the French 
into the country and join the Helvetic Republic. 
With the days of diplomacy fruitlessly over, it 
seemed only a matter of time before French troops 
would invade this important country. In order to 
resist this, the Bündner War Council asked the 
Austrians for support on October 17 to defend the 
passes and borders to protect Bünden. The Austrians 
were responsible for feeding their troops and were 
not allowed to interfere in the country's internal 
affairs, as stated in the treaty. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The following day, the Austrian invasion began via 
the Luzisteig with 4,000 men under the command of 
Major General Franz Xaver von Auffenberg, who 
also commanded the Bündner militias. But this 
Austrian glory in Graubünden did not last long, and 
the French response was not long in coming. 
On March 6, 1799, the commander-in-chief of the 
French troops in Switzerland, General André 
Masséna, issued an ultimatum to his opponent von 
Auffenberg to leave the Bünden area again. On the 
same day, without waiting for an answer, Masséna 
sent his troops in the direction of Luzisteig, where 
the Austrians were based. Opposite Balzers he 
crossed the Rhine, whereby the construction of a 
temporary bridge took a long time. In order to pre-
vent the Austrians from sending reinforcements to 
Luzisteig, Masséna had Feldkirch attacked with a 
brigade. At the same time he feigned a sham attack 
from Ragaz to Maienfeld. When his troops arrived 
from Balzers on the Luzisteig on the afternoon of 
March 6, 1799, he was determined to take the fort-
ress. There was no way he wanted to remain in the 
narrow valley with his forces separated and a 
wretched bridge behind him. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

General André Masséna 
1758-1817 
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Starting from Balzers, Masséna had one group climb 
the Fläscherberg and another climb the Falknis via 
Guscha in order to avoid the Luzisteig ski jump. He 
himself attacked the positions head-on with a 
battalion and five cannon, and when his troops fell 
in the rear of the Austrians from the heights of 
Guscha and the Fläscherberg, the bloody battle, in 
which eight hundred soldiers lost their lives, was 
over after four hours. Four hundred Austrians were 
taken prisoner, and the rest hastily retreated, leaving 
their guns behind. 
General Masséna advanced with increased power 
towards Chur, where he captured his opponent von 
Auffenberg with most of his remaining troops. 
On the same day, French armies under the command 
of General Demont reached Reichenau victoriously 
from Ragaz via the Kunkelspass. They continued to 
advance to Disentis via the Oberalp and Gotthard to 
Bellinzona and Misox. The Austrians were blown 
up all along the line, beaten and soon thrown out of 
all the leagues, so that the leagues now decided to 
join Helvetia. 
 

Between the lines 
 
In the meantime, Archduke Karl's great victory over 
the troops of French General Jourdan near Stockach 
on Lake Constance on March 25 marked a turning 
point in the war. The Austrians felt encouraged in 
their war fortunes and attacked the Lower Engadine 
and, on May 1st, 1799, the Luzisteig at the same 
time less than two months after the devastating 
defeat. General Hotze seized the same successful 
attack plans from Masséna via the Fläscherberg and 
Guscha. However, since his battalions got lost in the 
mountain range of the Falcon and consequently did 
not arrive in time to support the frontal attack troops, 
the whole plan failed.  
In addition, the shots fired from the Guscha by a 
vanguard, which had met an enemy patrol, were 
taken for the agreed attack signal and the front had 
therefore attacked too early. When the Austrians 
noticed the mistake, it was already too late and 
defeat could no longer be averted. 
 
 

The Luzisteig Fortress around 1833 
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The Guschners saw the warmongering around the 
Luzisteig up close with every attack. From the front 
row, so to speak, they looked down on the evil hap-
penings down in the valley. They heard the salvos of 
muzzle-loading muskets, the crack and thunder of 
cannons, the whinnying of horses, the shouts and 
wailing cries of soldiers in their agony, and later 
found them dead or wounded in the woods. 
 

The second attack 
 
On May 14, just two weeks after the defeat, the 
Austrians launched their second attack with a total 
of 19 battalions and 8 squadrons, divided into four 
columns, which invaded Graubünden from four 
directions. The main power, under the leadership of 
General Hotze, marched against the Luzisteig with 
twenty-one guns. The second and third columns 
with a total of eight battalions came along the border 
with Liechtenstein via the Gamperdona valley to the 
Maienfeld Alps. From there one column descended 
to Maienfeld, Jenins and Malans while the other 
descended directly into the Prättigau and advanced 
towards Landquart. Four more battalions advanced 
over the Gargäller Joch to St. Antönien and seized 
the upper part of the Prättigau. This second attack by 
General Hotze was successful in every respect. 
 
Masters in Graubünden, which they were now again, 
the Austrians wanted to become masters of Switzer-
land as well. However, this was prevented by the 
French in further battles on the Limmat-Linth line, 
so that the Austrians and their allied Russian troops 
had to withdraw in October 1799.  
The final annexation came in 1803 thanks to the 
mediation acts of Emperor Napoléon and the 
protection of a French garrison, who soon evacuated 
Bünden of the canton Rätien with the name Kanton 
Graubünden to the Swiss Confederation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
Marschlins Castle near Igis around 1870 

In addition to arable farming, existing and new spe-
cial cultures such as wine and fruit cultivation, 
chestnut cultivation in Bergell or the cultivation of 
hemp and other fiber plants were promoted. 
 

The craft 
 
Traditional Graubünden handicrafts were based 
primarily on the local resources of wood, stone, hyd-
roelectric power and ore deposits and were mostly 
linked to farming until well into the 19th century. 
The job prospects, for example as a miller, black-
smith, carpenter or potter, were too modest. In 
addition, itinerant craftsmen were strong com-
petitors, for example when it came to building hou-
ses. Outside the centers there were few craftsmen 
who were not farmers at the same time. Moreover, 
whenever possible, the farmers tried to do all the 
work themselves. Itinerant traders, grocers and 
markets provided the population with the rest of 
their needs. 
The manufacture of crockery from Lavez (soap-
stone) has been a specialty of the southern valleys of 
Graubünden since Roman times. From the 18th 
century, numerous companies for the production of 
the so-called "Tavetscher ovens" from soapstone 
slabs were established in Disentis and the surroun-
ding area. Several small businesses tried their luck 
in processing local raw materials such as clay and 
stone. In 1786 a pottery workshop was established 
in St. Antönien in the Prättigau. Up until 1898, 
tableware, stove tiles and water pipes were manu-
factured there. Another pottery existed from 1834 to 
around 1920 in the Bündner Oberland. With the 
advent of modern transport links, most of these 
workshops disappeared in the late 19th and early 
20th centuries. 
 

            ut anyone who thought they were looking forward to better times was greatly mistaken. Although  
            Graubünden was characterized by stability and peace until the middle of the century, the effects  
            of the Napoleonic wars were felt for years to come. This and other factors played a major role 
in the forthcoming waves of emigration in the 19th century, from which the Walser on Guscha were 
not spared. 
 

einem Bataillon und fünf Kanonen frontal an, und als seine Truppen von den Höhen Guscha’s und des 

–

Agricultural  
 
The majority of the population of Graubünden made 
a living from mountain farming well into the 19th 
century. The principle of self-sufficiency applied as 
far as possible. In the humid climate of the northern 
slopes of the Alps, only cattle breeding came into 
question at high altitudes and the sale of animals was 
the main source of income for the farmers. The large 
and lucrative cattle markets took place on the 
southern slopes of the Alps. The products that could 
not be produced in-house were also bought there. 
Animal husbandry has always played an important 
role. Initially, mainly small livestock such as sheep, 
goats or pigs were bred. It was not until the late 
Middle Ages that livestock breeding and the asso-
ciated dairy farming gained in importance. Alpine 
farming was often organized as a cooperative. The 
long winter months were the time for peasant 
homework (textile and woodwork) and for the 
management of the forests. 
 
In the inner and southern Alpine valleys, the con-
ditions for grain cultivation were more favourable. 
The topography and the short vegetation period 
resulted in a gradual management of the forage areas 
over time. Because of the miserable road network, 
the principle applied: "The cattle go to the feed", in 
complete contrast to today's central stable. Most 
farms in Graubünden stuck to traditional forms of 
farming for a long time. Everyday life was charac-
terized by strenuous physical work for the whole 
family and assignments on widely scattered plots. In 
the course of the year, the farmers followed the 
forage grounds at the various altitude levels, from 
the valley floor to the alpine pastures. Whenever 
possible, the farming families processed the pro-
ducts themselves, with a huge amount of work and 
as little capital as possible. This applied, for examp-
le, to the long journey from the grain field to the ba-
kehouse or from the flax field to the wintry spinning 
and weaving room. 
 
In 1717, potatoes were first cultivated in the 
Marschlins castle garden in the 'Three Bünden'. This 
plant only gained real importance during the famine 
years of 1770-1773 and 1816. In the course of the 
19th century it finally became a staple food as a 
substitute for missing grain. 
 
 

Life in Graubünden in the 19th Century 

B    
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Milk, Cheese and Meat 
 
The Walsers had plenty of milk and meat and it 
wasn't just served on Sundays. Where there were no 
smoke chambers, the meat, bacon, ham and 
sausages were dried in the mountain air in the kilns. 
Despite claims to the contrary, the Walsers also 
raised pigs, as evidenced by documents from the 
early 15th century in Vorarlberg. 
In addition to domestic livestock, at least in the pa-
tent hunting canton of Graubünden, venison was 
also available. So there was enough milk and meat 
to be found in the Walser households, even if not at 
all times. On the other hand, with the small amount 
of agriculture, there was no bread and in some places 
in the mountains it was just a pastry for a long time. 
Instead of the precious flour, the durable dried fruits, 
such as apple slices and dried pears, were gladly int-
roduced. 
During the 18th century and even until more recent- 
ly, little attention was paid to growing vegetables in 
Bünden. The strongest vegetable growers were the 
Prättigauer, Churer and the Herrschäftler. The ‘Cha-
bis-Ischnätzä’ was one of the autumn tasks for the 
self-supporters. The cabbage heads were finely 
chopped with the Chabis slicer, seasoned with salt 
and juniper berries in a vat and pressed in several 
steps, so that the 'Suurchrut' was ready to be enjoyed 
in 4-6 weeks. 
 
 

Was der Bauer nicht kennt…

Das abschätzige Städtersprichwort, ‘Was der Bauer 
nicht kennt, das frisst er nicht’, hat seinen Wahr

da sind, den Unrat der Welt, den sie ‘Delikatessen’ 

‘ ’

Nourishment 
 
Up until well into the 20th century, the mountain far-
mers subsisted mainly on dairy products and meat. 
Although the arable farming limit was higher in the 
Middle Ages than it is today, they did not succeed, 
or only to a limited extent, in expanding their range 
of foods through the cultivation of crops and 
vegetables. This fact led, also due to the seasons, to 
an often somewhat one-sided, simple and sometimes 
even poor menu. So many Walser farmers regularly 
brought their products such as cheese, butter, animal 
skins and furs to the markets in the valley or even 
further away to Ticino and northern Italy, from 
where they returned home with corn, maize and rice. 
Vegetable lovers and vegetarians, not to mention 
vegans, would have had a hard time with the Walser 
cuisine of the time, because the 'green stuff' played 
a rather subordinate role in the recipes. 
There have been close ties between the Valais region 
of origin and the Walsers in Ticino, northern Italy, 
Sarganserland, Liechtenstein and Vorarlberg for 
centuries, not only in the linguistic and cultural 
areas, but also in culinary terms. In the Walser areas 
of Graubünden, almost the same or at least very si-
milar dishes used to be on the table, which primarily 
differed in their different names as well as smaller 
variants in terms of the ingredients and preparation. 
Contacts with the Romansh and the inhabitants of 
the Italian-speaking southern valleys in Bünden, but 
also in Tyrol and Lombardy, have had a positive 
effect on the eating habits of the Walser. 
 
 
 

The way of life of the mountain farmers 
and the associated income from meals 
depended on the working hours. In the 
morning the farmer had to feed and milk 
his cattle and was usually up and about 
long before daybreak. Then came the day's 
work, such as sledging, fetching hay from 
the mountain meadows, chopping wood in 
the forest, carrying it home and splitting it, 
mucking out the stables and much more. 
Breakfast, which consisted mainly of milk, 
flour or oat soup, was eaten before the 
cattle were fed in the morning. A first main 
meal at ten o'clock in the morning, follo-
wed by another meal at three in the after-
noon before supper was eaten after feeding 
the cattle. 
 
 
 
 
er grösste Teil der Bündner Bevölkerung 

What the farmer doesn't know... 
 
The derogatory townspeople pro-
verb, «What the farmer doesn't 
know, he doesn't eat» has its truth 
content in the fact that the person 
who is most tied to his home is also 
most attached to his native food 
and can only find it good, enjoy-
able and healthy . Eating habits and 
the tastes formed by them are part 
of his being, and he actually feels 
offended when he is asked to eat 
other foods, or he feels sorry for 
the rich in the hotels who are there 
to to devour the filth of the world, 
which they call 'delicacies'. While 
a Graubünden farmer only wants to 
start his heavy day's work after a 
'Türggäribel' for breakfast, the 
Mittelland farmer still thinks that 
corn can only be used as pig or 
chicken feed, according to Richard 
Weiss in Swiss Folklore from 
1945. 
 
 
 
 
 



    

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

     

        

 

 

Pfisterzunft 
Millers, Grain drivers, 

Innkeepers, Barbers, Bakers 

Power was now in the hands of the craftsmen's associations and the citizens of Chur could appoint mayors, councils 
and court authorities without the bishop, the former lord of the city, having a say. From then on, a political career 
was only possible as a guild member. That is why nobles also allowed themselves to be accepted into a guild, 
mainly as landowners. Only townsfolk could become guild members. Non-citizens, serfs and those born out of 
wedlock were excluded from membership, as were all women. A guild regulation regulated organization and 
activities down to the smallest detail. There were regulations on working hours, the number of apprentices and 
journeymen per company, the admission of new masters, etc. But agriculture, which played an important role in 
Chur until well into modern times, was also covered by the guild regulations. For example, the guilds had to 
provide the various shepherds for the cattle kept in the city. The guild regulations regulated all economic activities 
such as prices, wages or sales times. It also determined the size of the businesses, how many businesses in a given 
branch were permitted in the city, and the quality of the products. 
In the 19th century there were increasing demands for a broader right to have a say in politics and for freedom of 
trade. The guild regulations met with increasing criticism and were finally abolished in 1840. 

The city of Chur with its five guilds was an exception. Between 1465 and 1840, these monopoly 
corporations determined the economic and political life of the city of Chur. After a devastating fire 
that destroyed large parts of the city, the citizens of Chur received from Emperor Friedrich III. in 1464 
the new right to introduce guilds, which also arose a year later.  
 
  
 

Rebleutenzunft 
Field-, Vineyard- and Meadow 
owners, Scholars, Officers, Nobles 

 
 

Schuhmacherzunft 
Butchers, Tanners and 

Shoemaker 
 

Schneiderzunft 
Furriers, Grocers, Rope makers, 

      Hat makers, Weavers, Tailors,     
         Clothshearers and other  
                Textile trades 
 

Schmiedezunft 
 Stonemasons, Masons, Carpenters, 

Painters, Glaziers, Saddlers, 
Wheelwrights, Cooper, Wheelmakers, 

Blacksmiths 
 

Chur about 1850 
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Incidentally, Mary Godwin (who became world fa-
mous as a writer under the name Mary Shelley) is said 
to have written her novel "Frankenstein" because the 
heavy rain meant she could hardly leave the house 
near Lake Geneva, where she was staying with friends 
and her stepsister was. 
Things only got better again in 1818 and the situation 
gradually calmed down, but by then a number of 
people had emigrated to the USA. 
 
The eruption of the Tambora and the "Year without a 
Summer" of 1816 are closely linked to Switzerland, 
and our country was sometimes one of the regions 
most affected! A severe famine in the east of the Con-
federation cost countless lives, brought death and 
despair and was the trigger for the first large wave of 
overseas migration. 
 
 

The Year without a Summer 
                                                                                   
The Tambora eruption was not just a regional cata-
strophe. Tons of ash and sulfur fell into the strato-
sphere in a very short time and this had worldwide 
consequences - up to the present day. In Central 
Europe, these did not appear until a year later. 
The year 1816 had just begun to spring when the snow 
returned and the cold stayed. In regions like Switzer-
land and Baden-Württemberg, it hardly stopped rai-
ning or snowing for months. Eastern Switzerland and 
the canton of Graubünden were hit particularly hard. 
The sky darkened and violent, unprecedented thun-
derstorms swept across the country. Extreme floods 
followed the thaw and flooded the farmers' fields for 
weeks, so that the seed rotted or could not be sown at 
all. 
Crafty merchants - or should I rather say crooks - 
initially went from farm to farm and bought the last 
year's stocks of potatoes and grain from the farmers 
in order to later sell them again for a multiple. Many 
a farmer must have bitterly regretted this a few weeks 
later! It got cold, wet and dark - and apart from grass 
nothing grew or only a little. 
Hunger rolls stretched with plaster of paris, acorn or 
sawdust were said to have been baked. Theft of food 
(egg thieves, live animals, etc.) was commonplace, as 
was disease and death from malnutrition. Unima-
ginable misery must have prevailed back then. 
 
The people had to slaughter their draft animals and in 
their distress they dug up the seed potatoes. Many 
people fled to other, unfamiliar areas. It should have 
been the last famine in Switzerland. 
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Tambora - The volcano that changed the world 

Not in the slightest and in no way could the inhabitants of Graubünden and other areas have guessed what 
was in store for them, caused by a volcanic eruption at the other end of the world that exceeded any 
imagination. Just emerging from the Napoleonic War years, people found themselves caught up in one of 
the world's greatest natural disasters ever documented. And all citizens in Graubünden - including the 
Guschner - were affected!                                                                                                                                                     
The year-long drama began on April 10, 1815 on the small Indonesian island of Sumbawa, when the 
Tambora volcano ejected dozens of cubic kilometers of ash and magma from its gullet. The volcano, at 
around 4,300 meters one of the highest peaks in the archipelago, collapsed and has since measured almost 
2,900 meters. A seven-kilometre-wide caldera formed that can even be seen from space. 

Only those who left the island in time survived. The 
eruption is said to have been heard on the island of 
Sumatra, more than 2,500 kilometers away. Huge 
tsunamis hit the region's islands, and the sky 
darkened for days. More than 10,000 people are said 
to have died immediately, more than 100,000 in the 
Indonesian region alone as a result of starvation and 
diseases such as cholera or typhus. 



 

As a poor mountain farming country, Graubünden 
saw a large number of emigrants well into the 20th 
century. Up until 1859, thousands of young allies had 
themselves recruited by foreign rulers for military 
service, mostly for a few years and under wretched 
conditions, many of them dying on the battlefields of 
Europe. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Up until 1890, the mountain canton was mostly a 
country of emigration. There were more emigrants 
than immigrants. There were few sources of income 
besides mountain farming. Commercial emigration 
from Graubünden led numerous professionals abroad 
and can basically be divided into two categories; 
Either the citizens left the canton with the intention of 
returning home after a shorter or longer period and 
investing the money they had earned abroad in their 
home country in order to enjoy life with it, or they 
emigrated and took up permanent residence abroad. 
The first category includes, for example, the chimney 
sweeps who moved to Italy or Vienna, the glaziers or 
flat painters who earned their living in France, or the 
resin collectors who traveled through Austria and 
Bavaria. Many others also earned their living as 
liquor or milk sellers, cobblers or knife sharpeners. 
The leading occupation of the population from the 
southern valleys such as the Engadin or the Misox 
was that of the confectioner, which first concentrated 
on Venice and Lombardy (where the recipe for the 
Bündner nut cake came from) and spread to France 
and Russia . Women tended to work in the immediate 
vicinity, for example as domestic help or buffet ladies 
in Northern Italy. "Schwabengangers" were children 
and young people who hired themselves out to 
southern German farmers during the summer for low 
wages and new clothes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Up and away 

            migration and immigration always happen side by side and are two sides of the same coin. Emigration  
            in one place means immigration in another. At that time, the decision to emigrate was not primarily  
            made out of pure thirst for adventure, but because living conditions had become difficult or im-
possible. Hunger, poverty and unemployment drove tens of thousands of Swiss people abroad in the 19th 
century as a result of economic hardship. 

E    
The second category consisted of citizens who left the 
country forever and sought a new home far away with 
no thought of returning, which was not always pos-
sible. In the first two decades of the 19th century, 
many families made their way to Poland and Russia, 
specifically to the Crimean Peninsula. They were 
attracted by several clergymen who had moved there 
at the end of the 18th century. But only a few found 
the happiness they had hoped for there and many fell 
into great misery and returned home on the way there. 
 
Emigration on a larger scale began in the 1930s and 
the time came when the Guschner also left their ho-
meland. Between 1845 and 1850, forty-six residents 
of Guscha emigrated, mostly to America, but Italy 
and Prussia were also among their destinations. This 
is shown in a list in the 1850 census book. In the 
second half of the 19th century, too, some people left 
Walser-Dörfli, such as Jakob Just, who set off for 
Australia with his family in 1855 (page 84), so that in 
1862 only two families lived on the Guscha. 
 

The exodus increases 
 
Emigration from Switzerland was constant throu-
ghout the 19th century, but regional and global con-
ditions led to periods of increased numbers of 
emigrants during that period. The first big spike in the 
statistics occurs in 1816 and 1817, after the eruption 
of the Tambora volcano. In parts of the Confede-
ration, up to 10% of the resident population emigrated 
in these two years. 
The second major rash of 1851-1855 is due to suc-
cessive crop failures and the potato blight of the early 
1850s. During the same period, the United States 
experienced an economic boom, so that the most 
important destination for emigrants now became the 
United States, the land of opportunity. During this ti-
me, it was mainly craftsmen, traders and farmers from 
rural areas who left the country along with their fa-
milies. A temperate climate, vast undeveloped lands 
and a booming economy beckoned. Several gold 
rushes from 1848 to 1896 also attracted adventurers. 
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The last major emigration wave of the 19th century 
can be seen in the years 1880-1884. Since towards the 
end of the 1870s in North America there were signs 
of a recovery in the economic situation for the first 
time after the end of the Civil War (1861-65), which 
culminated in a boom in the 80s and at the same time 
the When the economic situation in Switzerland 
developed in the opposite direction, many Swiss 
decided to try their luck overseas. The sinking world 
market price for grain led to countless Swiss farmers 
being driven to ruin, as they were unable to keep up 
with foreign competition due to ongoing problems 
with the fragmentation of goods. 
On the other hand, the "Homestead Act", which came 
into force in the USA in 1862, significantly promoted 
settlement migration and the development of the 
national territory of the USA. Anyone over the age of 
twenty-one or the head of a family could purchase a 
piece of land for a symbolic price. After five years of 
cultivation, you automatically became the owner of 
this property. 
In the second half of the century, a new form of 
migration emerged that was no longer primarily 
characterized by flight from dire need. Now people 
who saw better job opportunities and social 
advancement for themselves overseas decided to 
emigrate – in a word: economic refugees! 
 
 
 
 

Mass emigration did not really start until the middle of the 19th century, when the USA and 
Australia became the main destinations. From 1851 to 1860 the exodus reached its first peak 
when around 50,000 people emigrated overseas during this decade. After a slight decline in 
the 1860s and 1870s, when 35,000 people left the country for overseas, the figure from 1881 
to 1890 was over 90,000. After that, the number of emigrants per decade leveled off at between 
40,000 and 50,000 before dropping to a few thousand in the 1930s. 
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Between 1820 and the beginning of the First World 
War in 1914, around 60 million people from Europe 
crossed the Atlantic towards America. The old con-
tinent dumped part of its population surplus in the 
New World. By far not all of them found the hoped-
for prosperity, and some penniless emigrants were 
already stranded in the port of destination. What is 
certain, however, is that this massive emigration for 
the regions of origin in Europe - in Switzerland from 
1850 these were namely the cantons of Graubünden, 
Ticino, Aargau, Schaffhausen and Valais - represen-
ted a noticeable relief. 

The Swiss emigration policy 

The cantons have different emigration policies. The 
canton of Aargau, for example, relied on an extremely 
active emigration aid, in contrast to the canton of St. 
Gallen, where emigration was neither forbidden nor 
officially supported. 

Rather, local communities - in contrast to the canton 
- often played a more active role. It's no wonder that 
the authorities in some communities did their best to 
encourage people to emigrate. The boundaries bet-
ween state-supported emigration and deportation 
were fluid. 

 



 

Since the local churches were responsible for caring 
for the poor, they often supported those who wanted 
to emigrate, for example by covering the travel 
expenses. Those on the fringes were encouraged to 
emigrate, it even happened that they were deported 
from the local communities and forced to emigrate. 
The communities often acted in their own interests, 
as they hoped that emigration would relieve the poor 
fund. Citizens who were particularly unable to work 
or who were criminals were often forced to emigrate 
by being expelled from the country. Quite a few of 
these unwanted people who were unable to work, 
sick or old died during the long crossing. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

An active emigration policy was also pursued in the 
canton of Graubünden. Professional smuggler orga-
nizations not only advertised in Graubünden for an 
easy life on the distant continent. For the journey 
they often took the last money from those who 
wanted to emigrate and even received a commission 
from the home community. She was happy to have 
to support one less poor person. The municipal 
administrations began to promote such or similar 
practices and to regard them as a measure to abolish 
pauperism (mass poverty of the 19th century). 

The enticing prospects of the gentlemen of 'Ver-
gueiro&Comp.' in Brazil persuaded several commu-
nities to deport their needy in this way. And they 
were far from the only ones! At that time, many 
Swiss communities made travel advances to their 
families who were willing to emigrate, but often on 
the condition that all of the family's belongings were 
confiscated. 

 

 

The municipality of Fanas in Prättigau shows us an 
example of active emigration assistance. As the 
population steadily increased in the late 18th and 
19th centuries, livelihoods became increasingly 
scarce. For many residents, the only option left was 
to leave their homes. In 1855, the situation in the 
lower Prättigau had become so difficult that the 
Fanas community organized a major emigration to 
Brazil. 50 people followed this call and emigrated to 
Brazil under the leadership of the teacher Thomas 
Davatz. He wrote a diary, the original of which has 
been preserved, and impressively describes the 
difficult life of these emigrants. The municipality 
provided the group with 20,000 francs in the form of 
an advance as travel money, which was never 
repaid. 

Davatz actually wanted to emigrate to North Ameri-
ca first, but the official propaganda of the Brazilian 
government, which provided interest free travel 
advances and other benefits for two years, 
convinced the teacher Thomas Davatz and he finally 
decided to go to South America. However, the fact 
that these privileges had ceased to exist after 1855 
was not mentioned. 

Davatz then campaigned non-violently for the 
contractually guaranteed rights of the Swiss settlers 
in Brazil. However, since the conflicts could not be 
completely resolved, Davatz returned to Switzer-
land in 1857 and a year later wrote a report on the 
living conditions of the emigrants in Brazil. These 
statements caused a stir in Europe and had conse-
quences for German and Swiss emigration policy. 

                                

 

    Thomas Davatz  

 

 

 

 

 

 

   23.04.1815 in Fanas -                               
06.02.1888 in Landquart 

 

Officially ordered deportation 
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Life in the 19th century was really no picnic for most 
people. In addition to all the reasons mentioned, 
there were additional individual factors for the 
residents of Guscha that made many people leave 
Dörfli, and even leave Switzerland. As already 
mentioned, according to the decree of the city of 
Maienfeld in 1829, the Gu-schner had to pay Wuhr 
taxes, among other things. This income was used by 
the city to build and maintain the Rhine dams. At 
that time, the Rhine found its way towards Walensee 
at will, passing close to the town of Maienfeld and 
flooding the meadows and fields of the farmers 
when the water was high. In order to force it 
between the new Wuhre, the entire river had to be 
diverted and dammed in several places. But why 
should the Guschner people pay for something on 
the mountain, even if they could have done it that 
didn't benefit them? Although they belonged 
politically to the city of Maienfeld, they had no civil 
rights. Even if a Guschner lived in Maienfeld, he 
was not allowed to use the meadows to graze his 
cattle, as the case of Christian Just shows, who did 
exactly this at the end of the 19th century and was 
therefore fined CHF 2.70 was punished. But that too 
is another story, which I have already explained in 
detail in Chapter 2 of the book "The Golden Knife". 
Many Guschners, who felt their existence 
threatened, preferred to pack their bags before the 
middle of the 19th century and began preparing for 
the journey, although other major hurdles had to be 
overcome first. To leave the country, you needed an 
emigration permit and a passport or a certificate of 
residence and, of course, travel money. Then the so-
called invoice call had to be issued and published in 
the cantonal official gazette. Only then was the way 
clear for emigration. 

Public Notice 

Apparently it was not uncommon not to settle any 
existing debts when leaving home. In order to 
prevent the negative consequences of such a course 
of action, those wishing to emigrate had to notify 
their home communities of their intentions some 
time before departure so that the authorities could 
issue a so-called invoice call. This was published in 
the canton's official gazette in all Graubünden 
municipalities so that creditors knew about their 
debtor's imminent departure and so that outstanding 
bills could be collected. 

 

 

 

The travel arrangements 

Invoice call from Matthias Just-Flütsch; 
emigrated to the USA in April 1847 

Invoice call from Andreas Just-Zimmermann; 
emigrated to the USA in Sept. 1846 
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The news of a new, legendary country over the 
ocean spread like wildfire in Graubünden. In the 
middle of the 19th century, with the advent of the 
mass media, more and more newspapers came into 
being, simplifying and accelerating the procurement 
of information. A newspaper created specifically for 
those willing to emigrate, ‘Der Kolonist’ has been 
reporting weekly since 1851 with helpful informa-
tion and positive descriptions, thus contributing to 
the image of America as a land of plenty. 

During that time, the economic conditions in the 
USA were actually more favorable than those in 
Switzerland. For this reason, the hardships and 
dangers of the journey and the difficult start 
overseas were often downplayed or concealed, also 
with the intention of persuading as many people as 
possible to emigrate in order to relieve the poor 
coffers of the home communities. 

Positive reports in letters - which were sometimes 
gladly printed in the newspapers - from acquain-
tances and relatives made it easier for those affected 
to decide to emigrate and thus fueled further emi-
gration: 

 

 

 

But above all came the decision - In the 19th century, the decision to leave home and seek happiness 
abroad usually meant a final separation from family, relatives and friends, as well as a separation from 
familiar places, intense memories and habits . It was certainly one of the hardest and most painful 
moments to decide against the familiar old and in favor of something unknown and new. In contrast to 
today, where every city or every continent can be reached in a few hours' flight, the term decision meant 
a clear demarcation. 
 
 

Farewell to the emigrants - oil painting by Christian Ludwig Bokelmann 

The statement by Johannes Tobler, who left Appen-
zellerland for South Carolina in North America, 
illustrates how difficult it was to leave his homeland: 

"I thought it would be easier. Lord, this hour hurts. 
You hate to lose your mother. But it churns in the 
heart of the heart when one's homeland dies before 
one's eyes.»  

Pastor Samuel Mori from Bern wrote in 1885 from 
his new home in Kentucky/USA: 

«As you can well imagine, it is an extremely serious 
decision to leave your possessions, your long-
accustomed and loved city, your beautiful 
mountains and above all your homeland, probably 
never to return, then a be -to go through a difficult 
journey, finally to go to a country where everything 
is different. It takes a lot of courage and 
determination to do this, but even more trust in God 
and surrender." 

Due to the longing for a better life, those willing to 
emigrate took on the hardship of the journey. And 
so the journey into the unknown began with 
changing feelings - of melancholy and sadness, but 
at the same time with confidence, hope and joy in an 
unknown part of the world. 

 

Land of hope 
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Decision and Farewell 
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Even back then, newspapers (today social media, 
television, and the internet are also) were mani-
pulative tools. Failed emigrants rarely contacted 
those at home, and the newspapers avoided printing 
negatives from overseas. Proof that not all reports 
had to be credible is shown by the example of a 
group of emigrants lured to America by the author 
Rudolf von May. When they arrived at their desti-
nation, they found the situation even worse than at 
home. In that case, and probably in many others, a 
hard winter and depleted supplies caused great 
suffering overseas. 
 

Heinrich Huber's report 
 
In February 1844, Heinrich Huber, Wallenstadt's 
former municipal council clerk (at that time still 
written with two l's), was delegated by the 
municipality on Lake Walen to travel to America to 
find out what circumstances emigrants overseas 
were exposed to. After about 14 months he returned 
to Switzerland and in April 1845 felt it his duty to 
share his experiences with others to make it 
accessible to the public in his «Report on Emigration 
to America». It was particularly important to him 
that future emigrants could benefit from his 
experiences and advice. 
The 55-page report begins by describing the 
transport of Sargans to Le Havre, from where he 
embarked on the sea voyage in a three-master named 
'Dublin'. Huber described the navigation as not very 
difficult, since the weather was mostly fine and he 
was able to spend most of the voyage on the upper 
deck in the fresh air. Despite good conditions, the 
crossing to New Orleans took forty-four days. 
In his report, Huber primarily addresses the 
possibilities of cultivating the land. On several 
pages he describes in detail the advantages of animal 
husbandry, arable farming and winegrowing, the 
climate and beekeeping. He points out the 
requirements and compares them with Switzerland. 
His descriptions are mostly positive and you can tell 
he's passionate about North America. (Page 34) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

"Since the incalculable meadows are free for every colonist to graze and mow, they give them the easiest 
means to carry out sheep and cattle breeding as extensively as they can ever wish, and thereby secure and 
productive ones to open a source of wealth." 
 
“The climate is temperate and healthy, the soil is fertile and easy to cultivate; everything you sow and plant 
thrives.» 
 
"In short, no part of America, and no country in the world, offers so many comforts and conveniences to the 
colonist who wishes to settle there as does this beautiful colony." 
 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

It is easy to imagine, even probable, that the 
Guschner emigrants were aware of Heinrich Huber's 
report from nearby Wallenstadt and that this 
influenced their decision about their future home. 
But the communities also banged their drums and 
the agents of the emigration agencies were out and 
about trying to persuade the undecided to emigrate, 
often with false promises. 

In addition to the situation at home, the perceived 
attractiveness of the destination country was of great 
importance for the decision to emigrate. So called 
pull factors are intended to induce people to emi-
grate to a certain place. Around 32 million people 
left Europe for the USA in the 19th century. 
Between 1850 and 1890, Germans made up the 
largest group among them. Initially, the Swiss state 
supported emigration, but later attempts were made 
to prevent this, since young workers in particular 
made the long journey. 

Two hundred years ago, if a decision had been made 
to move permanently overseas, those willing to 
emigrate were confronted with major organizational 
problems. In most cases, they had neither the 
necessary knowledge nor the appropriate contacts to 
plan the trip on their own. The ports for overseas 
trips such as Le Havre, Hamburg or Bremerhaven 
were far away abroad. At that time there were no 
airplanes, the railway network, if it existed at all, 
was very limited and was limited to connections 
between the big cities. Le Havre was only connected 
to the rail network in 1847, and just traveling with 
bag and baggage to the departure ports was then - in 
contrast to today - a challenge. 

So how does one get to America from Guscha in our 
story? Nowadays you go to a travel agency or, even 
easier, you book a suitable all-round arrangement 
from the comfort of your own home on the Internet, 
including full board and travel protection and 
cancellation insurance. But in the 19th century, 
these words weren't even known!                                                    
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Excerpt from Heinrich Huber's report on emigrating to America 



 

One of the top addresses in Switzerland was the 
"Swiss Emigration Company" founded in Basel in 
1834 by Andreas Zwilchenbart (1786-1866) and the 
"Swiss Emigration Institute Beck & Herzog" 
founded in 1848. In 1882 there were nine such 
agencies in Switzerland – six of them based in Basel 
alone. The emigration agencies not only sold their 
customers the ship tickets for the crossing to the 
New World, they also organized the journey to the 
port of embarkation and provided board and 
lodging. 

Andreas Zwilchenbart's agency, for example, had an 
office in New York and owned the "Grütli" hotel 
near the "Castle Garden" landing field. From 1850, 
Zwilchenbart used direct special trains for transport 
to the port of embarkation, whose timetable was 
coordinated with that of the ships. The agency at 
Basel train station was the first address for our 
emigrants, as shown by the existing travel contracts. 

Incidentally, the father of the company founder had 
been a pastor in Kilchberg. 
                         
     

       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
No legal regulations 

 

Not infrequently there were so-called “black sheep” 
among the agents who wooed all over the country 
for those willing to emigrate. With tempting 
promises, dubious machinations and overpriced 
advance payments, they cheated the emigrants out 
of their little money and shipped them onto ships on 
which the conditions were similar to those of a slave 
ship. 

The activity of the agencies was initially - if at all - 
regulated by cantonal regulations. The federal 
government soon saw a need for action in view of 
the sometimes questionable practices. However, it 
was not until 1880 that federal law was enacted 
regarding the operation of emigration agencies. This 
laid down the requirements for the agencies and 
contained various specific provisions for the 
protection of emigrants, which particularly affected 
food, medical care and space on the ships. From the 
18th century to the beginning of the 20th century, 
the trip from hell tripped into a "package trip". 
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Agentur Zwilchenbart                            
at Centralbahnplatz in Basel  

As already mentioned, the emigration agencies, which sprang up like mushrooms in the second 
half of the 19th century, played a major role in organizing the trip. But just like among the 
mushrooms, there were some that were better left alone! 

–

dem Landeplatz ‘Castle Garden’ das Hotel

‘ ’
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III. Chapter 

Goodbye Guscha 



        

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The ferry, which since late antiquity has ensured the 
Rhine crossing of the Reichsstrasse from the Lake 
Zurich area between Ragaz and Maienfeld for man, 
horse and carriage, crossed the Rhine, which at that 
time with Wuhren always became a new river-bed 
had been squeezed, but this was not always put up 
with. Exactly these Wuhren were for many Gusch-
ner a reason why they were now on their last hike. 
We continued on foot or by car to Sargans and then 
in the direction of Walenstadt. From there, the 
journey took a steamboat across Lake Walen. 
 
                       Lake Walen (Walensee) 

 
In the north the ‘Churfirsten’, in the south the ‘Keren-
zerberg’, in between lies the ‘Walensee’. The two 
mountain ranges form natural obstacles to convenient 
land transit traffic. The Alemanni did not understand 
the Rhaeto-Romanic language of the Walensee 
residents and called the lake 'Vualahsee', and Riva, as 
Walenstadt was called in the 9th century, 'Vualahsta-
de' - the Italian shore, which means: incomprehen-
sible, different. 'Vualahastade' became 'Vualastad' 
over time, then 'Wallastatt' and finally 'Wallenstadt'. 
It was not until 1956 that the place name was cor-
rected to today's Walenstadt. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

III.  Chapter 

Goodbye home – the last hike 

             fter a tearful farewell to parents, siblings, relatives, friends and a last look back, the emigrants  
            usually set off on foot or they were lucky and were able to ride on a horse-drawn carriage that  
            temporarily had the same route. There have also been private stagecoach companies in Grau- 
bünden since 1823, the connections of which have been constantly expanded, especially over the Alpine 
passes. 
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Like all other Graubünden emigrants, the Guschners 
first had to get to Basel, because the city on the knee 
of the Rhine was the gateway to the ports of 
departure on the Atlantic, above all the city of Le 
Havre in France, from where most of the Guschner 
emirates left Europe. Since transport was not pos-
sible due to the 'non-existence' of airplanes or rail-
ways, only land or waterways remained. 
Well - from Guscha there were two possible travel 
routes to Basel. Either via the Luzisteig to Balzers 
and down the Rhine Valley to Lake Constance to 
Bregenz, because from there ships sailed to Constan-
ce and further down the Rhine to Basel, whereby the 
natural obstacle of the Rhine Falls had to be avoided 
at Schaffhausen. This route was popular with emi-
grants from Vorarlberg and southern Germany. 
The other possibility was the route via Lake Walen 
to Zurich and from there on to Basel. Most of the 
emigrants from the canton of Graubünden chose this 
route, as can be gathered from the available reports 
in diaries. So let's take a closer look at this path. 
Today it can be done in two hours, 170 years ago the 
route was like half a trip around the world! 
 
 
 
   

Steamboat "MINERVA" 1839 in the port of Wallenstadt 



 

Before 1848 there was no road link along the lake. 
You had to take the arduous detour via the 
Kerenzerberg if you didn't want to cross the water. 
The sea route has therefore played a major role since 
Roman times and was the most important travel and 
trade route well into the 19th century, getting from 
the Linth plain to Walenstadt and on to Graubünden. 
Numerous accidents and tragedies can therefore be 
found in the history of the lake. This was also the 
case in 1570, when on January 11th a ship loaded 
with salt and wine with 60 people and six horses on 
board got caught in a foehn storm and capsized. Only 
fourteen people were able to save themselves on the 
shore. Among the dead was one of my great-
ancestors, the then governor of Davos - 
Hans von Sprecher! 
 
            The beginning of steamship travel 

The project for a direct, end-to-end steamship con-
nection from Zurich to Wallenstadt had to be 
abandoned in 1834 for traffic reasons, but above all 
for political reasons. For the affected cantons of 
Zurich, Glarus, St. Gallen and Schwyz, revenue 
from customs and transit fees was the priority and no 
agreement was reached. Therefore, in 1836, a 
‘Aktiengesellschaft für die Dampfschifffahrt auf 
dem Wallensee’ was founded in Sankt Gallen with 
state aid. They immediately commissioned an iron 
ship from the Zurich company 'Caspar Escher'. The 
'LINTH ESCHER I' was used from September 4, 
1837 and offered space for 500 people. It was the 
first steamship built by Escher Wyss, and in 1839 the 
Wallensee company merged with the Zurichsee 
company to form the 'Vereinigte Dampfschiff-
Gesellschaft für den Zürich- und Wallensee'. 
 
As a first measure, the two steamships of the merged 
companies were exchanged. The 'MINERVA', 
which also had space for 500 people, came from 
Lake Zurich to Lake Walen and in return the 'LINTH 
ESCHER I' switched to Lake Zurich. The success of 
the new company was huge! 
The 'MINERVA' ran from May 20, 1839 to mid-
May 1848 and then under the name 'SPLÜGEN' 
until October 1859 once a day in transit on the 
Walensee between Wallenstadt and Weesen, 
without calling at other ports. The steamboat only 
stopped at the heights of Unterterzen, Murg and 
Mühlehorn to pick up mail and passengers who were 
brought to the ship on small rowing boats. 
Since there was no shipping connection on the Linth 
between Lake Walen and Lake Zurich, so-called 
express cars were used between the steamboat 
stations on the Weesen to Rapperswil route. 
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Express wagons (Eilwagen) were the predecessors 
of the more convenient and comfortable mail 
coaches and were mainly used to transport express 
mail. Initially without a top, people were also trans-
ported with it over the course of time. In 1830, for 
example, the journey from Chur over the Splügen 
Pass to Chiavenna, Como and on to Milan took more 
than 36 hours. 

Arrival in Zürich 

There were certainly also beautiful moments on the 
arduous journey. The travelers on Lake Zurich were 
able to enjoy the trip on deck when the weather was 
fine and admire the romantic landscape to their left 
and right with its lush meadows and beautiful 
houses. After a journey of several hours, the 
steamboat finally arrived in the port of Zurich. 

    

               Landing stage at Hechtplatz around 1845 

From Zurich there were two ways to get to Basel, 
because that's where the next stage led. Either you 
chose the land route, boarded the mail coach in 
Zurich and drove via Baden and over the Bözberg to 
Basel, or you stayed on the water. The route Walen-
see, Linth, Lake Zurich, Limmat, Aare, Rhine was 
an important national waterway until the roads and 
railways were built in the 19th century. Zurich 
functioned as a transshipment point, where goods 
were transhipped from seagoing ships with a draft to 
flat river boats that were suitable for low-water 
navigation. The landing stage at Hechtplatz was one 
of several piers in the city on both sides of the 
Limmat bank. There were others at Weinplatz, at the 
Kornhaus in front of Fraumünster, at Bauschänzli 
and at Schiffländeplatz. 

 

 



  

View from Walenstadt across Lake Walen towards Weesen. 
 

The Guschner emigrants already had the same sight in the middle of the 19th century. 
It was probably the last glimpse of the Walser's beloved mountains. The Churfirsten 
fall to the right and the Kerenzerberg to the left. In the background the Glarner Alps. 
They crossed Lake Walen from this point on the Minerva steamboat. 
 
 

- 41 - 



            

- 42 - 

 
 
Since the 7th century, Basel was a bishopric whose 
divine rule lasted until the Reformation of 1529. 
Many a traveler may already have turned back at this 
point, but at the latest at the transatlantic departure 
ports! Either they were no longer sure of their cause, 
the hardships were too great or, as in most cases, 
they had no money left, having been robbed or 
cheated by shady characters at the beginning of their 
journey. But most of them moved on, and nothing 
more was heard from the others. 
In Basel, the emigrants from the small village of 
Guscha left Switzerland for good. 

 
Basel Minster with Munsterplatz, which is lined with 

many canons' houses 

At that time, Basel, together with Geneva, was one 
of the largest cities in Switzerland. In the first 
federal census of 1850, the population density was 
30,000 inhabitants (as of 2022: 202,000) and rose 
rapidly in the second half of the 19th century, when 
Basel became the largest industrial city in our 
country rise. The city of Zurich only surpassed Basel 
with over 120,000 inhabitants in 1893 with the 
incorporation of several outlying communities. 

 

The first railway line in Switzerland 
 
By 1840, a few hundred kilometers of railway tracks 
had already been built and were in operation in 
Switzerland's neighboring countries. But it didn't 
really work out for us. Disagreements about the 
route and disputes between the cantons about cross-
cantonal projects did not make things any easier. 
Contrary to the general assumption and history 
teaching at school that the first railway in Switzer-
land was the "Spanish Brötli Railway" from Zurich 
to Baden in 1847, the first ran three years earlier, on 
June 15, 1844 Train, driven by the «Napoléon» 
steam locomotive, from St. Louis in France across 
the Swiss border into the still provisional station in 
front of the city of Basel.  
A year and a half later, on December 11, 1845, the 
official opening of Switzerland's first railway station 
followed - long before the "Spanish Brötli 
Railway"! 
 
 

Five pairs of trains operated on the route daily. After 
the last train entered the city in the evening, the iron 
portcullis in the railway gate of the city wall was 
lowered by guards and opened again in the morning. 
 

What next? 
                                                                                 
It was only around 1850 that the emigration agency 
"Zwilchenbart" offered package deals with direct 
special trains from Basel to Le Havre. So it was out 
of the question for the earlier emigrants. 
One way to get from Basel to Le Havre back then 
was to take the stagecoach via Mühlhausen - Dijon 
- Paris. Another variant is offered by a letter from 
the two emigrants from Untervaz, Georg Krättli and 
Samuel Allemann, who dared to jump across the 
"big pond" together. From Basel they took the newly 
completed rail link to St. Louis and on to Strassburg, 
with the train stopping more than it ran, as they 
reported. They also noticed that most towns in 
Alsace end with '...heim'. Impressed by the new 
technology, they wrote home: 
 
"All the cattle of the Untervazer would not be able 
to pull as many wagons as the steam locomotive 
did." 
 
In Strasbourg they got to the Rhine with a 'Horse-
Omnibus', called 'Rösslitram' in Switzerland, where 
they boarded a steamship to Rotterdam. From there 
it went on to Le Havre for the transatlantic crossing 
to the USA. 
 

 
French omnibus in Paris in the middle                     

of the 19th century. 

  
Most Guschner emigrants left Europe in Le Havre. 
But there were others, such as Mathias Just-Flütsch, 
who set sail with his family from Antwerp in 1847 
on the ship ‘Charlemagne’. Jacob Just and his 
family's voyage to Australia began in 1855 in 
Dieppe, a port north of Le Havre. But we'll find out 
more about that later. (page 84) 

  

 

 

The old bishop city of Basel 



      

The sea voyage 

              nyone who thinks that the crossing was a romantic voyage will find themselves wrong, even if  
             Heinrich Huber described the voyage as 'little difficult' in his emigration report from 1845. No  
             wonder, because as a representative of the municipality of Wallenstadt he was also able to enjoy 
the 'luxury' of a cabin. But on the ships there was also a tween deck where the emigrants had to live for 
weeks under inhumane condition 
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Until the middle of the 19th century, the crossing to 
the new world took place with sailing ships. These 
required between thirty and eighty days for the route 
to America, depending on the wind and weather 
conditions, and many times longer to Australia. 
However, the steam sailing ships developed around 
1840, often erroneously called steamships, were not 
yet comparable to the great ocean giants of the 20th 
century. In principle, they were still sailing ships, 
which were only supported by auxiliary engines. 
This made it possible to continue sailing when the 
sea was calm and were sometimes used for 
maneuvering in the ports. This made more reliable 
timetables possible and the journey lengths were 
significantly reduced. 
Only from 1880, with the beginning of in-
dustrialization, there were steam-driven propeller 
drives. These ships sailed across the Atlantic in 
seven to ten days, which significantly improved 
travel comfort and cut travel times by weeks. 
 

The ships 

Actually, the sailing ships of that time were cargo 
ships that transported goods between America and 
Europe. The ships on the way overseas were loaded 
with hardware, salt, bricks, glass and textiles. How-
ever, the import of goods transported on the way 
back to Europe, such as cotton, tobacco, grain, beef 
and pork, was of much greater commercial impor-
tance. 
The shipping companies sensed a welcome addi-
tional business with the emigrants, and the demand 
gradually made the transport of passengers a 
separate line of business. They had a so-called tween 
deck installed on the ships between the upper deck 
and the hold, and the dual use of the ships for the 
transport of goods and people brought the shipping 
companies a good additional income. 
This often meant great deprivation for the passen-
gers on board, because permanently installed faci-
lities such as cabins or sanitary facilities would have 
reduced the loading space too much and were 
therefore simply left out. 
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Sparse light fell into the tween deck only through the 
few, small hatches and at the same time ensured 
little ventilation. On the wooden, two-storey bunks, 
which were intended for five people, there were only 
straw mattresses and each adult had space of almost 
half a meter and the children half. The room was 
divided into two areas, separated only by light 
curtains. On one side the women and children slept, 
on the other the men. The narrow aisle in between 
was cluttered with luggage, crates, trunks, bundles 
and duffel bags. There were no tables or benches to 
sit down. The confinement, the prevailing rest-
lessness and the screaming of children were present 
throughout the crossing, as were illnesses, heat, cold 
and the stuffy air. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
More comfort thanks to legal regulations 

 
Some provisions intended to regulate the transport 
of people were hesitantly enforced, also due to the 
federal laws and requirements for the emigration 
agencies of 1880. The height of the tween deck was 
initially set at 1.72 meters and later increased to 1.83 
meters. It became the rule that every emigrant, 
whether adult or child, was entitled to at least a bed. 
There was one toilet for every 50 passengers, and 
since the 1880s, a cook for steerage passengers, as 
well as tables and benches, had been standard on an 
Atlantic crossing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



            

It was only towards the end of the 19th century that ships were built exclusively for passenger 
transport, where washrooms, separate departments for families and groups as well as separate 
kitchens and sick rooms were also provided. Ships in the second half of the century, and 
especially steamships towards the end of the 19th century, were noticeably better equipped. 
Nevertheless, the journey was still an ordeal for the emigrants. While there was feasting and 
celebrations on the upper deck, people were crammed together in catastrophic conditions on 
the tween deck – the more, the better.  

…

Most reports, recorded in diaries or letters, begin 
with the date of the entry and the weather and, above 
all, the wind conditions. Whether there was a storm, 
calm or moderate wind, high or normal swell was of 
the utmost importance, because it decided how 
pleasant - or more appropriately - unpleasant the 
current situation on board was. When a violent 
storm raged, all the emigrants had to hold out in the 
steerage, often for days. People were crammed 
together in a very small space and it is obvious that 
physical fights also broke out. 
 

 
 
Theft and physical assaults among the passengers, 
as well as on the part of the crew members, were not 
uncommon. The cramped conditions, the constant 
restlessness, and depending on the season, the heat 
or cold as well as the stuffy air and the smell of tar 
used against bad odors in the sleeping quarters must 
have been unbearable. 
In addition, during the day there was a constant 
noise level from the screaming of children and from 
the lamenting and wailing, coughing and sneezing 
of fellow passengers, which also continued at night 
through individual intimate statements. 
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In stormy weather it could also happen that the 
crates on the steerage were thrown back and forth, 
even though they were nailed down with wooden 
blocks and the children in particular were injured as 
a result. During heavy rain, water penetrated the 
steerage deck, so that the passengers and their beds 
got wet and the blankets had to be dried on deck on 
sunny days. 
And the obligatory seasickness at the beginning of 
the journey continued to affect almost all passen-
gers. 
The German emigrant Heinrich Georg, who dared 
to make the crossing with his eight-year-old son on 
the schooner ‘Besta’ in 1852, wrote in his diary: 
 
«At 7 p.m. there was a situation that can be expe-
rienced, but cannot be described. – …the other 200 
passengers, all in the same room, now began to 
ruthlessly get rid of all the food they had on their 
bodies, there were pictures, performances, 
splashing, wailing and uncleanliness to such an 
extent Exactly that I had to vomit once in disgust.» 
 

The Catering 
                                                                                     
At the time when the first Guschner Walser traveled 
across the Atlantic, the emigrants still had to largely 
prepare their own meals on the few stoves available 
on the ships. Cooking turned out to be a constant 
problem for the women, as there were not enough 
cooking places on the upper deck. Those who could 
not fight for a stove every day with a lot of energy 
had to do without warm food.  
 
 
 
 
 

Conditions on board 



    

 

Heinrich Georg wrote in his diary: 
 
«It is very difficult to cook when the weather is bad 
and there are strong fluctuations, and it is then left 
to the most skilful men, who often find that when they 
think they have finished their meal, someone else 
moves their kettles out of sheer mischief or hangs, 
causing her laboriously prepared food to roll onto 
the deck and fall into the dirt.» 
 
One reads such and similar stories again and again 
in the emigration reports. It was solely due to the 
good will of the captain and the discipline of the 
emigrants to organize cooking groups for certain 
times of the day. 
Especially in the first few years of the crossing, the 
food often ran out before the end of the voyage, and 
the people on board had to starve. The shipping 
companies were usually to blame for this, as they 
miscalculated the food per passenger or deliberately 
set very low consumption in order to save costs. 
The food on board was correspondingly meager 
given the circumstances and consisted mainly of 
thin soup, peas and lentils, ship's biscuit and dried 
fruit. Perishable goods such as fresh fruit or meat 
were only available at the beginning of the journey, 
as there were no refrigeration facilities. Only freshly 
caught fish offered variety - if you caught any. 
 
 
 
 

Cooking area on the upper deck. Until the middle of the 19th century, the emigrants had to cook 
for themselves. It was not until around 1880 that a ship's cook was standard on board a ship. 
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Hygienic situation 
 
The lack of washing facilities sometimes led to cata-
strophic hygienic conditions with serious conse-
quences for the health of the people on board. There 
were only a few toilets, people washed themselves 
with sea water from barrels. 
Diseases such as cholera, typhoid or mouth rot were 
therefore not uncommon, and the confinement on 
board favored the spread of epidemics among the 
emaciated passengers within a few days. Due to the 
monotonous and low-vitamin food, or the malnut-
rition, there was above all the danger of scurvy, 
which was feared by seafarers. The disease had 
sometimes wiped out half a ship's crew. Skorput 
causes bleeding in the mouth and stomach and 
occasionally ulcers.  
An unknown author describes in 1806 how the 
illness manifested itself in him: 
 
«By September 6th the scurvy in my mouth had 
reached its peak; Teeth, gums, tongue, everything 
was burnt black and the teeth were completely 
useless. Few and bad medicines and an even worse 
surgeon were available; However, it did not last 
more than 44 days, I had rashes all over my body, 
and here and there bruises appeared.» 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

An average of ten percent of all travelers are said to have died during the crossing. A crossing of the 
"Leibnitz" from Hamburg to New York gained notoriety. 
From November 1, 1868 to January 21, 1869, 105 passengers died of cholera, the remaining 300 survivors 
reached the destination in deplorable condition. Locals gave the immigrant ships the ominous nickname 
"coffin ships" (Sargschiffe) after the incident. 
 
The ship as a place of residence served merely as a means to an end, to get from a place of bondage, poverty, 
confinement and painful farewells to an imaginary place of longing, a place of a better life and a happy 
future. 
At that time Graubünden was the old home for the Guschners. There was no new home (yet) and so they 
found themselves with all the other passengers, a motley crew, consisting of men, women and children of 
all ages, from all social classes and professional groups, different nationalities and religious affiliations, in 
an intermediate state. 
Of course, the sea voyage of the emigrants is a transitional phase and this can basically be divided into three 
sections: 
 
- In the separation phase, the emigrants leave their old state, their homeland. 
- In the threshold or conversion phase, they are on the journey between old and new. 
- During the integration phase, reintegration takes place in the new home country. 
 
The above explanations should have made it clear what problems the passengers in the steerage had 
to contend with and which challenges they had to overcome. There was not much left of the seafaring 
romance that is often sung about, even if there were demonstrably beautiful moments on the ships. 
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The Emigrants 
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  IV.  Chapter 

The emigrant list 

           n the large book of the 1850 census, which is located in the Graubünden State Archives in Chur,  
           the names and years of birth of those people who had left the canton by that year to emigrate ab- 
           road are listed. Altogether forty-six names of men, women and children who were citizens of 
Guscha are mentioned. It was the last time their names were registered in Switzerland. But names alone 
were not enough for me. I wanted to know where they moved to and what their new life looked like – 
far away from their ‘Walserdörfli’, which their ancestors had founded a long time ago. 
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The first to be mentioned is Anna Gelb-Müller, born in 1806 with her children Johannes (*1824), Agnes 
(*1826) and Christian (*1827). Although the Gelb family was a citizen of Guscha, they had probably never 
lived up on the village. The family emigrated to Italy without the father, we don't know why, and I haven't 
found any traces of the family Gelb either, in complete contrast to the second family on the list:  
Riederer-Senti! 
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 Andreas Riederer                 
1811 - 1867 

Andreas Riederer                            

05.02.1811-27.08.1867 

 

Dorothea Senti                                                             

24.07.1812-15.08.1879 

Johann Peter               

Riederer                       

29.06.1834-10.09.1891 

           1856 

Rebecca Johanna 

Hildebrandt                                      

26.10.1838-02.08.1878 

Elizabeth Riederer                          

01.08.1843-28.09.1883 

                   1862 

Julius Haug                                       

10.11.1838-23.07.1896 

Jakob Ulrich               

Riederer                       

26.02.1841-23.04.1919   

       

Marie Catherine 

Meyer                                        

04.01.1851-25.03.1936 

 

Andreas Riederer                            

02.11.1837-09.02.1876 

      1868 

Elizabeth Lutz                                   

06.05.1837-25.12.1921 

 

Johannes              

Riederer                       

18.02.1836-05.01.1906  

        1855 

Elizabeth Gilbert                                                             

Okt. 1838-1928 

225 years after the arrival of the first Pilgrim Fathers on the 'Mayflower' 
 
In November 1620, 102 settlers from England arrived on the "Mayflower" after a 66-day sea voyage on 
Cape Cod, a large peninsula on the coast of Massachusetts in New England/USA. 
225 years later, Andreas Riederer's family was one of the first Guschners to pack their bags and leave their 
village in the spring of 1845, just as the harsh winter was over and the snow had melted. The youngest 
daughter Elsbeth was not even two years old when the whole family made their way to Le Havre, where 
they left Europe on the ship with the sonorous name "Duchesse d'Orleans". However, they did not go to 
New Orleans, but reached the port of New York on April 28, 1845. 
 
Die Distanz von Le Havre nach New York beträgt Luftlinie gemessen 5'650 Kilometer. Die Überfahrt 
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Emigrated to the USA in 1845 

The distance from Le Havre to New York as the crow flies is 5,650 kilometers. At that time, the crossing 
with a sailing ship to New York took between 30 days in good conditions and 80 days in bad wind 
conditions. 
 



            

Passenger list of the Duchesse d'Orleans 



       

From New York to Kansas 

New York around 1850 

Due to its location on the Atlantic Ocean and the inland waterway of the Hudson River, New York has 
been a popular and frequent port of call for immigrants from all over the world since 1825. When the 
Riederer family arrived there in 1845, the city already had over half a million inhabitants – and the trend 
was increasing. Today, New York City is by far the largest city in the USA with 8.5 million inhabitants. 
 

–

The town of Holton, which became the home of the Riederers, is located in the northeastern part of the 
state of Kansas in Jackson County, not far from Kansas City, which is not part of the state of Kansas as 
one might expect, but is the largest city in Missouri. 
The so-called "Town Company" bought the land around the docks in 1838 and named it "Town of Kansas" 
(the name came from the Kansa Indian tribe, also called "Kaw" or "Kanza"). On March 28, 1853, the City 
of Kansas was incorporated into the state of Missouri. 
 

–
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The Riederer family did not travel directly to Kansas after arriving 
in New York. The Riederers first reached Lake Erie via the water-
ways and then via Lake Huron they advanced to Lake Michigan. 
There is evidence that they first settled in Polk, in northern 
Wisconsin, where their last three children were born in 1846-1850. 
It wasn't until the 1950s that they moved further south - in true 
Walser fashion - and found their new home in Kansas. First in 
Leavenworth County, two years later in Stranger Creek, where they 
stayed for only a year before finally relocating to Holton, Jackson 
County. 
Andreas Riederer became a farmer in Holton/Kansas and fought in 
the Civil War of August 1862 for three years with the 11th Cavalry 
of the Union troops against the southern states. 
He survived the war but died two years after his discharge from the 
army on Aug. 27, 1867 at the age of 56. His tombstone is in Holton 
Cemetery. 
 
 

From Riederer to Reiderer to Reederer 
 
The English spelling of names unfamiliar to Americans were often 
written the way they are pronounced in English. As a result, the 
spellings changed and made research considerably more difficult.  
 
 
 

–

Holton population list for 1865 
 

–

In addition to his wife Dorothea and the five children who were 
born in Guscha, Andreas Riederer also left behind his three 
children who were born in the USA: 
- Christian, born 1846 - unknown 
- Dorotha Catherine, born July 1849, died 1931 in Holton 
- Christine, born 1850 - unknown 
 

      Obituary of Dorothea Riederer-Senti 
 in the 'Holton Recorder' of Aug. 14, 1879 
 



 

Johann (John) Peter Riederer (was 10 years old when crossing) 

29.06.1834 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

10.09.1891 in Holton/Kansas(KS) 

09.11.1856 to Rebecca Johanna Marian Hildebrandt, born 26.10.1838                                                                     
in Prussia (D), died 02.08.1878 in Holton/KS 

6 Sons: 
         - Andrew Riederer, 1862 - 1865 
               - William Frederick Riederer, 1863 - Mai 1956  
                     - Henry Edward Riederer, 04.06.1871 - 29.04.1947 
                          - Albert Andrew Riederer, 03.10.1872 - 26.05.1953 
                               - John Henry Riederer, 18.03.1876 - 07.05.1956 
                                    - Andrew Riederer, 08.07.1878 - 1951 
6 Daughters:       
         - Louisa Laura Riederer, 07.06.1857 - 09.04.1938 
              - Elizabeth Riederer, 09.07.1861 - 10.01.1949 
                     - Wilhelmina Riederer, 01.10.1864 - 05.05.1865 
                            - Caroline Riederer, Nov. 1866 - unknown 
                                  - Rosetta Riederer, 13.04.1868 – 24.09.1869 
                                        - Emma Emily Riederer, 08.07.1869 - 20.02.1946 
                                      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Henry Edward         
Riederer 

Elizabeth Riederer 

John Peter Riederer (sitting with his hand in his jacket) with his wife Rebecca (standing in 
the middle) his daughters and sons with daughters-in-law 
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John Peter Riederer grew up in Polk/Wisconsin until he was 23 years old. In June 1857 the entire Riederer 
family left Wisconsin and settled in Kansas. A year earlier, John Peter had married his wife Johanna 
Hildebrandt, the daughter of German immigrants. In Franklin Township, he bought 160 Morgan wild land and 
worked it as a farmer. In 1880 he built a stone rolling mill, the 'Elk Mills', which was well frequented by the 
townsfolk and which reached a daily capacity of fifty kegs. John Peter Riederer was one of the most popular 
men in his community. In connection with his farm, he ran the mill successfully, so that the farm grew and 
grew, eventually reaching 240 morgan, which provided a handsome income. 
 
 

–

The descendants of Andreas Riederer and Dorothea Senti 
 

–



 
 
 
 
Johannes (John) Riederer (was 9 years old when crossing)  
 

18.02.1836 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

05.01.1906 in San Diego/CA 

1855 to Elizabeth ‘Lizzie’ Gilbert, born Okt. 1838 in Darmstadt (D), died 1928 in Holton/KS 

3 Sons: 
          - Andrew Riederer, born 1862 in Holton/KS, died. 1865 in Holton/KS 
               - William Riederer, born 1864 in Holton/KS, died unknown 
                     - John Riederer, born 11.08.1870 in Kansas, died 14.10.1946 in Los Angeles/CA 
 
6 Daughters: 
          - Caroline ‘Carrie’ Riederer, born 24.02.1859 in Holton/KS, died. 24.08.1939 in Paxico/KS 
               - Mary Riederer, born 1862 in Holton/KS, died. 1869 in Holton/KS 
                      - Julia Riederer, born 06.03.1864 in Holton/KS, died. 29.03.1942 in Kansas City/MO 
                              - Emma Riederer, born 1866 in Holton/KS, died unknown 
                                    - Louise ‘Lulu’ Riederer, born 02.12.1872 in Holton/KS, died. 29.07.1926 in   
                                        Higginsville/MO 
                                            - Hattie Riederer, born 08.09.1875 in Arrington/KS, died 18.02.1950 in  
                                               Kansas City/MO 
 
 

Andreas (Andrew) Riederer (was 7 years old when crossing)  
 

02.11.1837 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

09.02.1876 in Holton/KS 

1868 to Elisabeth Lutz, born 06.05.1837 in Bavaria (D), died 25.12.1921 in Holton/KS 
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Elk Mills around 1884 

Only one daughter is known of the two: 
 

Anna Riederer was born on 
September 18, 1873 in Holton, KS 

born and died sixteen days 
later on October 04, 1873. 

Elisabeth Lutz 



                                         

 
         
  

 
Elizabeth ‘Lizzie’ Riederer (was 18 months old when crossing)  
 

01.08.1845 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

28.09.1883 in Leavenworth/KS 

1862 to Julius Haug, born 30.05.1840 in Stuttgart (D), died 23.07.1896 in Leavenworth/KS 

1 Son: 
          - Edward Theodore Haug, born 26.12.1871 in Liberty/KS, died 28.08.1934 in Concordia/KS 
 
2 Daughters: 
          - Willemina ‘Minnie’ Haug, born 19.09.1863 in Holton/KS, died 24.05.1947 in Kansas City/MO 
                   - Dora Haug, born 1867 in Kansas, died unknown                 
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Certificate of convocation from Andrew Riederer 
 
Like his father, Andrew served in the 11th Kansas Volunteer Cavalry Company B for 
the Northern States during the Civil War. Many an immigrant from Switzerland fought 
for one side or the other in the Secession War between 1862 and 1865, and in view of 
this fact, one sees oneself transported back to the mercenary system of Europe, when 
the Swiss also opposed each other in foreign troops. At that time they were recruited 
for money, but in America they fought for their freedom and ideology.. 



Jacob Ulrich Riederer (was 5 years old when crossing)  

26.02.1841 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

23.04.1919 in Holton/KS 

08.04.1867 to Mary Catherine Meyer, born 04.01.1851 in 
Glattfelden/ZH, died 25.04.1936 in Holton 
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Dorithea ‘Dora’ Riederer           
born 28.04.1869 in Holton           
died 28.11.1944 in Holton 

married to Henry J. Klusmire 

John Jacob Riederer                 
born 18.06.1871 in Holton           
died 29.09.1953 in Holton 

 I. Marriage to Jennie May Gabel           
II. Marriage to Myrtle Gideon 

Rosetta Amelia Riederer                 
born 18.04.1872 in Holton           
died 23.02.1941 in Los Angeles/CA 

 I. Marriage to Martin Bogott               
II. Marriage to Philipp Stepp 

Bertha Matilda Riederer                 
born 23.02.1874 in Holton           
died 04.03.1974 in Sacramento/CA 

 married to Edwin A. Martin 

Anna Christina Riederer                 
born Nov. 1876 in Holton            
died 28.11.1944 in Holton 

married to Albert W. Rolley 

Clara Josephine Riederer                 
born 04.04.1877 in Holton              
died 05.01.1930 in Sabetha/NE 

married to Knox Steele Shaw 

Sophia E. Riederer                                 
born 10.02.1880 in Holton              
died 28.11.1969 in Concord/CA 

 I. Marriage to William Hoover               
II. Marriage to Edward Tyler 

 

Mary Edna Riederer                                 
born 10.01.1882 in Holton              
died 07.11.1975 in Pasadena/CA 

not married 

Elizabeth D. Riederer                                
born März 1883 in Holton              
died 31.05.1940 in Holton 

married to Frederick Henry Hinnen 

Andrew Milton Riederer                           
born 09.03.1887 in Holton              
died 31.12.1976 in Holton 

married to Laura Charlotte Fernkopf 

Floyd Lewis Riederer                                 
born 03.11.1890 in Holton              
died 19.05.1967 in Dodge City/KS 

married to Vivian Mary Nuzman 

Charlotte Riederer                         
born 23.01.1879 in Holton       
died 01.02.1880 in Holton 

Lottie Floriany Riederer           
born 04.02.1885 in Holton          
died 22.05.1889 in Holton 

Died in infancy 

Their 13 children 



  

From here they cast off - The port of Le Havre around 1850 

There they were - after a nearly two-month crossing, in the port of New Orleans, 
the gateway to the 'Wild West': 
 
- Anna Margareth Just, born March 13, 1796 with her children: 
       - Andreas Just, born September 12, 1819 (page 63) 
       - Peter Just, born 1824 (page 65) 
       - Leonard Just, born 1830 
       - Tobias Just, born April 26, 1838 
 
The wife of the aforementioned Andreas Just also left the “Pactolus”. 
- Elisabeth Just-Bernhard, born January 28th, 1809 and her two sons: 
       - Christian Just, born 08.01.1843 (page 64) 
       - Johann Peter Just, born 1844 
          
Next were: 
- Johann Georg Just, born 1814 and his wife 
- Anna Just-Conzett, born 1826 
 
- Jakob Just, born in 1801 with his wife Katherina Just-Rufner, born on July 4th, 1789 
  and the children: 
       - Andreas Just, born 1822 
       - Margareth Just, born 1824 
       - Katherine Just, born 12.04.1827 (page 68) 
       - Peter Just, born 1831 
 
 
 

Here they arrived:                           
New Orleans around 1850 
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The great departure from Guscha 
 

               n May 26, 1846, the sailing ship "Pactolus" docked in the port of New Orleans in the state  
               of Louisiana. Sixteen people with the surname Just disembarked. They came from three  
               families from the Guscha settlement and had left their village together. It was probably a 
fifth or more of the population at the time, and more were to follow that same year. Together the 
men, women and children traveled to Le Havre, from where they set sail; the eldest fifty-seven and 
the youngest two years old, while Guscha was to become more and more depopulated over the 
years. 
 

O  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The journey to New Orleans usually took two weeks longer than to New York. Today the city in the 
Mississippi Delta is best known for its music. It's the cradle of jazz, blues, zydeco, and Cajun, and a 
multicultural magnet in every sense. Founded in 1718 by the French, in the meantime ceded to the 
Spaniards for political reasons and then regained, Napoleon sold the city and the entire Louisiana colony 
for 15 million US dollars to the United States under President Thomas Jefferson in 1803. But the city also 
has a dark history! 
 

In the 19th century, New Orleans became the hub 
and most important slave trading post in the USA, 
replacing Charleston in South Carolina. From 1803 
to 1861, the city was the busiest slave market in the 
nation. 
In the 1850's the highest concentration of millio-
naires in America was between New Orleans and 
Baton Rouge, spawned by the slave economy on the 
sugar cane plantations along the Mississippi River. 
At the time, Louisiana was producing an estimated 
450 million pounds of sugar worth more than $20 
million a year. But the elegant villas on the shore did 
not hide the misery and could not hide the fact that 
this was an enslaved society. 
 
The warm, humid southern climate was ideal for the 
mosquitoes that carry the money fever virus - an of-
ten fatal hazard. During the worst outbreak in 1853 
alone, around 12,000 people died in New Orleans, a 
tenth of the city's population at the time, as a result 
of the disease. Since immigrants were the most 
susceptible, yellow fever was also called the 
"foreign disease". 
The city's population doubled in the 1830s and 
1840s and was over 110,000 in 1845 when the Just 
family arrived in the city. New Orleans was the third 
largest city in the country, the largest in the South 
and the fourth largest port in the world. Behind the 
city was an uninhabitable swamp. Floods, hurri-
canes and fires were a constant threat then as they 
are today. 
It was the time of the pioneers, the time of the «Wild 
West», when the emigrants from Guscha arrived in 
America. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The legendary Western heroes like Jesse James 
(1847-1882), Billy the Kid (1859-1881) or Wyatt 
Earp (1848-1929) and Doc Holiday (1851-1887) 
weren't even born yet. The previously independent 
Republic of Texas has just been incorporated into 
the USA as the 28th state. The Indian tribes in the 
east and south of the country had been largely wiped 
out or pushed west. 
Under President Polk, the Democratic Party ruled 
the country in 1846. James Knox Polk was the 11th 
President of the United States. When he took office 
on March 4, 1845, he was the youngest in office at 
the age of 49, and although he only ruled for one 
term, his presidency changed the country signi-
ficantly. Through his father's inheritance, he came 
into possession of much land and owned a few 
slaves for most of his life. In 1831 he established a 
cotton plantation on land his father had left him near 
Sommerville, Tennessee. The slaves on Polk's plan-
tation were treated brutally, less than half of all 
children lived to the age of 15. He himself rarely 
bought or sold slaves, and in his will he decreed that 
his slaves should be set free after his death and that 
of his wife. Polk died three months into his four-year 
tenure. 
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As in Europe, until the advent of the railways, 
roads and rivers were the most important transport 
routes. The first railroad in the USA was opened in 
Massachusetts in 1826 and was used to transport 
granite from the quarries to the Neponset River for 
shipment. At the beginning of the 19th century, the 
transport system was improved by the construction 
of canals between the lakes and rivers. However, 
due to geographical circumstances, this was not 
possible everywhere. The Appalachians prevented 
the construction of a waterway from the east coast 
to the west of the country. In 1827, the Baltimore 
& Ohio Railroad was founded as the first American 
railroad company to build a railroad line for freight 
and passenger traffic to the Ohio River. On 
Christmas 1852, after twelve years of construction, 
the goal was reached. It was not until May 10, 1869 
that the first transcontinental rail line, connecting 
the California coast in the west with the Atlantic 
Ocean in the east, was opened by the Central 
Pacific Railroad and the Union Pacific. What used 
to be a six-month adventure across the prairie by 
covered wagon now took less than a week. 

Inland shipping 

It is an impressive sight - the constantly rotating, 
large paddle wheel at the stern of a paddle steamer, 
which together with the flat hull makes it possible 
to navigate shallow waters with the many sand-
banks. 

 

 

auch die Bardill’s über die gut 

River steamboat travel was at its peak in the mid-
19th century in the United States, and towns and 
settlements sprang up all along the rivers. Espe-
cially at the confluence of tributaries, the trading 
hubs grew faster than the current could flow.  

Natchez as the most important cotton port, Mem-
phis, St. Louis at the confluence of the Missouri or 
the city of Cairo at the mouth of the Ohio River are 
just a few examples. 

It was also time for the sixteen Justs to move further 
inland to Missouri, Kansas or Ohio. On such or 
similar wheeled steamers, they first traveled north 
up the Mississippi. 

 

auch die Bardill’s über die gut 

The means of transport 
Wie in Europa waren bis 

‘Baltimore & Ohio 
Railroad’

‘Central Pacific Railroad’
‘Union Pacific’

–

Ol' man river 
That ol' man river 

he must know something 
But he don't say nothing 

Cause he just keeps rolling 
He keeps rolling along 
He don't plant tators 
He don't plant cotton 

Them that plants 'em is soon forgotten 
But ol' man river 

Just keeps rolling along 

 

https://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Raddampfer#cite_note-nyt-29031903-1-5
https://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Louisiana_Purchase_Exposition
https://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Raddampfer#cite_note-nyt-29031903-1-5
https://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Raddampfer#cite_note-6


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andreas Just (was 27 years old when crossing)  

12.09.1819 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

1850 in Galena/Illinois 

03.07.1842 in Maienfeld/GR to Elisabeth 
Bernhard, born 28.01.1809 in Jenins/GR,    

            died 09.07.1880 in Deerfield/Minnesota.  
 
            
After the death of Andreas Just, Elisabeth Just married Conrad Engle from Baden-Baden (D) 
 
 

Christian Just (Son of Andreas Just and Elisabeth Bernhard, was 3 years old when crossing)  
 

08.01.1843 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

02.04.1925 in Owatonna/Minnesota (MN) 

I. Marriage 21.11.1863 to Mary Jane Minder, born 24.12.1846 in Potter Township/PA, 
died 13.01.1880 in Deerfield/MN              

On the following pages we look at where the individual branches of the Just from Guscha family                
went and in which states they settled. 

 
Beginning with Anna Margareth Just and her children; Andreas, Peter, Christian and Tobias. The name of her 
husband, Christian Friedrich Just, was not on the passenger list of the 'Pactolus'. I don't know why he didn't 
emigrate to America with his family. The relationships in this family are somewhat confusing, which is why I 
will only base myself on the facts that are available to me. According to a record in the church register of 
Dresden/Prussia, it is documented that Christian Friedrich Just, born on August 16, 1790 in Guscha, died in 
Dresden on February 20, 1852. How and when he got there, and whether his family first moved to the Empire 
before they dared to jump across the 'big pond', cannot be said with absolute certainty. Let's take a look at the 
family tree. 
 
 
 
 

–

Tobias Just                                        

26.04.1836-             

23.01.1872           

in Minnesota 

 

Christian Just                                   

1833-1856 

Christian Friedrich Just                                                    

16.08.1790-20.02.1852 

 

Emigrated to the USA in 1846 

Anna Margareth Just                    

13.03.1796-after 1856 

Andreas Just                                     

12.09.1819-1850 

          03.07.1842 

Elisabeth Bernhard                         

28.01.1809-09.07.1880 

Peter Just             

1824-21.03.1867 

Christian Just                                   

08.01.1843-

02.04.1925 

824-21.03.1867 

Johann-Peter 

Just                                  

1844-unknown 

pages 63/64  

- 63 - 

The family settled first in northeast Iowa in the Lansing on 
the Mississippi area and later in southeast Minnesota 

around Owatonna. 
 

‘Yust’, ‘Yost’, ‘Youst’ oder ‘Aust’ geschrieben. 

 

Emigrated to the USA in 1846 

The Just-Just family 
 

page 65  

7 children died 

in infancy 

before 

18461833 - 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
             3 more Sons:  

         - Charles William Yust, 09.09.1867 in Lansing/Iowa - 20.01.1919 in Owatonna/MN,   

            married to Edith Rosebrock 
                                 - Hermann Theodore Yust, 20.08.1876 in Deerfield/MN - 01.09.1945 in Owatonna/MN,   
                                   married to Anna Schendel 
                                         - Harvey Albert Yust, 11.12.1879 in Deerfield/MN - 26.11.1956 in Farmington/MN, 
                                           I. Marriage to Mary Herda, II. Marriage to Mabel Morgan 

4 Daughters: 
          - Sara Elizabeth Yust, 18.12.1865 in Lansing/Iowa - 21.05.1950 in Fort Steilacoom/WA,  
             married to Harry Paul Creager 
                 - Caroline Marie Yust, 23.01.1869 in Lansing/Iowa - 29.10.1952 in Concord/MN,  
                     married to Charles Edgar Erdmann  
                         -  Clara Minnie Yust, 09.08.1871 in Lansing/Iowa - 19.07.1951 in Modesto/CA,  
                             married to John Henry Rosebrock 
                                 - Josephine Anna Yust, 22.02.1878 in Deerfield/MN - 09.01.1959 in Owa-  
                                    tonna/MN, married to Rudolf Gese 
 

On July 18, 1881, eighteen months after the death of his first wife, Christian Just (Yust) 
married Ernestine Putzke, who was born on July 11, 1852 in Neubrandenburg (D) and died 
on January 24, 1944 in Owatonna/MN. They had five more children together: 

 

 

 

 

 

Christian Just and Mary Jane Minder had 5 sons and 4 daughters together. 
In America, her name Just is now spelled 'Yust', 'Yost', 'Youst' or 'Aust'. 

 

Father Christian Just, born 1843 

Georg Andrew Yust 

born 17.07.1864 in Lansing/Iowa            
died 03.02.1953 in Stewartville/MN 

married to Marie Elisabeth Laux 

Peter Yust 

born 22.04.1873 in Lansing/Iowa            
died 01.10.1948 in Portland/Oregon 

married to Lena L. Wiesjhan 

Ernestine Putzke-Yust 
            Emma Bertha Yust 

30.06.1882 in Deerfield/MN –  
04.06.1953 in Owatonna/MN 

married to Henry Frederick Hunt 

            Anna Helena Yust 

  11.10.1884 in Deerfield/MN - 
  16.10.1972 in Columbus/KS 
 
married to Martin Ferdinand Ellermann 

             Ella Alwina Yust 

11.12.1886 in Deerfield/MN -                    
27.08.1971 in Owatonna/MN 

            Edith Bertha Yust 

03.10.1892 in Deerfield/MN -                 
02.04.1987 in Owatonna/MN 

        Arthur Hildebert Yust 

13.08.1889 in Deerfield/MN -                 
09.01.1975 in Faribault/MN 

married to Mabel Helen Morgan 
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Peter Just (Son of Christian Friedrich Just and Anna Margreth Just, was 22 years old when crossing)  
 
1824 in Guscha/Maienfeld  

21.03.1867 in Lansing/Iowa 

23.08.1859 to Margaretha Anna Stocker, born 31.12.1844 in Wädenswil/ZH, died 20.08.1919 in 
Farmington Township/MN 

 
2 Sons:    

       - Peter Yust Jr., born 10.10.1861 in Lansing/IA, died 23.10.1927 in Saint Charles/MN  

         Marriage 01.12.1887 to Emma Weyrmuller 

       - Christian Yust, born 26.07.1863 in Lansing/IA, died 11.08.1954 in Olmsted    

          County/MN, Marriage 04.02.1892 to Cealia Burch 

1 Daughter: 
          - Margareth Yust, born 31.03.1866 in Lansing/IA, died 04.07.1882 in Lansing/IA  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Peter Yust Jr. 

The second journey 
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Peter Just probably traveled back to Europe temporarily around 1858. According to a passenger list, he arrived 
in New York on July 18, 1859 on the Zurich ship, together with the Stocker family from Wädenswil. Their 
names were listed one below the other in the passenger list, so it can be assumed that they embarked together 
in Le Havre. They were: 
- Peter Just, Barbara Stocker with their two sons Peter and Martin, and their daughter Margaretha Anna. 
 
Apparently, the families knew each other from before and kept in touch. I assume that Peter Just, now a US 
citizen, helped the Stockers emigrate and therefore traveled back to Switzerland. A marriage certificate shows 
that Peter Just and Margaretha Anna Stocker got married a month after their arrival in Lansing, Peter Just's 
hometown. At that time Margaretha was only fifteen years old! 
In 1860 Peter Just lived with his young wife Margaretha, her mother Barbara, and her brother Peter in a 
household in Lansing, Iowa, as shown in the population list for that year, shown below. Peter Just owned a farm 
that was valued at $1,500, which was above average compared to other farms. A year later their son Peter Yust 
Jr. was born. Christian followed in 1863 and in 1866 their daughter Margareth, who was only sixteen years old. 
After the death of her husband Peter Just, Margaretha Anna married the German immigrant Heinrich Zeitler in 
1868 and had nine more children before she died in Minnesota in 1919 at the age of seventy-five. 
 
 
 



    

And what became of the others? 
 
There is not much information about the fate of Andreas and Peter Just's two brothers, Christian and Tobias, or 
Andreas' second son, Johann-Peter. According to the 1856 population register of Center Township in Iowa, 
mother Anna Margareth Just lived with her sons Christian and Tobias Just on a farm near Lansing in Iowa, in 
the immediate vicinity of her grandson Christian Just, born 1843, his mother Elisabeth Bernhard and her second 
husband Conrad Engle (her first husband and son of Anna Margareth Just, Andreas Just, died 1850). The date 
of Margareth Just's death is not known, but must be after 1856. Her son Tobias Just died on January 23, 1872 
in Fairbault/Minnesota at the age of thirty-four. His brother Christian, born in Maienfeld in 1837 (still registered 
on the passenger list of 1846) is not on this list. He died on September 16, 1856 in Allamakee County. There is 
also no information about the life of the second son of Andreas and Elisabeth Just-Bernhard, Johann-Peter Just, 
born in 1844, who was two years old when the ship was crossed. 
 
 

Passenger list of the "Zurich" from July 18, 1859 
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Lansing/Iowa 
 
After her arrival in the USA, Anna Margareth Just and her four children first lived in Center, a small town 
in central Iowa. In the 1860s they moved to Lansing, a settlement on the Mississippi River in Allamakee 
County, in far northeast Iowa. The 2020 census recorded a population of 968 people. 
In 1848, William Garrison was the first white settler to come to what is now Lansing and acquired 
extensive property. In 1849 a coaching inn was established and operated by Garrison. 
In 1851 John Haney, his son James Haney and H.H. Houghton bought the land and established a settle-
ment. It was named after the city of Lansing in Michigan. In 1864 the town was granted town status and 
in 1867 it was elevated to city status. Due to its location on the Mississippi, Lansing became a trading 
center for the surrounding agriculture. Sawmills were set up, processing logs floated downstream all day. 
In 1899, J. M. Turner founded a factory for mother-of-pearl buttons, employing several hundred workers, 
mostly women. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lansing around 1913 
 
 

Owatonna/Minnesota 
 

Margareth Just's grandson, Christian Yust (the name was now spelled with a Y), moved to Owatonna in 
southern Minnesota, not far (140 miles) from Lansing in the neighboring state of Iowa. He was married 
twice and left there an enormous descent. 
 
Owatonna was first settled in 1853 and is now a city of 26,000 in Steele County, Minnesota. In 1886 the 
Minnesota State School for Dependent and Neglected Children was built. The school was a boarding 
school until 1945 for state orphans who were admitted and taught the value of drill, discipline and work. 
The children who died in the institution were buried in the cemetery behind the school. 
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Anna Margreta Just 
 
She was born on April 5, 1824 in Guscha and died on July 6, 1899 in Liestal in the canton of Baselland. But 
how come? She was standing with her parents and siblings at the port of New Orleans in Louisiana/USA in 
1846! 
On January 25, 1847, Anna Margreta married Martin Plattner, an immigrant from Basel who had been living 
in the USA since October 1834. They had six children in total, four of whom died in infancy. 
In the early 1850s, however, Anna Margreta and her husband Martin returned to Europe, because their son 
Anton Plattner was born in Bern on May 25, 1855. Incidentally, he emigrated to the USA in 1879, just like his 
parents did. He died in Missouri on the first day of 1911. Together with his wife Mary Grewe he left a great 
line of descent and the Plattner name still exists in the USA today. 
No traces of the two brothers of Katherine and Anna Margreta Just, Andreas and Peter, can be found in the 
USA. It is therefore quite possible that they too died young in their new homeland. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

On May 26, 1846, the Just-Rufner family arrived in New Orleans on the Pactolus (page 60). There are 
only hints about the lives of the two girls Katherine and Anna Margreta. 

 
 Katherine Just (Aust) 

 
When Catharina Just (spelled Katherine Aust in the USA) was born on Guscha on April 
12, 1827, her father Jakob was twenty-six and her mother Katharina Just-Rufner thirty-
eight years old. She arrived in New Orleans with her parents and her siblings, Andreas, 
Peter and Anna Margreta. Her eldest brother Jacob died in Guscha on December 19, 
1843. The family relocated to the state of Missouri and varied locations over the 
following decades, but they were never far apart: 
 
 

 
- 1850 in District 42, Jefferson County 
  (Jefferson County is near St. Louis on the Mississippi) 
- 1870 in Morau, Morgan County 
- 1880 in Saline, Miller County 
  (Both places are adjacent west of St. Louis, 
   on the way to Kansas City) 
 
The father Jakob Just must have died before 1850, 
since, contrary to his wife, he is not in the 
ste of Jefferson County appears. Published from 1870 
also the name of the mother Katharina Just-Rufner 
nowhere else. There is no information about her life.                         Catharina Just's baptismal certificate 
                                                                                                                       in the Maienfeld church book of 1827 
 

Ausgewandert 1847 in die USA 

Shortly after her arrival, Katherine married John Henry Heldstab on June 12, 1846 in St. 
Louis/Missouri. It can be assumed that the two met on the ship or already knew each 
other from Switzerland. Appropriate indications point to this in any case. Johann Henry 
Heldstab was born on July 18, 1819 in Klosters im Prättigau and died on January 16, 
1900 in Miller County/MO. He was a confectioner by trade. Over the next 23 years they 
had at least twelve children. 
 
Katherine Just-Heldstab died on November 27, 1918 in Mt. Pleasant, Miller County, 
Missouri at the advanced age of 91. 
 

 The Just-Rufner family 
 Emigrated to the USA in 1846 
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Hans Heinrich (John Henry) Heldstab arrived in America in 1846 on the same ship as the                      
Just-Rufner family, the Pactolus. 
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• John Heldstab, 1847 in St. Louis/Missouri (MO) - 1889 in Miller County/MO  
(didn't live with his parents anymore in 1870) 

• Peter Heldstab, 29.12.1848 in St. Louis/MO - 13.09.1934 in Miller County/MO 
• Martha Heldstab, 01.03.1850 in St. Louis/MO - 04.01.1938 in Mokane/MO 

(didn't live with her parents anymore in 1870), Marriage 1865 to Gustave Rauschelbach - 5 Children 
• Mary Heldstab, Juli 1851 in St. Louis/MO - 1859 in Missouri (died at the age of 9) 
• Adolph Heldstab, 1854 in St. Louis/MO - 27.04.1895 in Tuscumbia/MO, Marriage 22.08.1876 to 

Martha Uber, 19.08.1853 in Somerset/Pennsylvania - 01.10.1915 in Miller County/MO 
 
                                                                 The descendants of Adolph and Martha Heldstab: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

• Rhinehart Heldstab, 19.04.1856 in Missouri - 01.06.1935 in Tuscumbia/MO 
• Mary Heldstab, 1860 in Missouri  -29.01.1949, Marriage 1895 to Charles Hollenbeck 1854 - unknown 
• Emma Heldstab, 14.04.1861 in Missouri - 15.03.1946 in Ettersville/MO, married to William Gartin 
• Ginnettie Heldstab, around 1864 in Missouri - 29.03.1938 in Ettersville/MO 
• Henrietta Heldstab, 1864 in Missouri - 29.03.1938 in Ettersville/MO, married to Joel Carrender 
• Charles Heldstab, 01.06.1866 in Missouri - 11.10.1912 in Eldon/MO 
• Lucy Heldstab, 24.05.1870 in Barnett/MO - 31.08.1941 in Miller County/MO, 

married to Samuel Russell 
 
 
 
 

The family of John Henry and Katherine Heldstab-Just (Aust) 
lived in the same area of Missouri at the same time as the 
notorious Jesse James (1847-1882, photo right) with 
up to mischief with his brother Frank and the Younger brothers. 
It is therefore quite possible that they knew him personally. 

 

The children of Katherine Just (Aust) and John Henry Heldstab 
Resident List June 28, 1870 Moreau Township, Morgan County, Missouri 

 
 

- John Adolph Heldstab 1877-1953 
- Estella Heldstab 1878-unknown 
- Laura Heldstab 1880-unknown 
- Ophelia Aurora Heldstab 1882-1953 
- Margaret Leona Heldstab 1883-1978 
- Anna Martha Heldstab 1885-1933 
- Lucy Heldstab 1887-1946 
- Belle Heldstab 1888-unknown 
- Laura Ellen Heldstab 1891-1964 
- Martha Anna Heldstab 1895-unknown 
- Joseph Heldstab, unbekannt, starb im 



   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Andreas Just                      
1803 – around 1848 

Emigrated to the USA in 1846 

The wave of emigration from Guscha continued in the course of 1846. After the above-
mentioned group of sixteen Justs set foot on American soil in the spring, another Just family 
set off again in the autumn of the same year - namely that of Andreas Just, who six years 
earlier had caused quite a stir not only in the canton of Graubünden! 
 
Not much is documented about the lives of individual family members in the United States. 
The Just-Zimmermann family arrived in New Orleans on October 26, 1846 on the ship 
"Diana" and settled first in St. Louis/Missouri and later in neighboring Illinois. 
 
 

–

Andreas Just                                     

1803-um 1848 

       1823 

Elisabeth Maria  

         Zimmermann                          

15.02.1804-unknown 

Andreas Just                                     

1827-unknown 

           

Elisabeth Bürkli                                                            

1827-unknown 

Maria Just                          

1824-unknown 

Johann Peter 

Just  

1832-unknown 

Nicolaus Just                                                            

Feb. 1834 -

unknown 

Christian Just                                   

1839-

unknown 

Andreas Just's daughter-in-law, Elisabeth Bürkli from Meilen/ZH, was also 
there. She was the wife of his eldest son Andreas. The two had three children 
between 1858 and 1862. 
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Baptism book from the year 1803 of the reformed church in Maienfeld with the 
baptism entry of Andreas Just from September 20 (3rd entry from the top) 



 

The poachers 

This is the story that happened in 1840 in the border area between Graubünden, Liechtenstein and 
Austria, almost entailed a state affair and that went down in the history books. 

At the forefront – Andreas Just, born in 1803! 
 
The information below was compiled by Hans Mutzner, municipal archivist from Maienfeld, from a lecture 
given by former Landammann Hans Bantli, born in 1921, and made available to me in a manner that I owe a 
debt of gratitude. 
Fascinated and spurred on by telling the story of the last inhabitant of Guscha, Mathis Just, born 1898 (a 
grandson of Christian Just, who was involved in the story), Hans Bantli later researched in the report published 
by Prime Minister and local historian Dr. Alexander Frick in Schaan/FL, written "With soldiers against 
poachers", at the registry office in Jenins, in the Maienfeld district archive, the cantonal library and the state 
archive in Chur and in the state archive of the Principality of Liechtenstein in Vaduz. Based on the files found, 
Hans Bantli was able to reconstruct the incident almost completely. 
It should also be mentioned that there was no hunting plan in the canton of Graubünden at the time and 
everyone was allowed to go stalking. However, this did not apply to neighboring countries! 
 

They didn't listen to                     Hartmann's call, but 
followed the pack in the direction of Alp Gritsch. 
The game warden showed no desire to deal with so 
many robbers and watched the hunters as they app-
roached the huts on Alp Gritsch towards evening. 
Because of the falling darkness he was quite sure 
that they would spend the night there. 
Now the game warden Hartmann hurried down the 
valley using the shortest route and reported the 
incident to the governing bailiff Menzinger at the 
castle in Vaduz. Although it was approaching 
midnight, he had the contingent commander, 
Lieutenant Bloudek, awakened and gave the order 
for soldiers to march to Alp Gritsch immediately in 
order to arrest the poachers who had entered 
Liechtenstein territory. Since the officer lacked 
mountain experience, he handed over command to 
Corporal Xaver Sele, with the clear order: 
'Do not attack, proceed cautiously and do not use 
violence' - if the poachers surrender voluntarily, they 
should only be treated as prisoners who must not be 
harmed. Should they, however, make use of their 
weapons, it is for the soldiers to answer violence 
with violence.' 
 
Fourteen volunteers, all locals whose names are 
known, have signed up for the night's endeavour, 
and Corporal Sele has forty rifle cartridges for her 
carbines. The bayonets were left in quarters because 
of their heavy weight. Shortly after midnight the 
detachment, led by corporal and game warden 
Hartmann, set off. 
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It was October 2nd, 1840. Andreas Just from Gu-
scha, Johannes Lampert from Jenins and on the 
other hand the brothers Christian and Florian Just 
(who emigrated to the USA in 1859, page 109) from 
Guscha originally wanted to hunt independently. 
Due to the unforeseen encounter, it was decided to 
go hunting together. Christian Just shot a stately 
gemsbok in the Guschner area, which he 
professionally disemboweled and hid under the red 
tips to take with him on the way home. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Since there was nothing more to hunt in the Gusch-
ner area, the four men decided to go across the 
nearby national border, because the most beautiful 
animals were on the other side of the border anyway, 
over in the princely district, where a hunter rarely 
came. In the course of the day they accidentally 
came across Jakob Rüedi and Thomas Bernhard 
from Maienfeld and Johann Liesch from Malans. 
Since the 'Herrschäflter' knew each other quite well, 
the group moved on together and were startled by a 
shot on Liechtenstein territory in the late afternoon. 
Despite careful observation, the Bündner Jäger 
could not locate the shooter. The fired shot, how-
ever, resulted in a herd of chamois coming towards 
them. As it turned out later, the unknown shooter 
was none other than the princely game warden 
Christoph Hartmann, who injured one of these 
chamois but did not kill him. That was completed by 
one of our Graubünden hunters. 
 
 
 
 



 

Before they approached Alp Gritsch, Corporal Sele 
gave each soldier two cartridges to load the rifles 
with. Day was slowly coming and smoke was rising 
from the chimney of the alpine dairy, an un-
mistakable sign that the hunters had not yet marched 
off. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

According to the agreement, game warden Hart-
mann crept over to the hut while the soldiers waited 
about twenty paces away for the agreed sign of their 
offspring. At that moment the hut door was opened 
from the inside and Florian Just stepped out to check 
the weather. At the sight of the unknown hunter 
(Hartmann) Florian is startled and wants to close the 
door again immediately, which the nimble game 
warden knew how to prevent and at the same time 
was able to cause the offspring of the soldiers with 
the agreed signal. Hartmann walked calmly into the 
hut, where the people from Graubünden were still 
sitting around the fire in the semi-darkness. These 
jumped up to get to their hunting sockets. Hartmann 
tried to prevent this and a brawl ensued, using the 
rifle butts as a bludgeon. One of the people from 
Graubünden managed to hit the game warden with a 
butt, which fired a shot and missed the soldier 
Johann Beck by a hair's breadth, but singed his 
whiskers. This set off a chain reaction and several 
soldiers fired their single-shot rifles into the 
darkness of the hut. Game warden Hartmann 
recognized the danger of this aimless shooting and 
shouted: "Don't shoot, by hand, by hand!" A few 
soldiers then pushed their way inside and a wild 
brawl ensued, with the people of Graubünden, who 
also had military training, proving to be equal 
opponents. However, it soon became apparent that 
the butts of the soldiers' carbines proved to be a 
better weapon than those of the hunting rifles. Our 
Bündner Jäger were pushed to the wall by the 
superiority, but they didn't want to give up for a long 
time. It was only when another shot was fired in the 
hut and Johannes Lampert from Jenins collapsed 
dying with a cry that peace returned and the 
poachers finally surrendered. They now had to give 
up their weapons and the injured washed their 
wounds at the alpine well. The unconscious were 
brought to their senses with cold mountain water. 

 

 

 

Only with Johannes Lampert was this no longer of 
any use! Johannes Lampert was dead and was poorly 
covered up. The other men now stood quietly facing 
each other. Embittered by the death of their 
comrade, they mutually accused each other of 
having shot unnecessarily. The corpse was first left 
on Alp Gritsch before being taken to the house of 
the treasurer Josef Bargetze in Triesen the next day. 
 
With the prisoners in the middle, the convoy moved 
down the valley and in the early afternoon of 
October 3, the somewhat strange train arrived at 
Vaduz Castle. With the exception of Andreas Just, 
all hunters had been injured by grazing shots or 
blows from the butt and had to be treated medically. 
Then the interrogation began, which was conducted 
personally by Landvogt Menzinger - in the presence 
of the district judges Johannes Wachter, Michael 
Seger and Andreas Rheingerber, as well as the clerk 
Miliczek and assessor Dünser, who wrote the 
extremely precise and detailed minutes. Likewise, 
game warden Christoph Hartmann and Corporal 
Xaver Sele were strictly interrogated under oath. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                            
 
                   Vaduz Castle around 1850 
 
The number of shots fired by the soldiers at the 
hunters was not exactly clarified. They almost 
unanimously declared that they had not known that 
the hunter, who was unknown to them, was the royal 
game warden. If they had only suspected that, it 
would not have come to this and they would of 
course have given him the wounded chamois. After 
the interrogations, all Graubünden hunters were 
imprisoned in Vaduz. The corpse of the unfortunate 
Johannes Lampert was examined by two doctors in 
Triesen and an autopsy report was drawn up. He 
gave the cause of death as ‘a bullet that ricocheted 
off and was flattened tore open the hunter’s stomach 
and destroyed vital organs’. 
After the autopsy, the body was released and taken 
to Jenins. 
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The aftermath 
 
The authorities, from the community to the high court and the cantonal 
government, immediately dealt with the case. As early as October 5th, the 
small council of Graubünden (today Graubünden government) wrote to 
the sovereign in Vienna, describing the whole incident and asking him for 
mercy for those involved. His Serene Highness Alois II is requested to 
refrain from imprisonment and instead to impose a fine. Practically at the 
same time, the magistrate from the High Court of Maienfeld issued a sure-
ty bond for the attention of the bailiff in Vaduz, which was followed a few 
days later by the prisoner's bond. 
On October 8th, the bailiff described the incident in a 16-page note to the 
Graubünden government and stated that the main offense was "resistance 
to the military". At the same time, he requests that the detainees' certifi-
cates of good character and their criminal records be delivered. To every-
one's surprise, on October 9th, 1840, Landvogt Menzinger released the six 
Bündner hunters! 
In a 32-page report on what happened the day after, the governor of Vaduz 
informed the sovereign in Vienna, in which he also justified his reasons 
for dismissal, among other things. 
On November 1, 1840, Prince Alois II wrote to the Graubünden govern-
ment that the proceedings finally came to a successful end and that only 
the costs incurred due to the hunters' rebelliousness had to be paid on time 
. 
Landvogt Menzinger received a hefty reprimand from his Prince Alois II 
for dismissing the Bündner hunters without his consent. She concluded by 
saying: 
"The servant should never anticipate his master in acts of thought." 
 
Game warden Christoph Hartmann, on the other hand, was commended. 
As recognition he received the double barrel of one poacher and the pow-
der keg of another. 
To this day it was probably the only time that the Liechtenstein military 
contingent used force of arms in its own country. 

Alois II, Prince of Liechtenstein (1796-1858) 
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On the passenger list of the "Charlemagne", which left Antwerp in Belgium and arrived in New Orleans on 
May 15, 1847, the following names are found, among others; 
 
- Mathias Just, age 52 (born according to the emigrant list in 1793) 
- Elsbeth Just, 50 (b. 1797) 
- Barbara Just, 20 (b. 1826) 
- Florian Just, 16 (b. 1830) 
- Christian Flutsch, 23 
- Hans Just, 22 (b. 1825) 
- Hans Just, 6 months 
 
Other family names from Maienfeld (Bosch) are immediately below. Apparently, several families from the 
town in the Bündner rule left together. The exact family relationships and degrees of kinship can no longer be 
determined from this. The creation of a passenger list in the middle of the 19th century has to be imagined as 
follows; 
After a long, arduous journey, the passengers who want to emigrate stand in a column in front of a table behind 
which a ship or dock worker is sitting and asking people from all over Europe about their names and ages. 
Since the employee usually only speaks the local language, he writes down the names as he understands them 
and how they are written in his own language. Peter often becomes Pierre, Andreas André, Johannes John, 
Valentin Daletin, etc. The same with the surnames; Just becomes Jost or Juse, Flütsch becomes Flutsch, Bösch 
becomes Bosch etc. Some of the wives were registered with their single names. No dates of birth were recorded, 
only the stated age and country of origin, the number of pieces of luggage and occasionally the name of a 
person who was on the ship was missing. To make matters worse, the passenger lists were written by hand at 
the time and legibility left a lot to be desired. I spent days studying the passenger lists in order to be able to 
assign the names to the individual families, but I was not always able to do this satisfactorily. But that too is 
part of genealogy - certain things remain hidden in the darkness of the past times. 
This also includes the whereabouts of the Just-Flütsch family in the USA. I was only able to find indications 
that the family settled in the state of Wisconsin, where emigrants from the Flütsch family from Schiers im 
Prättigau also lived, such as Valentin, his brother Kaspar and his sister Zeda Flütsch, who was married to 
Andreas Just from Guscha (born 1816). Valentin and Kaspar came to the town of Hurricane in Grant County, 
Wisconsin in the mid-1860s. Zeda and Andreas Just, who are proven to have emigrated before 1850, could 
probably have arrived on the "Pactolus" in 1846. 
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 The Just-Flütsch family 
 

Emigrated to the USA in 1847 



            

            

            

            

            

    

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

V. Chapter 

The years after 1850 
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Christina Luchsinger             
09.02.1841-22.10.1889             

(Foto around 1865) 

V.  Chapter 

The years after 1850 

             ven after the great wave of emigration in 1846, there were always families from Guscha who  
             packed their bags. Their traces are often lost shortly after they left their home village. It can  
             therefore be assumed that the families either emigrated to Italy or further afield to Australia. 
At the time, both countries were the most popular destinations for Graubünden emigrants alongside the 
USA. The last name on the 1850 emigrant list was that of a little girl named Cathrina (Christina) 
Luchsinger. Her fate overseas was accompanied by a life without love and came to a tragic end. 
 
 
 

–

Republiken der ’Drei Bünde’, welche vertraglich nach aussen hin ein zugewandter Ort der alten Eidge

E  

 Christina Luchsinger            
1839 - 1889 

Extremely complicated family relationships 
 
Christina Luchsinger was probably born on February 9th, 1839 as an illegitimate child under the name 
Cathrina Just. Depending on the source, her first name and the year of her birth varies between 1839 and 
1842. The name Luchsinger is often also spelled 'Luzinger' or 'Lutzinger'. Her age was given as 9 on the 
1851 passenger list. Her father's name is not known, but according to entries in a family diary from the 
USA, it could be Andreas Just. Her mother's name was Ursula Just, born April 22, 1813 in Guscha, daughter 
of Anna Cammerer and Christian Just, who according to a story was dragged to death by a bull on Guscha. 
On May 4th, 1843, Ursula Just married Nicholas Luchsinger from Schwanden from Glarus, whose first 
wife had died a year earlier. Nicholas adopted little Christina and over the next few years three half brothers 
were added: 
 
- Jacob, 1844-1941  
- Andreas, 1846-1942  
- Nicholas, 1848-1851 
 

Emigrated to the USA in 1851 

The whole family actually wanted to emigrate to America in 1848. 
But since Nikolas junior was born that year and the mother Ursula 
had to take care of the baby, the father traveled ahead alone in 1848. 
However, on May 6th, 1851, the last offspring died in Switzerland 
at the age of only three years. Now Ursula decided to follow her 
husband along with their children Christina, Jakob and Andreas. 
In July 1851 they boarded the ship "Gallia" in Le Havre for the 
crossing to New York, where they arrived on September 4th of the 
same year. Also present were Ursula's 79-year-old mother-in-law 
(Salome), her two brothers-in-law Fritz and Johannes Luchsinger, 
as well as her sister-in-law Ursula, nephew Andreas and niece 
Christine Luchsinger. All in all, the Luchsinger "travel group" 
consisted of ten people. 
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Ursula Luchsinger - Just                
22.04.1813-19.03.1897             

(Foto around 1865) 

Ursula met her husband Nicholas in 
New York and the Luchsinger family 
first settled in the city, where they 
lived for five years and from there 
moved on to a small town called 
DePue in Bureau County, Illinois in 
1857, hundert miles southwest of 
Chicago, where they spent the rest of 
their lives. In the Bureau County 
censuses of 1870 and 1880, Nicholas 
listed his occupation as blacksmith. 

Only her son Andreas Luchsinger 
moved on to California after 1910, 
where he died in 1942 in the Nappa 
Valley. 

                                                                
Nicholas Luchsinger              

15.01.1815-22.12.1906        
(Foto around 1865) 

 

Andreas 
Luchsinger              
(1846-1942) 

Jakob 
Luchsinger                    
(1844-1941)                

Christina Luchsinger's half 
brothers (Foto around 1865) 
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Ursula Luchsinger's obituary in the Ottawa Free Trader newspaper in 1897 

 



 

 

 

 

The loveless life of Christina Luchsinger 

In September 1859, at the age of eighteen, Christina 
Luchsinger married William (Wilhelm) Horn (1833-
1916), who had immigrated to the USA with his 
parents from Germany in 1848. Their first child 
(Charles Edward Horn) was born on December 11, 
1860 in DePue, Illinois. It is not known where his 
father William Horn was at that time, certainly not 
with his wife Christina in Illinois. There is evidence 
that he was in the gold fields in California around 
1860 trying to get a claim so that he could buy a farm 
with arable land from the hoped-for gold find. 
Apparently he had found some, which would explain 
his later wealth. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In 1862, during the Civil War, William Horn joined 
the Union (Northern States) Volunteer Forces of the 
104th Illinois Infantry. He fought for three years, 
including at the Battle of Atlanta, until his capture in 
1865. He was then taken to Virginia, where he was 
exchanged for Confederate soldiers. With earnings 
from his army service (pay was about $10 a month), 
he bought a farm in the community of Grand-
Rapids, LaSalle County. Christina Luchsinger-Horn 
gave birth to eight more children there, the last 
(Otto) in August 1882. She was already forty at the 
time and suffered from depression and psycho-
logical problems. No wonder, because over the past 
few years her husband William has often locked her 
in the shed and abused her for days, so Christina 
considered a divorce, which was classified as 
"madness" in the USA at the time. 

 

 

 

 

However, a judge dismissed the divorce petition as 
barred, despite acknowledging that Christina had 
been 'treated cruelly'. William had his wife declared 
insane and taken her to Kankakee Hospital in La 
Salle County for treatment of the insane. Christina 
was later classified as 'untreatable' and committed to 
the Utica, Illinois District Institution for the Insane 
before being sent back home to her abusive hus-
band's farm, where she lived in difficult living 
conditions. 

Suicide or Accident? 

Christina Luchsinger-Horn died on October 22, 
1889 at the age of 48 in La Salle/Illinois. A few days 
earlier, she was hit by a freight train in the Peru/ 
Illinois marshalling yard. Unconscious, she was 
taken to St. Mary's Hospital with various broken 
bones, where her leg had to be amputated. Accor-
ding to the newspapers, her death was described as 
a suicide. But it shouldn't have been that easy! Her 
injuries indicated that she had attempted to pull 
herself onto a moving freight train and slipped and 
fell under the wheels due to the long dress she was 
wearing and the wet and cold conditions of that 
night. 

Christina was probably on her way to visit her fami-
-ly in La Salle, where she hoped for protection from 
her husband, but was turned away. The family con-
firmed this information to the Ottawa newspaper. 
Since Christina was unconscious for a long time 
after the accident, it took a few days to find out who 
she was. She died as a result of her injuries and was 
buried in a cemetery in La Salle.  

Her husband William Horn, who owned a farm and 
240 morgan land (about 60 ha), was not present at 
the funeral. But not even after her death did Chri-
stina rest. She was later reburied in Grand Rapids, 
where her tombstone is now on the Luchsinger 
family plot. 

 

 

 

William Horn                              
15.03.1833-16.06.1916                       

(in Union Army uniform around 1863) 
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In the October 1889 Ottawa Free Trader newspaper I found the following article about the death                       
of Christina Luchsinger-Horn. 

 

An inmate of Kankakee and the Workhouse - abused by her husband! 

Major Gibson fuhr sofort nach La Salle ins St. Mary’s Hospit

The woman who was hit by a 
shunter in La Salle on Friday night, 
an accident first brought to public 
attention by the FREE TRADER 
columns, is Mrs. Horn of Grand 
Ridge. 
Ten days ago, Mrs. Bridget Gaynor 
escaped from the county peniten-
tiary. On Saturday Major Gibson 
learned that a woman had been 
injured at La Salle and was asked to 
investigate on the assumption that 
the injured person could be said 
Mrs Gaynor. He called the head of 
the asylum and it turned out that it 
couldn't be Mrs. Gaynor because, 
although crazy, she was of a very 
cautious nature. 
Superintendent Breuning came ye-
sterday morning and informed the 
Major that the injured woman was 
of German descent and had been in 
the Kankakee Asylum for a number 
of years. Major Gibson drove at 
once to La Salle, to St. Mary's Ho-
spital, and found Mrs. Horn on a 
bunk. A leg was amputated and an 
arm was broken. The doctor 
informed him that she had appa-
rently gone down to the marshalling 
yard with the intention of commit-
ting suicide by throwing herself in 
front of a passing freight train. A 
few years ago, Mrs. Horn was 
declared insane and sent to Kanka-
kee for treatment, but since she 
didn't seem to be doing better, she 
was declared incurable. 
William Horn, her husband, a 
wealthy Grand Ridge farmer, owns 
a magnificent farm of 240 Morgan 
land and as a wealthy man he had to 
reside and pay for his wife's meals 
in the institution himself. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr. Horn paid for a while, but about 
15 months ago he announced he was 
sick of paying a hundred dollars a 
year and took his demented wife 
home. 
Nobody knows what happened in 
this house between the time they 
were taken and the time they fled ten 
days ago. Mrs. Horn then went to 
Ottawa, Illinois, to see County Agent 
Gibson, who immediately recogni-
zed her as her former protégé. She 
sought advice regarding a divorce 
and was referred to District Attorney 
Blake, to whom she told her story of 
common cruelty which, if based on 
fact, has few parallels in the history 
of the courts of this country. 
Regarding her death, when asked by 
a FREE TRADER reporter, Blake 
said: 
"She came to my office about ten 
days ago and said she wanted to 
divorce her husband, who was ma-
king her life a burden. After talking 
to her for a while, I knew that inside 
she was disturbed and a bit irra-
tional. She told me that she had a 
sister who lived in the city of Peru, 
Illinois and other facts about her 
relatives. She told me that her 
husband and sons whipped and beat 
her, that they never gave her more 
than half her food and gave her no 
money, and that she was forced to do 
all sorts of drudgery. To give Mrs. 
Horn time and opportunity to re-
cover from her mental confusion, I 
told her that I would not be able to 
investigate her case for the next ten 
days. She told me that she was 
waiting and in a boarding house. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

She told me she would wait and stay 
in a guesthouse, but I advised her to 
go to Peru to her sister until I could 
check." 
After that performance, Mrs. Horn, 
the wife of a wealthy man who owned 
a magnificent farm and $20,000 
worth of real estate, became a 
wanderer in the countryside of 
beautiful La Salle County. 
Henry Gunn of Tonica, who was in 
the county agent's office last night, 
testified that at the time Mrs Horn 
was declared insane her relatives 
referred to her as 'poor'. 
"What kind of man is this horn?" 
'Well, you can perhaps imagine what 
kind of man it must be to declare his 
wife poor when she owns land near 
Grand Ridge, and what kind of man 
he is that refuses to pay his wife's 
board in the institution. I know him, 
but that's all I have to say." 
 
Mr. Horn did not attend his wife's 
funeral. William Horn didn't even 
send a wreath of flowers to place on 
her grave. 
Major Gibson was asked who would 
pay for Christina Horn's funeral 
expenses. 
«Horn will! I've instructed the 
coroner to give her a proper burial 
and bill Horn for it. It will be ensured 
that Horn pays!" 
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Albert Gustav Horn, born August 10, 
1866 in La Salle County/Illinois, died 
November 30, 1948 in Tilden/Nebras-
ka, with his wife Tillie Marie Kinkle 
(1880-1930) 
- five children 

–

Rose M. Horn, born April 6, 1872 in 
La Salle County, Illinois, died May 2, 
1964 in Pontiac, Illinois, 
with her husband  
William W. Morrison (1865-1947) 
- three children 

–

Gustav Adolph Horn, born on Aug. 
23, 1876 in La Salle County/Illinois, 
died on Dec. 17, 1921 in Rockford/ 
Ohio, married with Mary Ann Rensch 
(1884-1985) 
 - two daughters 

–

Otto Emil ‘Jack’ Horn, born on Aug. 
24, 1882 in La Salle County/Illinois, 
died on May 8, 1921 in Platte County/ 
Nebraska, married with Winnifred 
Isabelle Cox (1890-1983) 
- two children 

William Horn Jr., born March 18, 
1862 in La Salle County/Illinois, died 
November 28, 1920 in Newman 
Grove/Nebraska,                                     
with his wife Margareth Catherine 
Bahnsen (1875-1959). 

 

–

Martha Lydia Horn, born on August 
24, 1870 in La Salle County/Illinois, 
died on January 18, 1940 in Battle 
Creek/Nebraska,                                        
with her husband Frederick Georg 
Volk (1869-1925) 
 - two sons 
 

–

Julia A. Horn, born October 27, 1874 
in La Salle County/Illinois, died June 
9, 1961 in La Salle County/Illinois, 
married with William Henry Bedei 
(1870-1961) 
- three children 
 

–

Hermann Horn, born November 22, 
1879 in La Salle County/Illinois, died 
July 8, 1967 in Ottawa/Illinois, 
married with Agnes Elizabeth Baird 
(1884-1969) 
- three children 
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The nine children of Christina Luchsinger and William Horn 

–

Escape to Germany 

After the publication of this article, William Horn preferred to flee the United States and travel to Germany. He 
soon returned to the USA with Wilhelmine Waldhauer and married her in New York in 1890. He later brought 
his wife to Ottawa, Illinois and fathered four more children. 

It is not known whether William Horn paid for his first wife's funeral expenses - it is unlikely. Their descendants 
still live under the name Horn in the USA. 

Charles Edward Horn, born Dec. 11, 
1860 in Bureau County, Illinois, died 
Jan. 12, 1902 in Meadow Grove/ Ne-
braska, with his wife Ernestine 'Tina' 
Volk (1876-1934) and the children 
Eva (1897-1984) and Edward (1898-
1985) 

–



  

The Victorian Gold Rush in Australia lasted from 1851 to the late 1860s and brought about a 
period of extreme prosperity for the country and a huge influx of immigrants from around the 
world. A Guschner named Jacob Just set out in 1855 to get a piece of the cake for himself. He 
moved to Steiglitz, west of Melbourne, where gold had been found three years earlier on the land 
of Irish immigrant Robert William Stieglitz (his father was from Dresden). He called the 
settlement “Steiglitz”, based on his family name. Today Steiglitz is a ghost town, but 170 years 
ago the town was booming - if only for a short time! 
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 Jacob Just                      
1818 - 1898 

Emigrated to Australia in 1855 

Jacob Just                                         

1818-01.07.1898 

         1850 

Rosina Jung                                      

15.04.1831-18.02.1909 

Emile Ulysse Just                          

1851-12.10.1937 

Emile Ulysse Just 
He was born in St. Imier/BE in 1851. Emile traveled to Australia with his parents as a four-year-old and only 
child at the time. In 1878 he married Annie Maria Adams, who was born in Victoria/AUS in 1849. A year later 
they moved to New Zealand, more specifically to Stafford on the South Island and later to the area around 
Christchurch on the Pacific coast, with their daughter Maude Amelia Miriam Just, who had just been born in 
Australia. By 1888 the family had grown to six children. Emile Just died on October 12, 1937 at the age of 86 in 
his hometown of Christchurch, leaving behind a great legacy. To this day, his descendants live on the other side 
of the world. Do they know anything about Guscha? (Page 91) 
 

Arrival Down Under 
 

«The French ship 'Gertrude' passed through the bay last night. She was traveling many miles at 
dusk and is said to have come from 'Dieppe'." 

 
This was the headline on May 21, 1855 on page 4 of the Argus Melbourne newspaper. 

 
Jacob Just, Rosina Just-Jung and their son Emile were on this ship. Jacob Just was the first Guschner 
who emigrated to Australia with his family and, to my knowledge, he was also the only one who left 
Guscha for the other end of the world, Down Under. 
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Rosina Albertina Jung 
She was born on April 15, 1831 as the 
daughter of David Ludwig Jung from 
Offenbach/D and Euphrosine Susann Mesey 
from Murten in St. Imier/BE. In 1850 Rosina 
Jung married Jacob Just from Guscha in 
Corgément near St.Imier and a year later her 
eldest son Emile Ulysse was born. 
Rosina brought a pair of jeweller's glasses 
with her from Switzerland and occasionally 
worked in watch repairs; In 1861 an 
Australian newspaper reported on her as a 
watchmaker in Steiglitz. 
 

–

Jacob Just 
Jacob Just was born in Guscha in 1818 and 
was a brother of Ursula Just (page 79). His 
profession was a carpenter and carpenter, 
and when Jacob was working on a church 
construction in St. Imier/BE in 1850, he met 
his wife Rosina Albertina Jung. From then 
on, Jacob Just lived in the Bernese Jura until 
he left Switzerland five years later. He died 
on July 1st, 1898 and the newspaper 
'Geelong Advertiser' paid tribute to him as a 
well known person in the whole district, 
especially among Swiss compatriots. 
 
 

–



  

The long and dangerous sea route to Australia 
 

‘Kap der Guten Hoffnung’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’

‘Marco Polo’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’ –

S     

During this time you did not see a piece of land and 
like the emigrants to America, the emigrants 
(sometimes also convicts from England) to Australia 
also suffered from lack of space, seasickness, 
malnutrition, cold, diseases, vermin and death 
became a constant companion on the journey. In 
addition, at the end of the voyage you had to sail 
through the Bass Strait, which separates Tasmania 
from mainland Australia and was considered one of 
the most difficult waterways in the world to 
navigate. It is not uncommon for the dreaded cross-
seas to arise there; unpredictable wave crests, caused 
by stormy westerly winds and strong counter-
currents at a relatively low average water depth of 
only fifty to seventy meters. The fact that the rugged 
cliffs of King Island lie in the middle of the western 
entrance to Bass Strait didn't make the passage any 
less dangerous. Nowadays, navigating through this 
strait is relatively easy. In the days of sailing ships, 
which used the simplest navigational instruments, 
things looked very different! The nerve-wracking 
affair of sailing into Bass Strait from the west has 
been described as ‘riding through the eye of the 
needle’. 
 
 
 

‘Marco Polo’

Captain James Forbes discovered a faster route in 
1852, in which instead of sailing along the 39th 
parallel, he followed what appeared to be the 
shortest route through the southern Indian Ocean to 
Australia, further south towards Antarctica the great 
circle route. His ship, the 'Marco Polo', with seven 
hundred emigrants on board, encountered icebergs 
and had to contend with giant waves en route, but 
entered Melbourne harbor after only 68 days. That 
was practically half the usual travel time from 
England, and the record trip came at exactly the 
right time, because the gold rush was heading 
towards its peak around Melbourne in Victoria, 
attracting thousands more adventurers and gold 
diggers to follow Australia. 
Today, thousands of ships sail safely through the 
Bass Strait every year, passing over a hundred 
wrecks of known locations. Some of these cliffs and 
reefs, which were fatal to the ships, are now tourist 
attractions. They are reminiscent of the people who 
courageously set out on a journey halfway around 
the world in the 19th century and courageously 
dared to 'ride through the eye of the needle' on the 
last leg - all of this in search of a better life! 
 
 
 

The Pension Suisse on James Street 
 
Jacob Just moved with his wife Rosina and son Emile to Steiglitz, a 
newly established gold mining town eighty kilometers west of 
Melbourne in the hills of the Brisbane Ranges. Jacob was a carpenter 
there and was looking for the yellow precious metal in the gold fields. 
In 1874 the family moved to Geelong, 30 miles south on the coast. 
There he ran the 'Pension Suisse' with his wife. Apparently, this was 
to the satisfaction of their customers, as the thank-you letter from a 
newspaper proves. 
Jacob Just died on July 1, 1898, his wife Rosina on February 18, 1909. 
Her tombstone is in Geelong Eastern Cemetery, along with their 
daughter Albertina Bertha, who died in 1883 at the age of 24. 
 
 Created by Jacob and Rosina Albertina Just 

in memory of their eldest beloved daughter 
Albertina Bertha who died 15th April 1883 
aged 24 years and 8 months. So he giveth 
his beloved sleep. Jacob Just who died 1st 
July 1898 in the 81st year of his age. Rosina 
Albertina his beloved wife who died 18th 
Feby. 1909 in the 78th year of her age 
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            ince the Suez Canal was only completed in 1869, only the route remained through until then         
            the stormy and dangerous waters of the 'Cape of Good Hope' off the southern tip of Africa      
            to cross from Europe to Australia. The journey took what felt like an eternity with the sailing 
ships in the middle of the 19th century. As a rule, the 10,000 nautical miles (19,000 km) required 
between three and four months - but it could also be five! 
 

‘Ritt durch das 
Nadelöhr’

‘Marco 
Polo’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’ –



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

They then moved to 
Sydenham near Christ-
church on the Pacific 
coast. Emile worked 
there at East Christ-
church School until 
1890, before the fa-
mily moved to nearby 
Lyttelton, where Emile 
was appointed Head-
master at Lyttelton Bo-
rough School. He lo-
ved music, was a musi-
cian himself and from 
1903 conductor of the 
Lyttelton Orchestral 
Society 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The detailed history of 
Emile Just's family can 
be read in a chronicle 
of his granddaughters, 
Anne Rosine and 
Nancy Maude Just, 
starting on page 91. 
 
 

Of Jacob and Rosina Just-Jung's seven children, only 
Emile Just was born in Switzerland in 1851.  

He emigrated from Australia to New Zealand in 1879! 
 

‘Kap der Guten Hoffnung’

‘Ritt 
s Nadelöhr’

‘Marco Polo’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’
–

Emile Ulysse Just                          

1851-12.10.1937  

          1878 

Annie Maria Adams 

20.08.1849-07.12.1947 

Maude Amelia Just                                                           

11.01.1879-06.07.1977  

 

Leonie Carine Just                           

27.01.1881-06.11.1976  

          19.06.1912 

William O. Rennie 

13.09.1879-30.12.1949 

Alan Victor Just                               

07.06.1886-17.01.1983 

             14.06.1919 

Marguerite Germiquet 

25.03.1886-04.06.1972 

Irene Alice Emily Just                                                       

14.11.1888-04.12.1983  

        1919 

Leonard James Prebble 

29.04.1886-30.09.1950 

Charles Emile Just                           

19.03.1882-01.05.1976  

          11.02.1914 

Annie Beatrice Pairman 

20.02.1888-16.06.1976 

Ottilie Albertine Just                                                        

05.08.1884-26.06.1962 

         11.11.1914 

Sidney Georg Sandle 

15.08.1884-25.10.1936 

George Emile Rennie                                                        

20.09.1917-24.10.2010  

          21.05.1940 

Mary Elaine Coe    

25.05.1918-19.08.2008 

Alan Osborne Rennie                                                       

27.01.1916-16.04.1969  

          19.12.1939 

Maire Elsie Brittenden 

07.04.1917-04.04.1974 

Stuart James Rennie                                                         

17.12.1920-25.07.1926 

2 Sons 

1 Daughter 

3 Sons 

2 Daughters 

öchter 

Emily Margaret Just               

11.09.1917-19.08.2009 

Nancy Maude Just                          

23.05.1921-2011 

John Rayner Sandle                                                          

06.02.1916-08.01.2006 

         19.02.1944 

Patricia ‘Pat’ Webster 

14.12.1922-25.02.2010 

3 Daughters 

öchter 

Sidney William Sandle                                                     

30.09.1920-11.06.1994 

         20.11.1945 

Nora Dorothea Bourke 

10.06.1922-10.03.2012 

3 Sons 

3 Daughters 

öchter 

Leonard James Prebble                 

17.09.1920-02.11.1925 

Irene Aurelia Prebble 

14.08.1928-unknown                

Derek Prebble                

06.08.1930-unknown           

Marguerite Prebble 

25.02.1932-unknown 
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Anne Rosine Just                             

15.04.1929-25.11.2008 

Alain Emil Edouard Just                 

08.09.1920-2013 

          

Marguerite Wade 

10.05.1919-04.08.1988 

1 Daughter 

chter 

Emile Just began teaching in mid-1866 as a student 
teacher at the school in Steiglitz. A year and a half later 
he transferred to the New Chum School and was later 
appointed Headmaster of the Common School at 
Beremboke, which he opened on September 5, 1870, 
at the age of 19. Emile received his certificate of 
competence on June 21, 1876. 
In 1879 Emile and his family moved to Stafford, New 
Zealand, a short-lived gold mining town on the west 
coast of the South Island near Greymouth, where 
Emile taught for two years. 
 
 

‘Marco Polo’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’ –



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

James Arnold Just                                                            

1856-13.11.1860 

died of an illness described as  

water on the brain 

Lucie Pauline Just                                                            

1860-1933 

          1887 

William Jasper Sefton 

1861-18.04.1939 

Known as Pauline or Polly, moved to Gee-

long with her parents in 1874 where she 

married her husband, who was a farmer. 

 Bertha Albertina Just                                                      

1858-14.04.1883 

When her parents moved to Geelong in 1874, 

she lived with Emile in Beremboke for a time. 

She became a public school teacher and in 

1878 was appointed to Burramine East 

School in north Victoria, where she remained 

in Geelong until her death on April 14, 1883. 

She died at the age of 24 from a metabolic 

disease. 

Bertha Albertine Sefton                                                  

04.02.1889-01.02.1948        

          1912 

Charles Louis Miller 

14.08.1885-01.08.1957 

Aurel William Sefton                                                        

1890-30.11.1958            

          1915 

Lillian Rose Harry 

29.08.1888-27.01.1975 

Roy Harry Sefton                           

31.03.1917-24.01.1980 

Roy Emile Sefton                             

21.06.1892-01.09.1928    

          1917 

Amy Hepzibah Miller 

1889-03.09.1928 

Carl Roy Sefton                                

17.12.1919-11.09.1997 

Max Frederick Sefton                                                       

1922-1922 

Eric Harry Sefton                           

17.04.1895-16.10.1971   

          1921 

Vera Eva Jenkins 

1895-16.07.1954 

Jean Estelle Sefton                          

09.02.1922-03.04.2010   

          02.10.1943 

Colin William Brewer 

29.10.1917-10.09.1992 

Douglas Just Sefton                                                          

03.03.1898-15.06.1952  

          1926 

Violet Mary Ferguson 

1902-07.08.1974 

Cecile Pauline Sefton                                                       

1900-30.06.1901 

Aurel Charles 

Miller                                        

15.09.1913-06.06.1995 

Leonard William Miller                                                    

1915-unknown 

Beryl Bertha Miller                  

1918-06.11.1997 

Aurel Victor Just                              

1871-20.09.1954 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

was a lawyer in Geelong and lived for a 

time with his brother Emile in New 

Zealand. He never married. 

Cécile Aurelie Just                                                            

1868-21.10.1954 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          1895 

John Ballantyne Shearer 

30.04.1870-27.05.1956 

moved to Western 

Australia after marriage, 

where John was 

employed as purser by 

WA Railways. 

John Shearer                                    

02.02.1898-26.11.1984 

          

Muriel Jane Aitken 

05.07.1896-17.07.1982 

Elsa Pauline Shearer                       

1901-1968 

            10.07.1937          

Guido Carlo Mayrhofer 

1898-1968 

Aurelie Cecile Shearer                    

Nov. 1898-28.04.1899 

Marjorie Shearer             

1902-09.06.1935 
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In Steiglitz, Australia, Rosina Just-Jung gave birth to six more children between 1856 and 1871; 
James Arnold, Albertina Bertha, Lucie Pauline, Herrmann Charles, Cecile Aurelie and Aurel Victor 

 

‘Kap der Guten Hoffnung’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’

‘Marco Polo’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’
–

Valda Alice Sefton                                                            

1923-1999 

Ailsa Eunice Sefton                                                           

1928-2010   

Daryl Ralph Sefton                          

1927-2016 

          1952 

Enid ‘Nini’ Gaskell 
1928-2017 

Russel Douglas Sefton                                                     

1938-2013 

Enid ‘Nini’ Gaskell

David Shearer      

visited Guscha in 2006         

David Shearer und Donald ‘Don’ Just     

(Photo 2016)                                



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Herrmann Charles Just                  

1866-08.07.1953  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          1886 

Anne Elizabeth Saunders 

1859-26.07.1946 

 

 

 

 

 

Aurelie Stella Just                                                            

20.09.1886-20.09.1972        

       1911 

Henry ‘Harry’ R. Kofoed 

1877-28.11.1932 

Nina Aurelie Kofoed                                                         

1912-2002            

       1963 

Robert Aubrey Dunt 

21.03.1906-28.10.1984 

Jack ‘John’ F. Kofoed                                                        

30.01.1914-31.10.1988 

 

 

 

          

       1948 

Lorna Edith Jelbart 

09.08.1916-30.10.1997 

2 Sons 

2 Daughters 

öchter 

 

 

 

 

 

Ruby Bertha Just                             

30.11.1887-Feb. 1985 
Nurse in France and 

Melbourne 

Dulcie Jean Kofoed 

1918-22.06.2006 

       1935 

Evan Charles Rees 

1911-1987 

Gladys Irene Just                  

1889-01.11.1974  

    1924 

John Warne Eustace 

1879-07.12.1946 

Alan Wayne Eustace                                                         

1925-2014 

Ian Graham Eustace                       

1928-2019 

Dulcie Ethel Just                              

1891-12.03.1978 

    1933 

Charles Napier 

1883-1984 

Doris Cécile Just                                                            

14.09.1892-05.10.1901 

 

 

 

 

 

Herrmann Carl Just                         

30.08.1894-06.04.1971 

    1919 

Olive Ella Oxlade 

1895-01.03.1972 

Jack Just                                       

17.09.1920-1999 

    1943 

Edith Catherine Dunstan 

1915-1987 

Gordon Just                                      

04.08.1924-2011 

    1948 

Betty Holmes Tyas 

13.05.1922-2008 

 

 

 

 

 

Nina Anne Just                                 

18.05.1896-26.08.1983 

    1925 

Reinhold Theodore Nier 

07.02.1895-25.04.1970 

Oswald Theodore Nier                                                     

1926-2018                     
was never married 

Carl David Nier                                

19.12.1929-23.09.2001 

 

Dora Presser 

1935-2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Francis Pelham Just                                                          

1898-03.08.1976 

    1921 

Leila Annie Lawson 

1895-19.08.1982 

Frank Pelham Just                                                            

21.11.1923-05.06.1974 

    1946 

Eileen Mary Willis 

1924-29.09.1991 

Marie Leila Just                           

1926-1990 

     1949 

Peter Richard Hocking 

1926-1990 

Rosalind Naseby Just                                                       

1931-10.11.2010 

William Francis P. Just                                                     

1958-2000 

Odile Mary Just                 

1955-2016 

 

Andrew Dickson 
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Herrmann Just became a civil 

servant in Victoria at Sunbury in 

late 1883, where he was a clerk 

in the insane asylum until 1903. 

He was then Secretary of the 

Ballarat Asylum until 1908 and 

Chief Administrator of the Kew 

Asylum until his retirement in 

1928. 

 

His wife, Anne Elizabeth Saun-

ders, was a state school teacher 

from 1878 to 1888. The family 

resided primarily on or near the 

premises of the facilities where 

Herrmann worked. In retirement 

he and Annie resided at the 

Elwood Hotel and the Esplanade 

Hotel in Queenscliff, after 1946 

Herrmann mainly on Queens 

Road in Melbourne. 

Donald ‘Don’ Just   

www.justd.com/just                

Gladys and John Eustace 

with sons Ian and Alan  

in 1929 

an Graham Eustace                        

Carl Andre Nier                                

geb. 1964 

2 children 

 



  

                  Swiss viticulture in Geelong 

 

 

 

 

 

 

When Jacob Just moved to Geelong with his wife Rosina and younger children in 1874, he acquired 
the colonial wine license and business of the 'Pension Suisse' at 11 James Street. He was a wine 
merchant there until 1882. In 1894 the business passed to others, but in 1898 Jacob Just still owned 
half the shares in the property. Until then he, Rosina and son Aurel lived at 19 Parkingston Street in 
Geelong West. They named their home 'Bienne' in honor of their old homeland. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Swiss presence was strong in the Geelong region of Melbourne, where viticulture, established 
mainly by settlers from the Neuchatel region and Canton of Ticino, flourished between 1850 and 
1875, spearheading the Victorian wine industry. Charles Joseph La Trobe (superintendent of the 
British government and later Vice-Governor of Victoria), who had close personal connections to the 
Neuchatel region, vigorously promoted the recruitment of settlers from Switzerland. But in 1875 
phylloxera attacked these vineyards and caused great damage. In 1881 all vineyards in this area of 
Victoria were cleared by order of the Australian Government. However, this did not stop the pest 
completely, but viticulture in Geelong had already been and this branch of the economy lay idle for 
decades. 
  
It was not until 1966 that Daryl Sefton (1927-2016), great-grandson of Jacob Just and grandson of 
Pauline Sefton-Just, began reviving the Geelong wine industry with his wife Nini. However, it was 
to be another 30 long years before the region was considered distinct and worthy of recognition as a 
'Geographical Indication'. Above all, 'Pinot Noir', 'Chardonnay' and 'Riesling' now have an inter-
national format and are receiving more and more awards. 
Although Daryl was actually a veterinarian, the two founded the "Idyll Vineyard" winery with 20 
hectares of Shiraz, Cabernet Sauvignon and Gewürztraminer. They produced and sold wines until 
their retirement in the 1980's. They then sold the winery, which is now owned by private investment 
group Costa Asset Management. In contrast to the restaurant on James Street in Geelong, the 
vineyards planted by the Seftons in the hills around Geelong still exist today and the fine wine is 
shipped all over the world. 
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The family of Rosina Albertina Jung - wife of Jacob Just 

«The annual 'Geelong Vingrowers Association' dinner is tonight at the Swiss Restaurant on 
James Street when Madame Just will no doubt be able to show that her cuisine can produce a 

banquet worthy of such an occasion.» 

This was the advertisement in the 'Geelong Advertiser' on June 5, 1874 

When Rosina died on February 18, 1909, it was said that she was an old and respected resident of 
Geelong West. She was buried in the presence of a large gathering of sympathetic friends from all 
parts of the surrounding districts. 

 

Rosina's father was David Ludwig Jung (1805-1874) a 
master plumber from Offenbach near Frankfurt in the state 
of Hesse (D). He came to the canton of Freiburg on a work 
trip and met Euphrosine Susanne Mesey (1805-1867) from 
Murten there. She was a daughter of Johan Daniel Mesey 
and Anna Schori, whose families had been based in Murten 
since 1547. David Ludwig Jung and Euphrosine Mesey 
married in 1829 and initially lived in Tramelan before 
moving to nearby St. Imier, where Rosina Albertina Jung 
was born on March 15, 1831. Among other things, David 
Ludwig Jung was a member of the city council and was 
naturalized as a Swiss citizen by the canton of Bern in 1846 
with the citizenship of the village of Kappelen. Rosina 
Albertina Jung had eight siblings, one of whom stood out 
politically and whose story should be mentioned here - 
Hermann Francoise Jung! 

 

Rosina's brother, Hermann Francoise Jung (1836-1901) was a watchmaker and emigrated to London 
in 1854 after taking part in the 1848/49 revolution in Germany. For a number of years he was a close 
associate of Karl Marx, with whom he was one of the founders of the 'First Internationale' 
(International Workingmen's Federation) in 1864. Among other things, Hermann Jung was also the 
corresponding secretary for Switzerland and presided over the congresses of the IWA in Geneva, 
Brussels, Basel and London. After 1872 he broke away from Marx, at odds with the new exclusion 
of anarchist and other non-Marxist elements, and joined the British Federal Council and British trade 
union leaders to oppose centralisation. He was a member of the British Federal Council and after 
1877 he no longer participated in the labor movement. However, he had retained his radicalism and 
it is said of him that he was an exceptional autodidact who would have given one of the most effective 
and stirring speeches in defense of socialism. 

 

In 1901 Hermann Jung was murdered in London by a French soldier! During 
the trial, prosecutors described Hermann as a quiet and peaceful socialist, 
well respected and a member of the Swiss Aid Society, and classified the 
act as an 'attempted robbery'. On the other hand, the accused claimed that he 
had been recruited by four anarchists whom Hermann had commissioned to 
assassinate the Tsar during his visit to France. Furthermore, Hermann would 
have tried to recruit him for the assassination of the British Colonial 
Secretary, Mister Chamberlain. However, when he refused to agree, 
Hermann attacked him with a piece of iron and he stabbed him in self-
defense. However, there was no evidence of this and the act went down in 
history as a robbery and murder. 
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Do they know anything about Guscha? 

I asked myself this question on page 84. And do they know anything! Her origins are well known to 
the descendants of the Just family in Australia and New Zealand. The great-great-grandchildren of 
Jacob and Rosina Just, David Shearer and Donald (Don) Just visited Guscha in 2006, respectively. 
2018.  
Don Just has documented the history of the family in detail on the website (www.justd.com/just/). 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

               David Shearer (far left), 2006 on Guscha                              Donald (Don) Just, 2018 in Maienfeld 

Jacob and Rosina Just's two great-granddaughters, Anne Rosine Just (1929-2008) and Nancy Maude 
Just (1921-2011), wrote a chronicle in 1980 about their grandfather Emile Just's family in New 
Zealand, which is translated from English here read is. An extremely impressive and fascinating 
recording, in which Emile Just's granddaughters describe the living conditions of the family in those 
hard times on the other side of the world in an excellent and very personal way at first hand! 

 

Emile und Annie Just and their family                                                     
by Anne Just und Nancy Maude Reid-Just 

The story of Emile Just and his family begins in Maienfeld in eastern Switzerland, in an area that 
the world knows well from the popular children's book "Heidi". The home of the Just is the high-
altitude village of Guscha, attractively situated on the steep slopes above the town of Maienfeld and 
bordered by fir forests and mountain peaks, where two of Just's families still live today. One of the 
timeless, solid houses, as is the Swiss way of building, has the date of construction and the names of 
its first owners scratched into it: Jacob Just - Anna Justin 1748. 

During his visit to Switzerland in 1913, Alan Just from New Zealand saw the name Just on many 
pages in the registers of the Maienfeld archive, dated 300 years ago, and the first names David and 
Christian appeared frequently. Alan was introduced to a Mr. Just, farmer and guide, who was co-
ming up the mountain from his home to meet his namesake from across the world. Alan was struck 
by the man's attitude, so like his own father Emile's. 

In the 1840's Jacob, born 1818 on Guscha, son of Christian and Anna (née Cammerer) Just, moved 
west to St Imier where he worked on a church construction. There the German-speaking Jacob met 
the French-speaking Rosina Jung, who was born in this town in 1831. Their marriage was in 
Corgémont on February 9th, 1850. Their eldest son, Emile Ulysse, was born on October 24, 1851 
in St. Imier. There are still many descendants of Rosina's relatives in the Jura district today, most 
working in the watchmaking industry for which St. Imier and the surrounding highlands are known. 
Today's Jung family is very aware of their connection with the New Zealand Just. Alan would later 
marry his father's cousin, Marguerite Germiquet, and take her to New Zealand. 

Jacob and Rosina's marriage did not resonate with the bride's family. This, together with the 
example of one of Jacob's brothers who is believed to have gone to Canada, must have contributed 
to the young couple's courageous decision to emigrate to Australia. Emile was about five years old 
when this momentous step was taken. 
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The Jung family must have been preoccupied with the impending loss of a daughter to such a far-off 
country, as it is believed that they offered the young family money to dissuade them. In later life, 
Emile told his daughter Irene that one of his last memories of Switzerland was of ringing the bells 
of grazing cattle. 
Nothing is known of the long journey by sailing ship, except that Emile's bed was a box that was still 
used by the family many years later. And that the ship's captain took a liking to his young passenger 
and wanted to adopt him is also known.  
 
Steiglitz, Australia, 1855 – 1879 

Steiglitz is 26 miles by road from Geelong and nestles in the hills west of the 'Anakies'. It owes its 
name to the von Stieglitz family, who, along with the Sharpe family, were among the pioneers in the 
district. In October 1855 local gold was on display in Geelong and within ten days 200 people staked 
their claims at Steiglitz. About this time Jacob and Rosina arrived in Australia and traveled by 
carriage to Steiglitz. They pitched their tents in the gold fields. "The streets were teeming with teams 
of horses and oxen, horsemen and footmen of all kinds." Jacob worked as a carpenter and joiner, so 
it wasn't long before they had a house. But what a difference to the life they had left in Switzerland. 
A year later, around the time Emile started school, their first child was born in Australia, James 
Arnold. Unfortunately James died when he was only four and a half, but the family was succeeded 
by Bertha, Pauline, Herrmann, Cécile and finally Aurel, 20 years after their first son Emile. 
In 1862, with around 1,000 miners in the district, housing was in high demand and Jacob was busy 
with labor shortages and carpenters in high demand. But luck faltered on the goldfields. Rosina had 
brought a pair of jeweller's glasses with her from Switzerland and occasionally used her family's 
watch repair talents to supplement the family income. Rosine, or Rosina as she was often called, 
also enjoyed playing the piano, which Emile inherited from her and passed on to his family. The 
schoolroom of the Church of England was the setting for musical performances and the 
Philharmonic Society undoubtedly appealed to some family members. In the middle of 1866 Emile 
began teaching as a student teacher at the school in Steiglitz. Eighteen months later he transferred 
to the New Chum School, where he no doubt passed between the two cypress trees said to have been 
planted on either side of the gate to the teachers' dormitory. These huge trees now stand at a very 
popular picnic spot known as The Pines. On June 21, 1876, Emile received his certificate of 
proficiency, which he had acquired with "great recognition and skill". 
 
For a period in the early 1870's mining declined and in May 1874 the 'Geelong Advertiser' news-
paper reported that Madame Sangrouber (later Amiet) sold her Swiss restaurant on James Street, 
Geelong to Madame Rosina Just and would have transferred the wine license a month later. After 
being family owned for a few years the restaurant was sold but is still operational and as we know 
is now one of the most popular in Geelong known as «The Colony». (Note. As of 1980, no longer 
exists today.) Geelong was once a notable wine region and Rosina was among the early Swiss 
growers. The Just family stayed in Geelong and descendants are still there 100 years later. In fact, 
fourteen years ago a great-grandson, Daryl Sefton, and his wife Nini established a vineyard near 
Geelong that is now quaint and prosperous, and the company earns its visionary name 'Idyll 
Vineyards'. When the von Steiglitz family moved away, they left Bertha, then aged sixteen, as 
housekeeper for Emile in Beremboke.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

                   Emile Just                                                                                        Annie Just-Adams 
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A letter to Emile from 1877 states: 
'Your generosity and goodwill are best demonstrated by the countless times you have lent your ser-
vices as musicians at the various charity entertainments that have been held in the neighborhood for 
several years without payment. Your regular work as organist and choir director of the Church of 
England and your great performance as a musician’. 
We know that Emile was in high demand in the district. He has performed for dances, concerts and 
as an accompanist in Morrisons, Ballarat and Beremboke, and it was undoubtedly in Ballarat that 
he met Annie Adams, whom he was later to marry. 
 
William Adams, Annie's father, was a farmer near Warrnambool. After his death his wife Caroline 
lived in Ballarat with their four daughters Emily, Alice, Annie and Carrie and it was there in that 
house on Mair Street that Annie and Emile were married on 1st January 1878. Annie was born and 
we believe was born in Woodford, Victoria that she was christened Annie Maria, but she didn't like 
the name Maria at all and changed it to Maude. 
Perhaps Emile was disappointed that he was not promoted as promised, for in 1879 Emile and Annie 
moved to another West Coast mining town, Stafford, with their daughter Maude, who was born in 
Beremboke on 11th January of the same year of New Zealand. 
Nothing is left of the old town of Steiglitz. The last businessman, the blacksmith, left in 1944. But in 
1951 a memorial mound was erected, built of quartz from the abandoned mines and stones from the 
homes of the Sharpe and Stieglitz families who founded the town. "In memory of the pioneers of 
Steiglitz and the discovery of gold" is written on a commemorative plaque. 
 
Stafford, New Zealand, 1879–1881 (photo on page 102) 
September 19, 1879 
 
This date marks the birth of our New Zealand family. That was the day Emile arrived in Hokitika 
from Melbourne and began his first New Zealand job in nearby Stafford. At that time he was 27 
years old. 
Emile traveled alone. Annie with baby Maude was supposed to sail over later. It must have been a 
frustrating and scary journey for Emile. The Eliza Firth, on which we believe he must have sailed, 
was at sea for four weeks due to stormy weather. She, along with three other ships, were supplied 
with essentials by a ship that bravely ventured from Hokitika. On September 19, the 'Elizah Firth' 
was towed ashore. We can imagine that after the extraordinary delay, Emile wasted no time in hiring 
a horse to cover the eight miles to Stafford, for that day, a Friday, he began his lessons. 
 
In 1879 Stafford had already passed its zenith as a gold mining center. Founded in 1866 as one of 
the two main centers of the Waimea gold fields, the population had exceeded 5,000 by 1870, only to 
decline steadily as the gold was mined. The town was named after Thomas Stafford, a shopkeeper. 
In its heyday there were 37 hotels, 17 shops, banks, 4 churches, a literary institute with a public lib-
rary and six police officers. 
It is quite fascinating to visit the ghost town of Stafford today where only one of the original houses 
remains, once the butcher's house with the shop next to it. The then main street is overgrown with 
willows. The old town hall is now just a rusting iron exterior and roof, but has a few newer wooden 
front doors. Walking up the hill to the cemetery, one passes the house of the only resident today, 
built on the site of the Roman Catholic Church. 
 

Opening the old iron gate to the cemetery, which is surrounded by 
native scrub, reveals graves of people from Switzerland and also 
two small Seddon children. Richard Seddon lived in the valley for a 
time. The remains of an old chimney can be seen where his house 
once stood. He became a friend of the young Just family, a useful 
contact in later years when Emile made representations to the 
government on behalf of the educational institute. Outside the 
cemetery, again on Scandinavian Hill Road, is another reminder of 
the pioneers - a warning not to leave the paths as there are many 
old mining shafts! 
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ArchDeacon Harper wrote in his journal of January 20, 1881: 
'There are no lazy men in the district and no real poverty. In the evening I attended a conversation 
at Forresters Hall. An excellent tea was followed by a concert much appreciated by an audience that 
completely filled the room. Mr. Just, the church organist, assembled a very capable choir of about 
20 voices, whose program included hymns and chants performed with great precision and spirit." 
 
January 23, 1881 
«The church was quite full with 95 seats. I was very pleased with the choir and their excellent singing 
and with the reverent and serious demeanor of the congregation. It would be difficult to find a more 
orderly church anywhere in the colony." 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Perhaps it was the desire for further teaching experience or a desire to live in a larger city that led 
Emile to move to Christchurch, where he was appointed Second Master of East Christchurch School 
in October 1881. When Emile left Stafford, some 200 children gathered with their parents and other 
friends to present him with a beautiful dark birdseye maple desk inlaid with ebony, ivory, mother-
of-pearl and silver. Mr. H.W. Sandle said goodbye to Emile: «It is not their intrinsic worth that you 
want to see, but the warmth of their young hearts towards you, their beloved teacher. They trusted 
you, knowing full well that they can fully trust your judgement. Your success in imparting knowledge 
to the children has been solid and genuine, and now that you are leaving they feel they have lost a 
good teacher and friend." 
We can imagine the long journey in 'Cobb's' carriage over Arthur's Pass. Annie with her baby Leonie 
and little Maude sitting on the straight back seat high on the carriage. Emile, who is riding a horse 
next to the carriage and had to dismount on the steep pass road and continued on foot to the top of 
the pass. 
Today the old mining trail is a popular walk for hikers. New shelter huts have replaced the old huts, 
and walking the pleasant trail, few remember the hardships and fortunes of those brave pioneers a 
hundred years ago. 
 
Sydenham, Christchurch 1881-1890 
 
The family home for the next nine years, 'St. Margaret', was on Colombo Street, two or three blocks 
down from Sydenham Park towards the hills. The house, which no longer exists, was a two-storey 
wooden building with porches, suitable for a growing family. So the remaining four children were 
born here: 
Charles 03/19/1882, Ottilie 08/05/1884, Alan 06/07/1886 and Irene 11/14/1888. 

 
On April 15, 1883, Emile's sister Bertha died in 
Geelong at the age of 24. Emile had been very fond 
of this sister who shared his house in Beremboke 
with him. He always carried her photograph with 
him in a small gold locket that hung from the chain 
of his pocket watch, the locket bearing the emblem 
of the Masonic Lodge on the back. 
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The family of H.W. Sandle, (back row, first from left) 
postmaster, shopkeeper and lay reader at the Ang-
lican Church, were also friends of Just. More than 
30 years later Mr Sandle's eldest son Sidney married 
Ottilie, Emile and Annie's third daughter. 
We know little about Emile and Annie's life in Staf-
ford. However, one story of Annie has survived:  
One day, Annie got caught in a downpour on the west 
coast. Upon returning home, she removed her 
striped, sodden stockings. Years later, she laughed 
and recalled the sight of her bare legs showing the 
stripes of her stockings. 
 The Pioneers of Stafford 

 



 

In 1884, Emile's daughter Maude, aged five, was recommended on a sea voyage after an illness and 
sent to Australia, accompanied by a family friend. Maude experienced the inconveniences of con-
stant nausea during the trip. She stayed with her mother's sister, who wanted to get Maude fit again. 
Maude later remembered the platters of piled spinach, a vegetable she didn't like but had to eat. 
 
While in Sydenham, Emile's younger brother Aurel, then a schoolboy, visited family in Christchurch 
and stayed long enough to attend Christchurch school. His nieces and nephews were only a few 
years his junior, and they were impressed by Aurel's ability to shoot peas. They shot peas at passers-
by through the holes in the front tin fence of the property. The fence offered them protection from 
the frightened and upset people.  
Aurel's future career as a lawyer was perhaps decided at this time, as Emile greatly encouraged his 
choice. Emile would have been interested himself if the circumstances of his youth had been more 
favourable. 
In 1890 Emile awaited the position of Headmaster at Lyttelton Borough School. The newspaper 
'Lyttelton Times' reported the farewell celebrations on March 1st, 1890: 
"Mr. Emile Just was presented with a marble watch by fifth and sixth grade boys as he left East 
Christchurch School. He received a nice album from the fourth graders' teachers and a box of silver 
teaspoons from the others." 
 
Lyttelton 1890 – 1918 
 
The move to Lyttelton in 1890 heralded the period that Emile and Annie's children remember so 
vividly and fondly. The family's new home was a house at 20 Saint Davids Street. Halfway up the 
sunny east slope of the steep hills encompassing the Port, it had a commanding view of the school 
below, while the town and harbour lay just beyond. (Photo on page 103) From the verandah, Annie 
could watch the constant movement of the shipping. Behind the house was a vegetable garden and 
orchard cared for by Emile and his growing sons. The house is still in use and has not changed in 
appearance. (1980) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
About the memories of the days of Lyttelton, sons and daughters, nieces and nephews have often 
entertained and credibly wished that they lived into old age. We can only try to record these 
anecdotes as they were transmitted to us. 

When the family moved to Lyttelton, Maude, the eldest, was eleven and Irene, the youngest, was less 
than two. The hills were their playground, especially for the youngest ones the scrubland up at the 
Time Ball. There was cricket on St David Street and walks with her father along the harbor on a 
Sunday morning. There was swimming for the boys, which they taught themselves in the bay. There 
were always children's parties and Irene remembered arriving at a party for Beatrice Pairman, the 
doctor's daughter, and seeing her swinging at the front gate in excited anticipation of the arrival of 
her guests. Later Beatrice married Irene's brother - Charles. 
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Emile, Irene, Maude, Annie, Leonie, Alan, Charlie, Ottilie 



 

Annie went to Australia for a holiday after a period of poor health, where she was reunited with her 
mother and sisters. They were accompanied by their youngest children Ottilie, Alan and Irene. 
A few years later, on March 13, 1902, Annie's mother, Caroline Adams, died at the age of 76 and 
was buried in 'Boroondara Cemetery', Kew. 
 
When news of Queen Victoria's death rang on January 22, 1901, Annie wept over her Queen's death 
and the end of an era. In June of that year the 'Ophir' docked at Lyttelton with the Duke and Duchess 
of Cornwall (later King George V and Queen Mary). The royal company were greeted upon landing 
with the singing of the national anthem by a huge choir conducted by Emile Just. Later, the 7-year-
old 'Prince of Wales'' tutor called with another member of royal society at 20 St David Street. They 
hoped to get a few shots. Emile, himself a good marksman, escorted the two men across the harbor 
to Purau. Besides the rabbits that were shot that day, the men returned with walnuts that grew in 
abundance in this valley. Emile and Annie were invited to dinner on the 'Ophir' as guests of the 
hunting companions and the Duchess' lady-in-waiting, who was French.  
 
                                                                                                              Annotation: 

The 'Ophir' became known as the royal yacht for a world voyage 
by the Duke and Duchess of York in 1901, for which the passen-
ger ship was converted and specially equipped.  
In March 1901 the 'Ophir' left Portsmouth, England for the nearly 
eight month voyage, visiting 17 destinations in Australia, New 
Zealand, South Africa and Canada. The 'Ophir' was accompanied 
by warships of the 'Royal Navy'. It was the first ship of the written 
shipping company 'Orient Steam Navigation Company' to dock in 
New Zealand. 
 
 

In 1898 Emile, as head of the school, had twelve employees, one of whom was his daughter Leonie. 
By 1912 there were 484 primary and 20 secondary students and these numbers remained fairly 
constant until after Emile's retirement. Emile's interest in sports was reflected in the school's sports 
teams, which played on open fields near the water. There, swimming lessons took place at West 
Lyttelton's bathing beach, girls and boys separated, because mixed bathing was still forbidden at 
that time. The beach disappeared with harbor redevelopment, which began on the level back to St 
David Street and was surrounded by massive concrete retaining walls. Emile played on the Lyttelton 
Hockey Team and the Senior Cricket Team. He often enjoyed a Saturday game of golf at Charteris 
Bay with his friend Archie Brown, the second harbor commander, and with Dr. Upham. 
 
Two Antarctic expeditions by Captain Robert Scott and one by Ernest Shackleton were of particular 
importance to Lyttelton as the ships spent weeks making their final preparations in port. In addition 
to the training of the ponies and the dogs, which took place on Quail Island, there was also a lot to 
see about the overhaul of the ships and loading. The Lyttelton families give the men a warm welcome. 
 
The Just family prayed at Holy Trinity Church, the first Anglican church to be built in Canterbury. 
Emile was its choir director for many years. His sons were choirboys and took turns playing the 
bellows for the pipe organ. One remembers some looting of the rectory's orchard after choir 
rehearsals. Emile's children all completed their formal education at their father's school. Maude 
and Leonie immediately joined the teaching staff as student teachers before taking over their own 
classes. Health problems caused Maude to give up her career as a teacher and, as was so often the 
case for the eldest daughter, to help her mother with the household chores. This role, with increasing 
responsibility as her parents grew older, was to be her dedicated task in life. 
Leonie remained a teacher at Lyttelton School. In later years, recalling the discipline in her only 
school class of 60 children, she was critical of modern teaching methods. Her younger brothers and 
sisters remembered the joys of payday when she always brought home crème cones from Norton's 
store. Leonie later took a job at Doyleston School, 25 miles southeast of Christchurch. There she 
befriended the family of John Rennie, who owned the 'Maryfield' farm, and was later to marry his 
son, Osborne Rennie. 
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The two boys who left school as teenagers found employment in Lyttelton; Charles at the Loan & 
Mercantile Co. and Alan as an office boy at the gas works. Ottilie and Irene learned typing and 
shorthand from Miss Morrow in Lyttelton and then went to Christchurch every day to work. The life 
of the Just family took its course without major disruptions. 
 
Charles and Alan joined the Artillery Volunteers. The volunteers slept under the palm trees at the 
camp around Sumner Road. In charge of the permanent artillery was Captain Sidney Sandle, son of 
Emile's friend in Stafford. During a firing practice, firing the 6-inch muzzle gun caused hearing 
damage to Charles as he had not kept his mouth open to counter the blast. Later the force moved to 
Ripa Island. 
Alan remembers the horrific crossing on a whaling boat to the island when a northerly gale blew in 
and the rowers could barely make headway. They stayed off Diamond Harbor for several hours, 
unable to proceed, unable to see and soaked to the skin as the boat was half full of water. There was 
great relief when they finally reached the island early in the morning, some six hours after leaving 
Lyttelton. 
 
Each daughter received a beautiful ring from her parents when she reached the age of 21. On June 
19, 1912, Leonie was born in the ‘St. Saviour's Church' in West Lyttelton to Osborne Rennie and 
their home for their whole married life was to be 'Rushbrook Farm' in Doyleston. Alan was born on 
01/27/1916 and George on 09/20/1917. 
On February 11, 1914, Charles Beatrice Paiman married in the small stone church of 'St. Cuthbert' 
in Governor's Bay. His father Emile played the organ. The guests had arrived from Lyttelton for 
lunch and only made their return journey in the moonlight. 
Charles' work for the Loan Company had taken him to Napier in 1912 and now, after his marriage, 
to Timaru where he and Beatrice settled in a house they had built in Sealy Street. Charles owned a 
car, a 'De Larg'. He and Beatrice were invited to 'Rushbrook' with the Rennies for a weekend. There 
were almost no street signs at that time, the road surfaces were rough and the car lights were very 
weak. After repairing a flat tire and then getting lost, Charles got out angrily to see if there were 
directions. Not wanting to be left alone in the dark, Beatrice followed him when they saw a figure 
approaching them. Charles lifted his hat and very politely asked for directions. Beatrice burst out 
laughing, but Charles was less than amused. When they finally reached Rushbrook in the night, 
Leonie and Osborne, no longer expecting their arrival, had gone to bed worried. 
 
The third family wedding also took place in 1914. On November 11, Ottilie got married in the ‘St. 
Saviour's Church', where her sister, Sidney Sandle, had been married two years earlier. Guests were 
received in the schoolroom and the 'Lyttelton Territorials' formed an honor guard. However, the two 
young households of Beatrice and Ottilia were soon forced to move to Christchurch. Ottilie with her 
son John, born 02/06/1916 and Beatrice with their daughter Margaret, born 09/11/1917 shared a 
house in Opawa while their husbands Sidney and Charles were away on military service. 
 
In 1911, after completing a five-year apprenticeship as an electrical engineer with 'Turnball & 
Jones' in Christchurch, Alan worked his way to England via Cape Horn in the engine room of a 
cargo ship and was employed in Manchester by the large British firm 'Westinghouse'. At the request 
of his father Emile, he contacted his relatives in Switzerland and in August 1912 he was the guest of 
Charles Jung, whose sons Theodore and David accompanied him on his journey through 
Switzerland. A second holiday to Switzerland took place the following year when he and Marguerite 
Germiquet, his father's cousin, were engaged. In late 1913 Alan returned to Wellington before 
enlisting in the army in 1918. His return to Europe as a soldier in the New Zealand Field Artillery 
was memorable because of the 'Spanish Flu' that afflicted the ship. Six months after the armistice, 
Marguerite was finally able to leave Switzerland. Their marriage took place on June 14, 1919 in 
Tamworth, England. 
 
During the Lyttelton years, Emile's professional interests extended beyond his school to the general 
educational issues of his country. In 1893 he was vice-president of the North Canterbury Educa-
tional Institute and from 1910-1914 treasurer of the same. This body fought for the improvement of 
employment conditions for teachers, as well as for all other aspects of educational reform. Emile 
was involved in government representations on his behalf. 
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Emile's retirement at the age of 66, postponed to 1918 because of the war years, marked the end of 
the Lyttelton era. The 'Lyttelton Times' of March 23, 1918 reported under the headline: 
 «Popular Teacher - Mr. Just Retired» '...had done his job with remarkable success. The residents 
were very lucky to have had Mr. Just under them for so long.... He fought for the teachers 
outstandingly not only as a teacher but also as a man and citizen. He always fought for the 
profession, never for himself, and never played a lonely hand. It should not be forgotten that Ms. 
Just had also greatly benefited education by helping her husband. Mr Just was asked to accept a 
gold watch from the teachers.' 
 
Puriri Street, Christchurch 1918-1947 
 
74 Puriri Street – These are magical words that evoke for Emile and Annie's grandchildren 
memories of their beloved grandparents, their welcoming comfortable home, a garden to explore 
and hide away, the excitement of holidays and family gatherings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

At first, Annie must have missed the hustle and bustle and neighborhood of Lyttelton, as the 
Riccarton retirement home was surrounded by few neighbors and empty paddocks. It was a single 
family home with a passageway leading from the front door fitted with stained glass windows to the 
rear. Bedrooms with tiles, fireplaces, a living room with piano and harmonium, leading to a 
conservatory with Emile's rolling desk and Annie's desk, a shelf with cacti, a dining room with a 
coal stove and a large family dining table with a green tablecloth, a scullery and a back bedroom. 
Added was an enclosed back porch and a small kitchen with a gas stove. To the left stretched the 
laundry room and toilet, which, together with the back wall of the house, formed a sheltered 
playground for small grandchildren. The garage, rarely occupied by cars, was a storeroom for old 
books, which lay on shelves at the back, alongside Emile's Australian wines, each bottle in its straw 
shelf that lined the side walls. Next to the garage stood the windmill that pumped the water and 
required adjustment to the changes in the wind at any time of the day or night. 
The front yard was neatly landscaped with roses on either side of the curving path leading to the 
front door. The back lawn, protected by hedge, windmill and garage, led to the vegetable and 
orchard which occupied part of Totora Road to the chicken coop. There were trees to climb, apples, 
plums and cherries to pick, currants and gooseberries that gave us grandchildren good hiding 
places. The whole property was bordered with trees and bushes. The house still stands today, but 
now has a new number. 
 
Irene, who had moved to Riccarton with her parents and Maude, became organist at 'St. Ninian's 
Church' on Puriri Street. On November 19, 1919, she married Leonard 'Len' Prebble, choirmaster 
and neighbor, in this church. Their home would be Cravendale, a sheep station newly purchased by 
Len in the Surrey Hills near Mt Somers. 

In 1919 Alan also returned to New Zealand with Marguerite and they lived with his parents, where 
their son Edouard was born on September 8th, 1920. Later Alan's house was built on the section 
next to the orchard in Totora Road where Anne (note: author of this chronicle) was born on 
04/15/1929. 
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In 1921 Emile was appointed secretary and organizer of the North Canterbury provincial council, 
the 'Licensed Victuallers' Association'. He held this position for 15 years. Work had always been his 
main interest. This fact, together with his remarkable organizational skills, particularly active mind 
and keen business acumen, enabled him to live to a ripe old age. The Association's office was in the 
square next to the post office, which required a long walk down Puriri Street to Riccarton Road then 
to the square. Miss Bailey as a typist and Mr. Honeywell worked with him. He was a member of the 
Midland Club and the respect shown to him by many alumni, friends and business acquaintances 
left a lasting impression on his grandchildren. 
In 1923 an Australian relative, Jack Packer, the grandson of one of Annie's cousins, joined the 
family. Jack had been appointed Lecturer in Chemistry at Canterbury University College after 
outstanding performance as an undergraduate at Melbourne University. In 1927 he married Jackie 
(Kathleen) Buss, whose family had been close neighbors since 1921. Jack, Jackie and their family 
stayed in close touch with the Just family and Jack was sorely missed by all of us after he died 
suddenly in 1971. Jack's mother, Rose Packer, made several trips to New Zealand and was some-
times accompanied by her daughter, Dorothy Robinson. Maude later returned to Australia with Rose 
Packer for a few weeks. Always proud of her Australian birth (she was Emile and Annie's only child 
born in Australia), she rejoiced in the close bond she had with her Australian relatives. 
 
Emile visited his family in Australia more than once, often returning with a wooden box full of 
grapes. But the visit in May 1930 stands out, when he made a pilgrimage to Steiglitz with his brothers 
Herrmann and Aurel. A photograph of the three exists against a background of trees marking the 
location of the 'Old Town'. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emile and Annie's grandson, John Sandle, created the pet names of 'FaFA' and 'NanNan' for Emile 
and Annie and they have been adopted by most of his generation, marking a special bond between 
grandparents and grandchildren. In her long, black dress and the white collar, later the black velvet 
collar, 'NanNan' is reminiscent of a dignified and gracious old age. 'FaFa' is remembered in his 
dark suit and shiny black boots, a gold watch and locket on the gold chain that spanned his waistcoat 
and a cigar in his hand. With his size, straight back and well-groomed goatee, he was an imposing 
and handsome figure. 
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From left to right: Herrmann Just, Emile Just and Aurel Just 
 (photo from 1930 in Steiglitz) 

 



 

For their grandchildren, Emile and Annie's home was associated with the joy of holidays and family 
celebrations - Ottilie and family traveled by train and ferry from Auckland and later from 
Palmerston North, luggage followed from the station by horse and cart. Charles and family arrived 
after a 12 hour train journey from Invercargill. The entertainment took place either in Puriri Street 
at Emile and Annie's or next door at Alan and Marguerite's. Her grandchildren will remember Annie 
sitting at the dining table or afternoon tea on the front lawn or in her chair by the window with her 
reading and crocheting. Even in her old age she was interested in world and local news, which she 
read in the daily newspaper. During World War II, Annie abandoned her Victorian upbringing, 
which forbade unnecessary Sunday work, to continue knitting balaclavas for soldiers. 
 
Emile and Annie's golden wedding anniversary in 1928 was joyfully celebrated by the entire 
presence of their descendants. The lunchtime feast was at Alan and Marguerite's home. The anni-
versary couple were wheeled in style around the corner to enter through the front gate. 
When Emile retired from his work for the Licensed Victaullers in April 1936 at the age of 84, he was 
presented with a club chair and a check for his long and faithful service. In his thanks, Emile said 
he had no concrete plans for the future but humorously suggested devoting more time to his wife. 
His second retirement was not to last long as he suffered a stroke in October of the following year 
and after a short stay in hospital returned to his home where he died a few days later on October 
12, 1937. He was buried in the 'Waimairi Cemetery' in Christchurch. The pallbearers in the house 
were officers from Conyers Lodge and those at the grave were officers from District Gran Lodge. 
Annie and her daughter Maude stayed in the house on Puriri Street for 10 years. 
  
In 1947, at the age of 98, Annie fell in her room and broke her leg. Three days later, on December 
7, 1947, she died in hospital. She was buried next to Emile. The house on Puriri Street was sold and 
Maude moved into a small flat on Durham Street before living at Windsor House, where she died on 
07/06/1977. She had never married, cared for her parents all her life and lived to be 98 like her 
mother. 

Leonie's son, Stuart, was born in 1920 but died very suddenly when he was only five years old. Alan 
married Maire Brittenden and ran the farm 'Maryfield' in Doyleston, then Lagmhor and Methven. 
He died in 1969 and Maire in 1974. They have two sons and a daughter. George married Elaine 
Coe and had the farm 'Rotopapa' beside the Selwyn River in Irwell. They had two daughters and 
three sons. Leonie remained at Rushbrook for a number of years after her husband William Osborne 
Rennie died in the war in 1949. She later lived with her son George and his wife Elaine. She died on 
November 6th, 1976 at the age of 95. 

After World War I Charles joined the 'National Mortgage and Agency Company' in Christchurch, a 
nationwide stock and station agency business which invested directly in New Zealand pastoral 
activities and made loans to other participants in the industry. In 1927 he was posted to Invercargrill 
and in 1940 to Dunedin, where he retired until his death on 1 March 1976. His wife Beatrice followed 
him three months later. Her daughter Margaret continues to live in Dunedin after retiring as head 
of the 'Helen Deem Centre' for pre-school education (Note: as of 1980 when this chronicle was 
written. Margaret died in 2009).  
Their second daughter Nancy Maude Just (co-author of this chronicle) was born on May 23, 1921. 
She was an architectural draftsman before marrying Archie Reid. They run the farm 'Waihi' in 
Woodbury and have one daughter, Suzanne. (Nancy died in 2011) 
 
Sidney George Sandle chose the Army as his career, serving at the age of 16 in the Fifth African 
Campaign and 1914-18 in World War I. Shortly after the outbreak of the war he married Ottilie Just 
and after the end of the war he moved to Auckland, where their son Bill (Sidney William) was born 
on September 30th, 1920. Sidney George Sandle was promoted to the Reserve Officers with the rank 
of Lieut-Colonel in 1930 and was Sergeant-at-Arms in the New Zealand Parliament at the time of 
his death in 1936. Ottilie stayed in Wellington until she came to Christchurch, where she assisted 
her sister Maude in caring for their mother Annie on Puriri Street. Ottilie died in Christchurch on 
June 26, 1962. Their son John married Patricia 'Pat' Webster and retired from his position as district 
engineer at 'P&T Christchurch' in 1975. The two live in Sumner and have three daughters. (John 
Sandle died in 2006.) His brother Bill (Sidney William Sandle) married Nora Bourke and lives in 
Stratford, having retired in 1980 as Newton King's store manager. He has three sons and three 
daughters. (Bill died in 1994) 
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Alan joined the Fire Underwriters Association as an Electrical Inspector on his return from England 
with his Swiss wife Marguerite Germiquet and have lived in Christchurch apart from three years in 
Dunedin. Her son Edouard is Quality Control Officer for 'T.V.L.' and lives in Upper Hill. He married 
Marguerite (Marge) Wade and has one daughter, Christine. 
Anne (daughter of Alan and co-author of this chronicle) is a qualified librarian and works at the 
Medical Library in Christchurch. She lives with her father, Alan, who is now 94 years old (as of 
1980). His wife Marguerite died in 1972. 
(Note: Alan Just died three years after this family chronicle was written. His daughter and author 
of this contemporary document, Anne Rosine Just, died on November 25, 2008.) 
 
Irene and Leonard Prebble's eldest son Len (Leonard) was born on September 17, 1920 but died 
tragically on November 25, 1925 in Cravendale. 
Aurelie was born on August 14, 1928 and married Stanley Jones, has two sons and a daughter and 
lives in Taumarunui. 
Derek was born on 08/06/1939 and farms 'Dalbury' in Coldstream. He married Jeanette Murray 
and has two sons and two daughters. 
Marguerite (Sue) was born on February 25th, 1932, married Ken Rule and lives in Ashburton. 
After the death of her husband Leonard Prebble on 09/30/1950, Irene left the farm 'Cravendale' and 
moved to Ashburton where she lives today (1980) at the age of 92, not in good health but in the best 
of spirits. (Irene Alice Emily Prebble-Just, youngest daughter of Emile and Annie Just, died as the 
last child on 12/04/1983) 
 
As this was primarily Emile's story, we include a final tribute to him published in his honor by a 
business acquaintance in the Star-Sun newspaper: 
 

"He is the most charming old man I have ever met and I have traveled extensively                           
around the world. You can't ask for a better type of man 

for he was a gentleman by nature!' 
 
Contributions and support from many family members in New Zealand, Australia and Switzerland 
were of great help to Anne Just and Nancy Reid-Just in compiling this Sue Rule typed chronicle.   
                                                                                                               "Waihi", in 1980 
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Back row: Charles, Leonie, Ottilia, Alan 
Front row: Emile, Irene, Annie, Maude 



            

STAFFORD 

The places of residence of Emile Just and his family 

STAFFORD (Photo 1883) 1879-1881 

     - Colombo Street 1881-1890 

     - 74 Puriri Street 1918-1947 

 

             LYTTELTON  

- 20 St. Davids Street 1890-1918 

Lyttelton and the harbour around 1883 
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CHRISTCHURCH 



             

This is the view enjoyed by the Just family from their home on St Davids Street where this 
photograph was taken.                                                                      

The school building where Emile Just taught can be seen at the bottom right. (page 95) 

With a photo of Lyttelton from today, we leave the Just family on the other side of the world and return 
from New Zealand to the emigrant families in America, where more interesting stories await us. 
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Entry into the United States 

Castle Garden, New York 

Castle Clinton, also Castle Garden, is a monument at the top of Manhattan, now known as Castle 
Clinton National Monument. 

Built in 1811 ninety meters off the shoreline of Manhattan Island, the 4,000 m² Castle Clinton was 
once a forward artillery position in New York City connected to Battery Park by a causeway. It served 
the military protection of the strategically important waterways around New York City and the city 
itself. Due to silting up and landfill, Castle Clinton is now located in Battery Park on the mainland. 

In 1824 Castle Clinton was converted into the Castle Garden Theater and in 1840 the former courtyard 
was roofed over and the house was used for theatrical performances and exhibitions. 

In 1855 the former fort was leased to the state of New York, which used it as a receiving station for 
seven million immigrants to the United States until 1890, before new facilities opened on nearby Ellis 
Island in 1892. They maintain a database of immigrants, which also includes 10 million records from 
the period 1835-1892 with Castle Garden dates. 

 

The second half of the 19th century was a time of great upheaval. The world emerged from a great 
economic depression. Political and social tensions arose in Europe, caused by the second industrial 
revolution and a population explosion. The population of Switzerland grew from 2.65 to almost 4 
million between 1870 and 1914 and America became a popular destination for emigrants. 
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The first Guschner (Just, Riederer) and Maienfelder (Mutzner) emigrants 
settled mainly in the American Midwest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andreas Riederer family (emigrated to Polk/Wisconsin in 1845, to Holton/Kansas in the 1850s) 
 
Just-Just family (emigrated to Lansing/Iowa in 1846 and later moved to Owatonna/Minnesota) 
 
The Just-Ruffner family (emigrated to St. Louis/Missouri in 1846) 
 
Family Andreas Just-Zimmermann (emigrated to St. Louis/Missouri in 1846, later they moved to Illinois) 
 
Caspar Mutzner-Bantli family (emigrated to Wisconsin in 1846, moved to Greenville/Ohio in 1850) 
 
Christian Mutzner-Ambühl family (emigrated to Highland/Illinois in 1846) 
 
Just-Flütsch family (emigrated to Grant County/Wisconsin in 1847) 
 
Boesch-Just family (emigrated to Swiss in Casconade County/Missouri in 1847) 
 
Luchsinger-Just family (emigrated to New York in 1851, moved to DePue in Bureau County, Illinois in 1857) 
 
Ortlieb-Just family (emigrated to Wisconsin in 1854, later moved to Franklin County, Ohio) 
 
Steiger-Just family (emigrated to Roark Township/Missouri in 1855) 
 
Family Florian Just-Näf (emigrated to Holton/Kansas in 1859) 
 
Johannes Mutzner (emigrated to Dayton/Ohio in 1866) 
 
Jakob Mutzner (emigrated to Dayton/Ohio in 1883) 
 

M 

M 

M 

M 

M 

M 

M 

M 
M 



            

fter 1850, sailing ships were increasingly replaced by steamships. With the new ships, the travel   
time to North America could be reduced to up to eight days, one was less dependent on the weat-
her, and the number of passengers could be increased to up to eight hundred. However, sailing 

trips remained attractive until the 1870s because they only cost half as much. The hitherto main European 
port of emigration, Le Havre, was surpassed by Bremerhaven and Hamburg in the second half of the 19th 
century. 
 

die stürmischen und gefährlichen Gewässer des ‘Kap der Guten Hoffnung’ bei der

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’

‘Marco Polo’

‘Ritt durch das 
Nadelöhr’ –

The Steamship 

When side paddle steamers were first able to cross 
the Atlantic in less than thirty days in the mid-19th 
century, passenger transport became cheaper and 
thus became popular with broad sections of the 
population. With the introduction of regular 
scheduled services with steamships, emigration 
prevented further speed. While a sailing ship needed 
an average of forty-four days for the crossing, it was 
only fourteen days for the steamship. The number of 
steam ships used quadrupled from the 1870s and the 
transport of migrants by sailing ships collapsed 
accordingly, so that by the mid-1880s the two ship 
types were on par. From 1900 onwards, with a few 
exceptions, only steamships drove the emigrant lines 
to North and South America. The conditions on the 
ships were initially very bad. The space required for 
the boiler, engine and coal stores was partly at the 
expense of the passing places. Only slowly were 
ordinances and laws issued for the construction and 
furnishing of the ships, which stipulated the space 
requirements per passenger, sleeping places, sani-
tary facilities, catering and medical care, etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Anyone who has ever researched American emi-
grants in family and genealogical research will 
surely know that 'Ellis Island' was the first station in 
the port of New York where the emigrants were 
registered. Along with the nearby Statue of Liberty, 
Ellis Island is a National Monument and Museum of 
the country's immigration history. But the name 
'Castle Garden' also appears in the reports.  

 

 

 

 

A     

Arrive at Castle Garden 

From 1820 onwards, immigration, which had been 
unregulated up to that point, was put on an orderly 
track by the introduction of passenger lists, which 
ship captains had to hand over to the border 
authorities. In addition, the newcomers should be 
protected from unscrupulous recruiters and scam-
mers who allegedly promised them jobs and apart-
ments in exchange for money. For this purpose, the 
US immigration authorities set up their registration 
station in 1855 in the fortress roundel of the former 
'Castle Clinton' on the southern tip of Manhattan. 
Until 1890, immigrants were received in the former 
theater building 'Castle Garden' until this station also 
became too small. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Here the travel documents were checked, the state of 
health checked and the luggage searched. Whereby 
the latter was not done so precisely. Even with the 
entry papers, the officials were not so precise, as we 
can see from the example of the Glarner emigrant 
Rudolf Heer and his family;  
While Rudolf Heer was still called Hear on the 
passenger list of the "Atalanta" in 1868, he was 
again recorded in the immigration register with his 
real surname, Heer. For this, his wife Rosine turned 
into a man. Daughter Barbara was already a boy on 
the ship and remained so when she entered the 
country. The family Heer had indicated ‘Buffalo’ as 
the destination. However, they should never travel 
there. The suspicion is that the immigrants, who 
often didn't speak a word of English, had copied 
each other because a destination had to be entered 
on the form. This example illustrates in an impres-
sive way, and it is by no means an isolated case, how 
difficult it is for researchers to be able to keep track 
of the emigrants. 
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Side paddle steamer 'Pacific' around 1850 

javascript:


       

Isle of Hope - Isle of Tears 

Incidentally, Rudolf Heer was able to smuggle a few cigars into the country, as he wrote to his mother later 
in a letter to his old homeland, frankly and not entirely without pride. 

From 1892 onwards, Ellis Island, located in the Hudson River estuary off Manhattan, has been a central 
gathering point for immigrants. 'Ellis Island' was not only larger than 'Castle Garden', but also better suited 
due to its island location. However, a fire in 1897 destroyed the entire station and with it some of the passenger 
lists. Until the reconstruction, an old warehouse in the Manhattan harbor was used for customs formalities. 

By the time it closed in November 1954, around 12 million people had immigrated to the United States via 
Ellis Island. About five hundred people were employed at the immigrant contact point. The time for the arrival 
formalities was between four and seven hours for one person. In the heyday, four to five hundred people were 
processed in this way every day. The record day is April 17, 1907 with almost twelve thousand immigrants! 

 

‘grausam behandelt’ worden sei. William liess seine Frau für verrückt erklären und brachte sie zur Behand

‘nicht behandelbar’ eingestuft und in die Bezirksanstalt für Geistesgestörte in Utica/Illinois eingewiesen, 
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This small island off Manhattan in the USA was a place of great emotions, of hope for a better life, but also a 
place of fear and disappointment. Because of the many tears that flowed here, the place was also called 'Isle 
of Tears'. In the arrivals hall, most of the emigrants met officials for the first time in their lives, who treated 
them with respect. 

The first to be so recorded via 'Ellis Island' in the United States was fifteen-year-old immigrant Annie Moore, 
who arrived on New Year's Eve 1891 on the steamer 'Nevada' from Liverpool, UK, along with 126 other 
Europeans from Russia, England, Germany and Ireland arrived at the port of New York. Several million more 
were to follow! Among them Hollywood legends such as Gary Grant, Edward G. Robinson, Tarzan actor 
Johnny Weissmuller, legendary Lucky Luciano, cosmetics legend Max Factor, comedian Bob Hope and 
heartthrob Rudolph Valentino are just a few of the famous about 'Ellis Island' in personalities who have entered 
the USA. 

For several hundred thousand people, however, the journey ended with a medical check or with questioning 
by officials. A total of 3,500 desperate people then killed themselves rather than return to their countries of 
origin. Those who passed the exam were allowed to walk through the door marked “Push to New York” and 
start their new life in the USA. So did the thirty-five babies born during the days of waiting at Ellis Island. 

According to a 2000 census, nearly one in three Americans can trace their roots to Ellis Island. According to 
the census, every sixth person has German ancestors. 

 

 



 

Gravestone of Christian Just 
(1852-1871) 

 Florian Just                    
1814 - 1859 

We remember the poacher story on page 72 - Florian Just was one of those involved back then. 
Nineteen years after the incident he emigrated to North America with his wife Menga Amanda Näf 
and their four children Christian, Andreas, Anna Margreth and Amalia.  
On March 31, 1859, the family boarded the ship ‘Progress’ at Le Havre and reached New York six 
weeks later on May 14. 
 
 

–

–

Emigrated to the USA in 1859 
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Menga Amanda Näf          
05.07.1832 - 29.01.1906 

Like Andreas Riederer's family, who said "Goodbye" to 
Guscha in 1845, the former "poacher" was drawn to Holton 
in the state of Kansas. It shouldn't be a coincidence that the 
Just family chose the same area, even the same city, for 
their new life. So they met again after fourteen years in the 
'New World'. And Florian Just's wife's sister has also lived 
with her family in Kansas for six years. But happiness didn't 
last long! Florian Just died in the year of his arrival on 
September 25, 1859 at the age of forty-five. A year later his 
wife married the German immigrant Andreas (Andrew) 
Hill, with whom she had eight more children. The woman 
who was born on September 5, 1832 in Urnäsch with the 
name Menga Amanda Näf died on January 29, 1906 at the 
age of seventy-three in Holton under the name Monaci Hill, 
as we can see from the obituary on page 11 of the Recorder 
Tribune Holton, March 8, 1906. 

 

Florian Just, who got off lightly from the poaching 
affair in 1840, married Menga Amanda Näf from 
Urnäsch in Appenzellerland on February 1, 1852. 
Their parents were Christian Näf (1805-1888) and 
Anna Davatz from Fanas im Prättigau. who was only 
25 years old (08/28/1811-12/13/1836). 
Menga's sister named Anna Barbara emigrated to 
Kansas/USA with her husband Georg Ladner from 
Seewis/GR in 1853. Presumably, the father 
Christian Näf also traveled to America at that time, 
in any case he died in 1888 in Holton/Kansas. 
 
 
Florian Just war Bauer und lebte bis 1859 mit Menga 

Florian Just was a farmer and lived with Menga Amanda Näf on Guscha until 1859, where all their 
children were born. They were: 

- Christian Just, 08/16/1852-02/07/1871   
  (died at the age of 19 in Holton/Kansas, tombstone photo above) 
- Andreas Just, 1854-1933 (pages 110/111) 
- Anna Margreth Just, 1855-1928 (page 112) 
- Amalia Just, 1858-1931 (page 113) 

In 1859 the family embarked on the long, arduous journey, none of the children was older than seven at 
the time, the youngest was just one year old, and anyone who is the parent of four small children knows 
what that means – a suicide mission! 



 

The family trees of the children of Florian Just and Menga Amanda Näf 
 

‘Kap der Guten Hoffnung’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’

‘Marco Polo’

‘Ritt durch das Nadelöhr’ –

                 Andreas ‘Andrew’ Just (1854-1933) 
 

born May 18, 1854 in Guscha and died August 9, 1933 in Salina, Kansas. Andrew 
Just was a farmer and married Jessie Anna Cobler on February 18, 1880. They 
stayed true to northeastern Kansas, only changing counties and moving from 
Holton to Salina. (See map below left) 
 

Melville Lillis Just                            

18.10.1907                                 

in Oklahoma City/OK -                  

Juni 1968 in Salina/KS         

          20.02.1929 

Beatrice Hanly 

20.06.1910 in Salina/KS - 

20.09.1996 in Salina/KS 

Oscar Orval Just                              

22.11.1880 in Holton -

30.11.1925 in Salina/KS 

  

 

 

 

 

           

          12.12.1906 

Margaret Luella       

Holmes 

 1890 - 07.09.1910  in 

Oklahoma City/OK 

Christian Just (1852-1871) 

was just seven years old when crossing the Atlantic, making him the oldest of the four siblings. 
However, he died very early, at the age of nineteen, leaving no descendants.  
In complete contrast to his brother: 

Andreas Just (1854-1933) 

‘Goodbye’ sagten, zog es den einstigen 
‘Wild dieb’ nach Holton im Bundesstaat Kansas. Es dürfte kein Zufall sein, dass sich die Familie 

ren wieder in der ‘Neuen Welt’. Doch das Glück dauerte nicht lange! Noch 

aus dem Nachruf auf Seite 11 der ‘Recorder 
Tribune Holton’ vom 08. März 1906 erfahren.

Curtis Earl Just                        

06.05.1883 in Holton -

07.07.1965 in Martinez/CA 

  

 

 

 

 

           

          02.01.1910 

Valrie Celia Andrist 

14.02.1890 in Salina/KS - 

31.10.1977 in Crockett/CA 

6 children: 

 

Earl Birdsell Just                              

15.02.1911 - 31.01.1998 

             12.10.1941 

Lucile Huttie 

01.08.1914 - 20.09.2010    

*  

                Wilma Floye Just                                               

                  20.09.1914 - 

                15.11.2007 

                         03.08.1936 

Corda Owen Brookhouser 

27.07.1909 - 21.12.1965             

* 

Celia Mae Just                         

13.06.1917 - 08.02.2001 

             27.04.1940 

Otis Wilson Beach 

26.04.1916 - 30.12.1999        

* 

Robert Andrew Just                        

04.04.1922 - 29.08.2003 

             03.07.1953 

Betty Jean Willms 

28.06.1922 – 07.08.2015          

* 

Reba Anne Just                                                            

16.11.1924 - 18.12.2009 

             18.10.1946 

Edwin Sheldon Root 

11.10.1921 - 25.04.2012         

* 

                  Roy Thomas Just           

                  30.08.1927 -  

                 25.02.1991 

Mearl Andrew Just                         

18.09.1888 in Holton -

27.05.1966 in Salina/KS 

  

 

 

 

 

           

          13.09.1906 

Mary Katherine Folsom 

11.08.1888 in Salina/KS - 

28.11.1976 in Salina/KS 

Myrtle Maude Just                         

03.02.1886 in Holton -

14.08.1981 in Harris/Texas 

  

 

 

 

 

           

          05.11.1907 

Ira Rollo Yoakam 

12.10.1886 in Pleasanton/KS - 

14.10.1938 in Houston/TX 

Jerry Just Jr.                                

17.07.1939                                 

in Salina/KS - 

15.03.2020 in                

Pawnee City/Nebraska 
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Fern Ora Mae Just                    

01.09.1907 in Salina/KS -

14.05.1997 in Topeka/KS 

  

 

 

 

           

           

           03.04.1925 

William Lewis Daniels 

11.06.1907 in Iowa - 

13.10.2000 in Hutchinson/KS  

2 children: 

 

                               Robert Mearl   

                               Claude Daniels  

                             31.10.1925 -             

                           28.06.1956  

                              in Salina/KS  

                         

* 

Elizabeth Kathryn Daniels             

14.02.1928 in Salina/KS - 

30.09.2003  

 

           

 

 

 

 

Charles E. Gahnstrom 

25.05.1924 in Kansas City/MO - 

17.10.1988 in Topeka/KS 

 

Eleanor Iris Yoakam                        

04.09.1912 in Kansas -                  

02.03.1985 in 

Pearland/Texas 

 

 

 

 

 

         

          07.04.1934 

Edward W. Williams 

around 1907 in Texas -

10.07.1978 in Texas 

Jo Ann Williams                               

around 1936 in Texas -                  

around 1955 

 



  

Jessie Anna Cobler 

15.09.1857                           

in Boone County/Indiana -

28.03.1945 in Salina/KS 

Amelia Edna Just                                                            

27.08.1893 in Solomon/KS - 

08.10.1970 in Salina/KS 

  

 

 

 

           

          26.10.1912 

Leslie Raymond Austin 

25.09.1880 in Faribault/MN - 

05.12.1966 in Salina/KS 

 4 children: 

 

Edna Millicent Austin                                                       

12.10.1913 in Salina/KS- 

10.03.1997 in Salina/KS 

              

Bert Walter Tanner 

20.08.1913 in Kansas City -  

1982  

*  

 Mildred Maxine Austin                                                   

28.09.1915 in Salina/KS - 

01.01.2004 in Paradise/CA 

              

Ross D. Tolbert 

07.09.1911 in Kansas -

09.08.1985 in Paradise/CA      

* 

Helen Marie Austin                                                          

04.01.1919 in Salina/KS - 

01.04.2011 in Salina/KS 

 

 

 

 

 

        18.03.1939 

James Walton Morrow 

23.08.1914 in Texas -

10.03.1993 in Kansas 

      * 

Ruth Eileen 

Austin                                  

28.03.1924 in Kansas -

15.04.1966 in Santa Clara/CA 

        1944 

Charles Wesley McCarty 

1933 - 1977 

 

Walter Paul ’Jim’ Just                                                       

02.08.1897 in Salina/KS - 

27.02.1936 in Salina/KS           

          04.07.1928 

Roberta Clara Vincent 

15.05.1903 in Hoisington/KS -            

02.05.1989 in Minneapolis/MN 

Frank Alva Just                                

18.09.1900 in Salina/KS -

12.09.1955 in Salina/KS          

          04.02.1920 

Gertrude Rebecca Phillips 

25.12.1897 in Salina/KS -            

17.08.1995 in Oregon 

9 children: 

 

        Dorthy Lorraine Just               

          01.02.1921 -   

        24.02.1987 

                1947 

George Findley Terzian 

20.01.1917 - 30.12.2004    

 *  

Louis Neal Just                                                       

21.10.1923 - 17.06.2007 

 married, 4 daughters              

* 

Jack Merlin Just                               

01.06.1925 - 12.06.2017 

married, 2 children 

* 

Frank Alva Just Jr.                           

29.07.1928 - 22.06.2017 

married, no children 

* 

Doris Carol Just                                

17.12.1931 - 18.09.2020 

             1954 

John Robert Keith 

01.09.1931 - 27.04.1998 

4 children 

 * 

 Gale Alvin Just 

05.11.1938 - 09.04.2000 

           20.10.1960 

Valva Dorree Leflet 

14.01.1943 - 30.07.2004 

2 children 

 * 

                    Gary Max Just              

                       22.08.1940 -   

                     27.10.2009 

 * 

   2 sons still alive (2023): 

Vernon Just, b. 09/22/1935 

Glenn Albert Just 

Roy Thomas Just                             

20.09.1904 in Salina/KS -

15.12.1980 in Salina/KS  

 

 

 

 

 

          

          19.06.1927 

Ruth Agnes Zimmer 

10.05.1904 in Smoky Hill/KS- 

20.09.1973 in Salina/KS             
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William Riley 

Just                                  

25.01.1929 in 

Salina/KS -

26.12.2000 in 

Yukon/OK  

 

Nelva Lee 

2 Sons 

1 Daughter                             

no data 

Pamela Sue 

Just                                  

22.12.1951 in 

Oakland/CA -

13.11.1981 in 

Oklahoma City  

 

Charles Daniel 

Younkin 

05.06.1945 

 in Lyons/KS -

13.11.1981 in 

Oklahoma City 

       Carly D.  

       Younkin                                                            

     02.11.1973 - 

     09.03.2020  

 

Her brother 

Jeremy Younkin 

is still alive 

today - no dates 

 

List of inhabitants of Salina from the year 1900 

 von essie Anna Cobler 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         Anna Margreth Just (1855-1928) 
 

She was born in Guscha on May 18, 1855 and was four years old when she traveled to America with her parents 
and siblings, where she married Clarence Myers around 1876. The two had a daughter: 
 
- Margaret Myers, born October 14, 1877 in Kansas, died March 25, 1958 in Tacoma/WA, married with Henry 
  Absolom Deason, born May 28, 1875 in Alabama, died July 21, 1932 in Tacoma/WA - 3 children 
 
But just a year after the birth of his daughter, Clarence Myers died in Kansas in 1878. 
 

Holton 

Tacoma 

A year later, Anna Margreth Just married John L. Himmelberger from Pennsylvania (PA), whose name is of 
German descent, although his grandfather John Himmelberger was born in 1804 in the USA. Anna and John 
settled in Kansas until 1910, where their seven children were born. The family then moved to the Pacific Coast 
city of Tacoma in Washington State, in the far Northwest of the United States. John Himmelberger died there 
on May 1, 1939, succeeding his wife Anna Margreth, who had died eleven years earlier on May 24, 1928 at the 
age of 73. 

 
The descendants 

 
       3 sons: 
          - George Himmelberger, born April 22, 1881 in Kansas, died June 25, 1935 in Tacoma/WA, married with 
             Ida Sprinkle, born 1878 in Missouri, died January 23, 1938 in Tacoma/WA - no children known 
 
                 - David Himmelberger, born August 15, 1882 in Kansas, died January 2, 1974 in Rainier/WA 
                    I. Married 1910 to Rosie Acker, b./d. unknown - 1 son; Irvin Leroy Himmelberger (1913-2002) 
                    II. Married 1919 to Bertha Hull, born Dec. 1884 in Wisconsin, died Oct. 1963 - no children 
 
                        - Cecil Charles Himmelberger, born September 3, 1894 in Kansas, died June 14, 1964 in Tacoma/WA 
                          was never married 
 
     4 daughters: 
          - Margaret H. Himmelberger, born 1878 in Kansas, died unknown 
 
                - Anna Gertrude Himmelberger, born September 20, 1886 in Leavenworth/KS, died August 17, 1967 in 
                   Tacoma/WA, married on October 22, 1911 to Phillip Alonzo Easter, born September 7, 1877 in Michigan, 
                   died March 27, 1946 in Tacoma/WA - 1 daughter; Louise-Marie Easter (1912-1969) 
 
                       - Edie Himmelberger, born unknown, died in infancy 
 
                            - Ida Himmelberger, born unknown, died 1885 as a child       
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         Amalia Just (1858-1931) 
 

She was the youngest child of Florian Just, the former poacher from Guscha, who died shortly after arriving in 
America in autumn 1859. Amalia was just learning to walk when her parents decided to leave their home in 
Graubünden forever. According to the July 22, 1870, resident census of Jefferson Township, Jackson County, 
Kansas: 
Amalia Just grew up with her mother Menga Amanda, the two brothers Christian (died 1871) and Andrew, 
sister Anna Margreth, who is registered with the name Martha, stepfather Andrew Hill and the three half-
siblings born by then Augusta, Amanda and Georg, who went by the Hill name, on a farm that was valued at 
$2,000, which is average compared to other farms. No riches, but always more than you had in your old 
homeland. 
 
 

In 1879, at the age of twenty-one, Amalia married Adam Grogger in Kansas. Adam Grogger was born on 
December 16, 1850 in Austria. Together with his parents, he arrived in New York on August 6, 1852 on the 
ship 'Mount Vernon', which left Hamburg. At that time he was not much older than his future wife Amalia Just. 
The couple settled in the small town of Solomon (population 2020: 993 people) in Dickinson County, Kansas. 
Their first daughter, Grace Gertrude, who was born on April 23, 1880, died three months later on July 11. Her 
son Paul Frank Grogger followed on June 25, 1881. 
 

Paul Frank Grogger                         

25.06.1881 in Solomon/KS - 

18.03.1936 in Ogden/Utah         

           

Fairmane Elma Noss 

13.08.1887 in Wellsville/KS -            

04.03.1956 in Ogden/Utah 

Paul Eugene Grogger                      

29.05.1918 in Colorado - 

22.09.1987 in Honolulu/Hawaii        

           

Helen Jane Main 

21.05.1919 - April 2006 
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Amalia Just and Adam Grogger's other children: 
 

Walter Andrew Grogger 
 

Walter Andrew Grogger                

04.12.1882 in Solomon/KS -

16.07.1967 in Solomon/KS         

           

Lydia Carolyn Parmenter 

24.09.1883 in Kansas -            

14.04.1958 in Solomon/KS 

Mildred 

Grogger                                          

18.10.1907 in Solomon/KS -

14.06.2002 in Harbor City/CA     

           

Glen H. Winbourne 

23.01.1909 in Grand/Utah -          

April 1975 in Salina/Utah 

Karl Parmenter Grogger                

28.05.1910 in Solomon/KS -

16.07.2004 in Solomon/KS     

           

Mary Meagher 

14.03.1910 -               

24.01.1979 in Solomon/KS 

Roland J. Grogger                         

31.05.1943 in Solomon/KS -

25.12.1989 in Ventura/CA     

           

Harold Ebert  

Grogger                   

15.05.1912  

in Solomon/KS - 

16.08.2007 

 in Columbia/MO  

        1936            

Irene Frances 

Leister 

03.06.1914 -

22.11.2006  

in Columbia/MO 

Carolyn  

Grogger                   

26.02.1920  

in Solomon/KS - 

unbekannt 

Howard Bernhard Grogger 
 

Howard Bernhard Grogger       

22.10.1884 in Solomon/KS -

März 1985 in Phoenix/AZ  

             17.08.1907        

Edna Morris 

1881 in Kansas -          

10.06.1961 

Dora Eve Grogger 
 

Dora Eve Grogger                    

07.02.1898 in Solomon/KS -

13.07.1992 in Barker/NY 

             09.09.1920        

George Aaron Miller 

06.08.1892 in Beaver City/NE -            

27.11.1987 in Barker/NY 

Max Miller                                        

19.02.1926 in Kansas City/MO -

29.12.1988 in Cocoa Beach/FL 

             24.01.1948        

Peggy Celeste Byrd 

1925 in Winston Salem/NC -            

13.06.2003 in Melbourne/FL 

Unknown daughter 

For data protection 

reasons, no infor-

mation is available 

about any persons 

who may still be 

alive. 

Unknown daughter 

For data protection 
reasons, no 

information is 
available about any 

persons who may still 
be alive. 

 

Unknown son 

For data protection 
reasons, no 

information is 
available about any 

persons who may still 
be alive. 
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Howard Bernhard Grogger lived to be 
over a hundred years old. Apart from 
his marriage to Edna Morris, nothing is 
known about his long life, during 
which time he moved to the desert state 
of Arizona. 

‘Mount 
Vernon’

Harold Ebert Grogger, a grandson 
of Amalia Just, grew up in rural 
Kansas and graduated from Solo-
mon High School in 1930. He 
received a Union Pacific scholar-
ship to attend Kansas State Uni-
versity, where he earned a degree in 
economics in 1935. A year later, 
Harold began his career as a soil 
scientist, working eight years for 
the US Department of Agriculture 
in Iowa, Illinois, Wisconsin and 
Missouri, where he served for the 
University of Missouri-Columbia, 
Army Corps of Engineers, for twen-
ty-five years until his retirement in 
1984 and the Missouri Conser-
vation Commission was busy. 
Harold married Irene Frances 
Leister on July 4, 1936, they had 
two children and remained together 
for more than 60 years until Irene's 
death separated them in 2006. 
 

Gravestone of Adam Grogger 
and Amalia (Amelia) Just in 
Solomon/ Kansas. 
Adam died on February 22, 1909 
Amalia died on August 19, 1931 
 



 

 Katharina Just                 
1824 - 1883 

Katharina Just was born on March 14, 1824 - I do not know whether on Guscha or in Maienfeld. In 1846 she 
married Anton Steiger in Maienfeld, who was born in the town on April 19, 1819. 
Shortly before Christmas 1847, on December 23rd, their first son was born in Maienfeld - Anton Steiger, who 
would leave a great legacy in the USA. (Page 117) 
The second son, Florian Steiger, followed in 1854, but he died a year later. 
In the late summer of 1855, Katharina and her husband Anton, together with their eight-year-old son Anton Jr., 
also left Graubünden and set out along the same route in the direction of Le Havre. 
  

On October 15, 1855, they arrived in New Orleans on the ship ‘Globe’. 
 

‘Mount Vernon’
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Emigrated to the USA in 1855 



 

 

The ghost town 
 
Roark Township, a small town in Gasconade County 
in eastern Missouri, became the new home of 
Katharina and Anton Steiger-Just. The settlement on 
the Gasconade River was founded in 1834 and named 
after the local Roark family. Today the place is 
deserted and the community is non-existent. 
 
 

–

–

‘Globe’ im Hafen von New Orleans an.

‘Mount Vernon’

One of the first settlers in Gascony County was Isaac 
Best, who owned a horse mill somewhere in the 
northwestern part. He built a log cabin to protect him-
self from the Indians and had about two dozen dogs 
that he had trained to sound the alarm if the natives 
approached. However, one day in 1811 he was at-
tacked by the Indians. He was forced to retire to his 
log cabin and the 'Shawnees' captured the horses that 
powered the mill. Mr. Best saved his life by jumping 
into the Missouri River and swam eight miles down 
the freezing river to a US Army fort, where he found 
help. 
It is believed that the first permanent settlers came to 
the county in 1812. Among them was a James Roark, 
the founder of the settlement of the same name three 
miles southeast of Hermann. Almost every early sett-
ler settled near a small stream or good spring, and no 
attempt was made to settle on the open prairie until 
1838. The settlers earned their livelihood mainly by 
hunting and trading with the Indians. Wolves and 
bears were quite numerous back then. A small amount 
of cattle ranching was also practiced in the lowlands 
along the Missouri River and the Gasconade. This 
area along the two rivers was covered with rushes and 
nutritious grasses. After the Native Americans were 
driven west, many farmers and settlers made a profi-
table business hauling pine lumber from the Upper 
Gasconade River to St. Louis, while others found 
profit hauling iron from the Massey Iron Works to 
Hermann. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

‘ ’
‘gascon’

The word 'Gasconade' probably comes from the 
French word 'gascon' which means show-off. As the 
story goes, the people living along the river tended to 
brag about their exploits when they returned to St. 
Louis. Early French explorers, hunters and trappers 
gave French names to the area's rivers and streams - 
Bourbeuse, Gasconade, Frene, Berger, Boeuf and 
Loutre. 
 
Katharina Just, her husband Anton Steiger and their 
eight-year-old son Anton made it to St. Louis on a 
Mississippi paddle steamer from New Orleans on the 
longest river in the USA. From there it continued on 
the Missouri to the confluence of the Gasconade 
River, where the family settled in the place founded 
by Irish immigrant James Roark - Roark! They weren't 
the only Swiss in the community. In the lists of 
residents of the following decades, the following 
surnames can be found, among others: 
Boesch, Gruber, Philipp, Stöcklin, Gadient, Krättli, 
Alleman, Graf, Schindler, Müller, Duffner, Steinmetz, 
Zengin, Schwartz, Riek etc. In addition, many 
emigrants from Germany and France were to be found 
around Hermann in Gasconade County. Ten miles 
south of Hermann, Swiss immigrants created the 
village of 'Swiss', which has survived to this day and 
has been home to the "Swiss Meat & Sausage Co." 
since 1969. produces, among other things, cervelats 
and bratwurst. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

–
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Newspaper clipping from the 'New Haven 
Leader' Missouri of Thursday October 15, 1931 
 
Anton Steiger Jr. (23.12.1847 in Maienfeld 
–

–

–

Schiff ‘Globe’ im Hafen von New Orleans 

‘Mount Vernon’

His wife Virginia Sarah Alder, whom he had married on 
Nov. 20, 1873 in Franklin/MO, died on Feb. 3, 1893 in 
Augusta/KS, four days after the birth of their last child, 
Charles Oscar, from complications related to childbirth. 
They had nine children, two of whom died in infancy: 
 

Clara Lee Steiger 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November 26, 1874 in New Haven/MO - May 1, 1953 in 
Kansas, marriage on May 22, 1891 with Wilson Scott 

Hundley, born February 15, 1871 in Tennessee, 
 died October 20, 1951 in Kansas - 10 children 

* 
Katherine Caroline Steiger 

12/09/1877 in Lawrence/KS - 11/08/1962 in Odessa/TX, 
married on December 24, 1896 with Gustav Carl Welter 

born June 1869 in Pinckney/MO,  
died April 25, 1937 in Augusta/KS - 4 children 

* 
James Steiger 

March 1880 in Missouri - unknown 
* 

Frances Steiger 
January 5, 1882 - July 6, 1964 in New Haven/MO, 

marriage on February 12, 1917 to Edwin Ludwig Guese, 
born April 15, 1880 in Holstein/MO, died December 14, 

1975 in St. Louis/MO - no children known 
* 

Mary Rosetta Steiger 
January 12, 1884 in New Haven/MO - unknown, married 
on December 24, 1907 to Charles Edward Schumacher, 

born August 3, 1881 - November 15, 1941 
 in New Haven/MO 

only 1 daughter is known - Hadlyn Schumacher 
* 

Edward Leander Steiger 
July 9, 1890 in Augusta/KS - June 1986 in New Haven 

* 
Charles Oscar Steiger 

January 30, 1893 in Augusta/KS - January 19, 1953 in 
Massachusetts, married to Julia Josephine Donovan, 
born 1883 in Ireland, died unknown - no children known 
 
 
 
 
 

The children and grandchildren of Katharina Just and Anton Steiger 
 

–

–

–

kamen sie mit dem Schiff ‘Globe’ im Hafen von 

‘Mount Vernon’

Anton Steiger Jr.                              
23.12.1847 in Maienfeld/GR - 

06.10.1931 in Rago/Kansas 
 

–

–

sie mit dem Schiff ‘Globe’ im 

‘Mount Vernon’
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The following children of Katharina Just and Anton Steiger  
came born in the USA: 

 

–

Am 15. Oktober 1855 kamen sie mit dem Schiff ‘Globe’ im Hafen von New 

‘Mount Vernon’

Matthew Steiger 
06/06/1856 in Hermann/MO - 09/19/1934 in Eureka Springs/Arkansas 

 
* 

Horie Florian Steiger 
09/05/1858 in Gasconade/MO - 04/22/1936 in St. Louis/MO 

 
* 

Anna Barbara Steiger 
08/19/1865 in Swiss/MO - 05/03/1934 in St. Louis/MO, 

married on December 10, 1885 with Jacob Sutter, born October 14, 1860 in Switzerland - 
September 5, 1938 in St. Louis/Missouri 

 
4 children; 

Katherine Rosina, born 1886; Laura Bertha, born 1889; William, born 1891; Jacob Edward, born 1901 
 
* 

Gebhardt Steiger 
July 17, 1867 in Roark Township/MO - unknown 

 
Katharina Steiger - Just died in 1883 at the age of 59 in Roark/Missouri. 

Her husband Anton Steiger followed her in 1897 at the age of 78. 
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The port of Hermann on the Missouri River. 

The city was founded in 1837 by German immigrants and today has just over 2,000 inhabitants. 
Every year in March, the city hosts a sausage festival, in May a May Festival and in autumn the 
Oktoberfest - all based on the model of 'Good Old Germany'. 



 

 

 Anna Margareth Just           
1796 – 1870 

Anna Margareth Just emigrated to the USA in 1847, specifically to Gasconade County in Missouri, which we 
now know very well. She was one of the first Just to settle there, but under the name of her late husband, 
Boesch. But let's go in order and start from the beginning - in Maienfeld! 
 
Anna Margareth was born in 1796 as the daughter of probably Florian Just and Anna Marie Lampert on the 
Guscha. In 1818 she married Andreas Boesch in Maienfeld, born on July 6th, 1788. Seven of their eight children 
were born in Maienfeld. They were: 
Andreas, Jacob, Catharina Anna, Joseph, Anna Margareth, Maria and Ursula. Only the youngest - Christian 
Frederick saw the light of day in 1838 in Westphalia in today's Germany. Apparently the family did not emigrate 
directly from Maienfeld to the USA, but first moved to the Kingdom of Prussia around 1837. 
In the summer of 1847, the family made their way to Le Havre, from where they moved to America - but 
without their husband and father Andreas Boesch. This was not to be found on the passenger list, but a Conrad 
Boesch, born 1794, was entered. Was it possibly a brother of Andreas? Who was this Conrad? Another question 
left unanswered in the darkness of history. The fact is that Andreas Boesch, Anna Margareth Just's husband, 
died on June 29, 1852 in Maienfeld. 
And another question arose: In the passenger list of the ship 'Probus', on which the Boesch-Just family arrived 
in New York on Sept. 11, 1847, the mother's first name was given as Elizabeth and not as Anna or Margareth, 
although it was most likely the same person. Was Elizabeth her third name, or was it another slutty registration 
clerk? Well possible, because the daughter Anna became a male Arne and the destination was given as 'Buffalo'. 
The Boesch never intended to go to Buffalo! But somehow that sounds familiar to me (see page 107, Heer 
case). As already mentioned, the Boesch family settled in Casconade County. Their names can be found in the 
lists of residents of Hermann, Roark, Boeuf and in the town of Swiss, which they co-founded. It is no 
coincidence that over the years other members with the surnames Just and Boesch emigrated to the same places 
in Missouri. Apparently, word got around and those who were already over there apparently only had good 
things to report from the 'New Home' to Maienfeld. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Katharina Just wurde am 14. März 1824 geboren – ob auf Guscha oder in Maienfeld ist mir nicht bekannt. Im 

–

Emigrated to the USA in 1847 
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Andreas Boesch (was 29 years old when crossing)  

24.07.1818 in Maienfeld  

1881 in Swiss/MO 

in Maienfeld to Christina Flütsch, born 1824, died. 02.01.1893 in Swiss/MO 

2 sons:  
      - Jacob Boesch, born December 2nd, 1846 in Maienfeld/GR, died March 9th, 1931 in Swiss/MO,  
        I. marriage on 03/14/1871 with Mary Dorathea Drewel, born 1848 in Prussia, died 03/29/1896 in   
        Swiss/MO -  have 4 sons and 1 daughter together 

                      II. Married to Martha E. Steffen, born Jan. 08, 1857 in Missouri, died April 18, 1941 in Swiss/MO  
                      - have 3 sons together 

                   - Christian Boesch, born 1854 in Swiss/MO, died unknown                        
3 daughters: 
          - Anna Margaret Boesch, born 1849 in Swiss/MO, 
             died unknown 
                 - Mary Louisa Boesch, born 1852 in Swiss/MO, 
                    died unknown, married 1892 to Friedrich 
                    Emil Meyer, born September 2nd, 1853 in   
                    Prussia, died April 9th, 1931 in Berlin/Germany   
                    – 2 children 
                       - Barbara Boesch, born 1853 in Swiss/MO, 
                          died May 20, 1912 in Missouri, married in  
                          1883 to Michael Boesch, born June 3, 1856  
                          in Boeuf/MO, died October 30, 1943  
                          – 7 children 
 
 

 

Jacob Boesch (was 20 years old when crossing)  

05.02.1827 in Maienfeld  

02.03.1884 in Swiss/MO 

Elizabeth Krättli, born 11.09.1832 in Untervaz/GR, died 27.02.1899 in Swiss/MO 

4 sons: 
      - Jacob Boesch Jr., born May 26, 1854 in Swiss/MO, died December 9, 1940 in Hermann/MO,   
        marriage on September 11, 1879 with Louisa Proett, born May 4, 1858, died March 10, 1938  
        in Swiss/MO – 6 children 
            - Michael Boesch, born June 3rd, 1856 in Boeuf/MO, died Oct. 30th, 1943 in Gasconade/MO, 
                      married in 1883 to Barbara Boesch (cousin), born around 1853 in Swiss/MO,  
                      died May 20, 1912 in Missouri – 7 children (see photo above) 
                            - Andreas Boesch, born November 6th, 1861 in Swiss/MO, died October 14th, 1947 in   
                              Gasconade/MO, married to Annie Rehmert, b. 08/23/1868, d.10/04/1899 – 3 children 
                                    - Adolph Boesch, born 09.10.1870 in Swiss/MO, died 05.03.1953 in 
                                       Hermann/MO, married in 1895 to Margareth Michel, born January 11, 1868 
                                       in Swiss/MO, died January 17, 1952 in Hermann/MO – 4 children 
4 daughters: 
       - Anna Margaret Boesch, born 03/18/1852 in Swiss/MO, died 02/16/1937 in Alexandria/NE,  
          married on 03/19/1874 to Edward Henry Proett, born 04/30/1851 in Hermann/MO,  
          died July 9th, 1925 in Alexandria/NE – 9 children 
            - Maria Boesch, born November 7th, 1859 in Swiss/MO, died July 2nd, 1949, married in 1887 to 
              Friedrich Wilhelm Rehmert, born 08/06/1859, died 07/15/1936 – 2 children 
                  - Lydia Boesch, born October 16, 1863 in Swiss/MO, died Sept. 14, 1946 in Swiss/MO,     
                     marriage on September 10, 1885 to Ferdinand Henry Schoening, born September 30, 1855  
                     in Swiss/MO, died July 19, 1947 in Swiss/MO – 7 children                   
                        - Catharina Boesch, born Oct. 10, 1867 in Swiss/MO, died April 4, 1952 in Swiss/MO, 
                           married on March 29, 1894 to Albert Conrad Michel, born Jan. 25, 1866 inSwiss/MO,   
                         died January 21, 1940 in Swiss/MO – 6 children 

The descendants of Anna Margareth Just and Andreas Boesch: 
 

1855 mit Elizabeth ‘Lizzie’ Gilbert, geb. Okt. 1838 in Darmstadt (D), gest. 1928 in Holton/KS

Caroline ‘Carrie’ Riederer, geb. 24.02.1859 in Holton/KS, gest. 24.08.1939 in Paxico/KS

Louise ‘Lulu’ Riederer, geb. 02.12.1872 in Holton/KS, gest. 29.07.1926 in  

Michael and Barbara Boesch in 1891 
with their children: Tony, Mike, 
George, Talitha and Minnie 

 

Caroline ‘Carrie’ 

Louise ‘Lulu’ Rie
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Lydia ‘Lizzie’ 
Boesch 



Catharina Anna Boesch (was 18 years old when crossing)  
 
25.07.1829 in Untervaz/GR  

11.05.1914 in Roark/MO 

11.05.1849 to Jacob Georg Philipp, born 16.04.1823 in Untervaz/GR,  
died 21.05.1898 in Swiss/MO 
 
4 sons: 
          - Andrew Philipp, born 1856, died unknown 
                 - Michael Philipp, born 1857, died unknown 
                        - Andreas Georg Philipp, born 14.03.1867 in Swiss/MO, died. 01.03.1957 in Rudd/Iowa 
                               - Jacob Philipp, born 1869 in Roark/MO, died 07.06.1955 
 
8 daughters: 
            - Margareth Philipp, b. 21.07.1850, d. 04.04.1932 in Swiss/MO 
                    - Marie Philipp, b. 22.02.1852 in Swiss/MO, d. 22.11.1885 in Hermann/MO 
                         - Catherine Philipp, b. 11.12.1853 in Swiss/MO, d. 21.02.1940 in Nora Springs/IA 
                               - Dorothy Philipp, b. 1855, died unknown 
                                    - Dorothea Philipp, b. 12.08.1859, d. 30.01.1940 in Missouri 
                                         - Ursula Philipp, b. 12.04.1863 in Swiss/MO, d. 15.06.1927 
                                             - Anna Philipp, b. 12.01.1865, d. 09.07.1897 in Hermann/MO 
                                                   - Rose Philipp, b. 13.03.1873 in Missouri, d. 27.06.1952 
 
 
 
 
 

Anna Margaretha Boesch (was 15 years old when crossing)  

25.07.1832 in Maienfeld/GR  

12.09.1909 in Ray County/MO 

27.12.1852 to Jacob Schindler, born 02.11.1826 im Kanton                
Glarus, died 01.02.1899 in Ray County/MO 

 
5 sons: 
          - Jacob Schindler, b. 1853 in Boeuf/MO, d. around 1930 in California 
                 - Ferdinand Schindler, b. 1864 in Swiss/MO, d. 31.03.1909 in Missouri, married   
                    25.10.1892 to Catherina Plattner, b. 26.04.1869 in Swiss/MO, d. 08.01.1946 in  
                    Excelsior Springs/MO – 5 children 
                        - Robert Schindler, b. 23.01.1867 in Boeuf/MO, d. 31.05.1951 in Hermann/MO,   
                           married 16.03.1893 to Dorothea Plattner, b. 1867, d. 1961 – 1 daughter 
                               - Andreas Schindler, b. 08.04.1878 in MO, d. 18.10.1958 in Orrick/MO, married  
                                  1898 to Anna Catherine Battagler, b. 27.03.1875 in MO, d. 14.11.1945 in  
                                  Orrick/MO – 5 children 
                                      - Jacob Schindler, born 1876 in Missouri, died unknown 
 
4 daughters: 
          - Margareth Schindler, born 1856 in Boeuf/MO, died unknown 
                 - Rosalie Schindler, b. 14.02.1860 in MO, d. 01.04.1912 in Fishing River/MO, married to  
                    Jacob Werle, b. 1854 in Hermann/MO, d. 05.04.1925 in Richmond/MO – 4 children  
                    - Bertha Schindler, b. 18.07.1862 in Hermann/MO, d. 21.10.1935 in Missouri, 
                      married 20.10.1883 to Albert Werle, b. 06.11.1860 in Stony Hill/MO, d. 19.02.1943 in  
                       Orrick/MO – 13 children 
                          - Catharina Schindler, born 1872, died unknown 
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Maria Boesch (was 11 years old when crossing)  

12.05.1836 in Maienfeld/GR  

15.08.1873 in Swiss/MO 

1855 in Swiss/MO to Jacob Dörflinger, born 29.10.1819 in Fulenbach/Solothurn,                                         
died. 07.08.1893 in Swiss/MO 

6 sons: 
      - Adolph Dörflinger, born August 10, 1856 in Swiss/MO, died February 1, 1945 in Appleton    
        Cirty/MO, married Christina Michel in 1887, born July 25, 1866 in Swiss/MO, died April 11, 1955   
        in Appleton City/MO – 3 sons, 1 daughter 
             - Albert Dörflinger, born July 10, 1858 in Swiss/MO, died Nov. 22, 1921 in St. Louis/MO, 
                married on November 6th, 1881 to Mary Schaffner, born September 23rd, 1861 in   
                Berger/MO, died October 7th, 1950 in St. Louis/MO – 3 sons, 3 daughters 
                      - Edward Dörflinger, born Nov.1862 in Swiss/MO, died July 5th, 1900 in St. Louis/MO, 
                         married 1891 to Louisa Schaffner, born October 26, 1867 in Berger/MO, died May 18,    
                         1957 in St.Louis/MO                              
                                - Louis Dörflinger, born April 18, 1865 in Swiss/MO, died March 22, 1944 in 
                                  Higginsville/MO, married on May 9, 1889 to Ursula Philipp, b. on April 12, 1863 
                                  in Hermann/MO, died June 15, 1927 in Higginsville/MO – 3 sons, 2 daughters 
                                      - Otto Dörflinger, born January 31, 1867 in Swiss/MO, died 1940 in Appleton 
                                         City/MO, married on April 30, 1896 to Christina Schindler, b. on March 16,   
                                         1870 in Hermann/MO, d. Feb. 24, 1964 in Kansas City – 2 sons, 1 daughter 
                                             - Jacob Dörflinger, b.1873 in Swiss/MO, d. 1947 in Appleton City/MO        
                                               (was adopted by John Michel and his wife Mary Ganser after his mother's   
                                                death in the same year)  
                                                I. Marriage 1913 with Ella Parks, born 1875, died unknown,  
                                                II. Marriage 1916 to Lula E. Denton, b. 1878 in Millerton/Iowa, died 1965 
3 daughters: 
          - Margaret Amalia Dörflinger, born June 1859 in Swiss/MO, died May 11, 1927 in Toledo/Ohio, 
             married on September 9th, 1870 to Ferdinand Werle, born December 1850 in Missouri,  
             died unknown  – 1 son, 3 daughters 
                    - Anna Elizabeth Dörflinger, born March 28, 1869 in Swiss/MO, died November 24, 1948 
                       in Higginsville/MO, married to Henry Proett  in 1895 – 3 sons, 2 daughters 
                           - Catherine Dörflinger, born Oct. 1871 in Swiss/MO, died February 07 in Fulton/MO 
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   Adolph Dörflinger           Albert Dörflinger (1858-1921)            Edward Dörflinger                       Louis Dörflinger 
      (1856-1945)                    and his wife Mary Schaffner                 (1862-1900)                                (1865-1944) 

                       Otto Dörflinger                      Anna Elizabeth Dörflinger                  Catherine Dörflinger  
                         (1867-1940)                                   (1869-1948)                                   (1871-1953)                



  

Jacob Dörflinger (Photo 1888) 

Maria Boesch's husband, Jacob Dörflinger, was born in 1819 in Fulenbach in the canton of 
Solothurn. He left his birthplace and arrived in Gasconade County, Missouri, about 1854. The cros-
sing took 72 days. In later years he told his daughter Elizabeth that when he left Switzerland he was 
a Catholic. However, when he came to the United States he was a committed Presbyterian and 
remained so for the rest of his life. In the same year of his arrival, Jacob applied for US citizenship 
and was eventually admitted as a US citizen in 1860. 
In 1855 he married Maria Boesch, who was born in Maienfeld in 1836. Her parents were Andreas 
Boesch and Anna Margareth (in the USA Maria) Just. In September 1856 Jacob bought a 120 
Morgan (30 ha) farm near Swiss/MO from the 'General Land Office' in St. Louis. There he and 
Maria raised nine children. Maria died in 1873 shortly after giving birth to her son Jacob. John and 
Maria Michel, who lived on an adjacent farm, took Jacob Jr. as their son and he took the surname 
Michel. 
On Dec. 18, 1879, Jacob Sr. married Anna Maria 'Mary' Zesinger, née Schneider of Täuffelen in the 
canton of Bern, who had six children (three of whom died in infancy) by her first husband, Frederick 
(Fritz) Zesinger, of three had died years earlier, brought into the marriage. Jacob Dörflinger died in 
1893 and is buried in the 'Old Presbyterian Cemetery' in Swiss. 
Letters Jacob wrote to his daughter Elizabeth provide a glimpse into his life, much of which was 
typical of the people of Swiss in the mid and late 19th century. He spoke of how he and his son Otto 
had to be ready when the harvest hands and their machines came and what a hard and hot work the 
harvest was. The weather was a constant issue, either too little or too much rain. In a letter dated 
January 6, 1888, he notes: 
"We've been praying in our new church for a little over a month, it's warm and cozy and I hope to 
spend the rest of my life praying there." Jacob's will was detailed, listing 'my bed frame, bedding, 
down pillow and blankets'. 
 
 

The Presbyterians 
 
The Presbyterian churches stand in the tradition of Reformed and Calvinian theology. They 
emphasize the authority of the Bible, the sovereignty of God as testified to in the New Testament, 
and justification within the Trinitarian doctrine of grace through the God-man Jesus Christ. The 
Presbyterian community in the United States today is approximately two million members. 
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Christian Frederick Boesch (was 9 years old when crossing)  

11.03.1838 in Westfalen/Preussen  

13.04.1918 in Blackwell/Oklahoma(OK) 

20.04.1873 to Wilhelmina Stradtmann, born 02.05.1948 in Westfalen/Preussen, died. 27.01.1933  
in Blackwell/OK 

 
3 sons: 
       - Edward Hermann Boesch, born January 20, 1874 in St. Louis/MO, died April 16, 1951 in  
         Blackwell/OK, married on October 12, 1899 to Charlotte Ilgaheim Meyer, born December 7, 1879   
         in Prussia, died July 4, 1961 in Blackwell, OK - 12 children 
                 - Henry Boesch, born 1879 in St. Louis/MO, died unknown 
                        - William Herman Boesch, born Dec. 9th, 1892 in St. Louis/MO, died April 13th, 1948 
5 daughters: 
          - Wilheminia K. Boesch, born May 2, 1875 in St. Louis, died June 24, 1901 in Daykin/NE,   
             marriage 1896 to William Frederick Hahn, born February 15, 1868 in Huron City/Michigan, 
              died October 19, 1945 in Tuscola/MI – 8 children 
                 - Louise Henrieta Boesch, b. 28.08.1877 in St. Louis/MO, d. 11.11.1944 in Swanton/NE  
                    - Sophia L. Boesch, b. 09.09.1885 in Nebraska, d. 11.06.1953 
                          - Anna Boesch, b. 05.03.1886 in Nebraska, d. 05.08.1952 
                                - Ida Boesch, b. August 1889 in Nebraska, d. 05.08.1952 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

Joseph and Ursula Boesch are missing from this list of the children of Margareth Just and Andreas 
Boesch. Only the year of birth of the two is known. They probably died in childhood before 1847 
and were therefore not on the trip to America: 
- Joseph Boesch, born 1832 in Switzerland 
- Ursula Boesch, born 1838 in Switzerland 
 
 

Anna Margareth Just-Boesch died in Georgia between 1860 and 1870. 
The exact date is not known. 

 
 

–

–

Christian Frederick Boesch und his 
wife Wilhelmina Stradtmann 

 

–
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 Margaret Just                  
1854 – 1922 

Emigrated to the USA in 1882 

Margaret Just was born on April 18, 1854 on Guscha as the daughter of Peter and Margaretha Just-
Bühler. She married Maximilian ‘Max’ Ortlieb and they had a daughter together – Anna Margaret, 
born April 1st, 1876 in Maienfeld/GR. In 1882 the small family emigrated to the USA in the state 
of Wisconsin. After the death of her husband 'Max', Margaret Just married the German immigrant 
Ernst Ludwig Haase on February 5, 1898. She died on September 6, 1922 at the age of 68 in 
Franklin County, Ohio. 
 

2 im Alter von 68 Jahren in Franklin, Ohio, und 

wurde in Gahanna, Ohio, beerdigt. 

–

–

–

‘Probus’

der Zielort wurde mit ‘Buffalo’ angegeben. Die Boesch hatten nie die Absicht, nach ‘Buffalo’ zu 

 

Ohio 

Wisconsin 

Margareth Just                      

18.04.1854 in Guscha/GR-

06.09.1922 in Ohio 

               I.            1876     

  Maximilian Ortlieb 

229.05.1856 in Frickingen/D - 

 1897 in Columbus/Ohio 

 II.         05.02.1898 in Milwaukee/OH 

  Ernst Ludwig Haase 

28.11.1865 in Prussia - 

 26.02.1915 in Ohio 

Anna Margaret Ortlieb                  

01.04.1876 in Maienfeld/GR-

07.09.1929 in Ohio 

                          1895     

  Franz Ernst Huber 

22.08.1861 in Dresden/D - 

 26.11.1937 in Columbus/Ohio 

Ernest F. Huber                              

24.12.1905 in Sturgeon Bay/WI - 

nach 1948 in Zanesville/OH 

            I.            05.10.1925     

  Mary Elizabeth Boggs 

um 1910 - 22.02.1957 in Ohio 

                 II.           1936  

Margaret Cole 

1905 - unknown 

 

William Clarence Huber                                                   

12.11.1907 in Wisconsin - 

20.01.1970 in California 

                    I.          1933     

  Rachel Reihl 

13.11.1911 in Zanesville/OH - 

11.01.1981 in Zanesville/OH 

              II.           01.07.1961  

Edna May Reihl 

13.10.1906 in Zanesville/OH - 

10.06.1994 in Santa Clara/CA 

Frank Ernest Huber                         

07.06.1903 in Sawyer/WI-

05.07.1948 in Los Angeles/CA 

         I.           03.07.1925     

  Irene Iva Hoffmann 

16.04.1910 - 11.07.1989 

        II.           27.06.1931     

  Ruth E. Connor 

29.05.1903 - 10.02.1988  

Anna Margaret Ortlieb 
divorced Franz Ernst Huber 
in 1912, but remarried him 
on June 30, 1917 in Frank-
lin/Ohio. 

The descendants of Margreth Just still live under 
the name Huber in the USA. 

 
 



            

            

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VI. Chapter 

The Mutzner family 

Bibliography: 

- Hans Mutzner, Gemeindearchiv Maienfeld   
- Jürg Mutzner-Gloor, Stammbäume Mutzner 
- Fortunat Ruffner, Präsident Verein «Pro Guscha»  
- ancestry.com 
- findagrave.com 
- pro-guscha.ch 
- Wikipedia 

 



 

 

 

The economic situation had changed around 1880 in 
both Europe and the USA. Since the introduction of 
the railway, agriculture in Switzerland could no 
longer compete with the cheap imported grain, and 
agriculture accordingly turned to animal husbandry 
and dairy farming even more than before. In the 
textile industry, homework fell sharply after the 
introduction of weaving machines. What followed 
was an actual economic crisis, in which not only 
Swiss agriculture was hit hard by the depression, but 
also the railway companies, the watchmaking, and 
the cotton and silk industries. Political and social 
tensions arose in Europe, caused by the second in-
dustrial revolution and a population explosion, 
which triggered a further wave of emigration to 
North America. 
 
In the USA, the economic situation developed in the 
opposite direction after the end of the civil war and 
thanks to faster and cheaper transport options such 
as trains and steamboats, emigration had become 
easier. Industrialization spread over a large area. 
America desperately needed labor and the states of 
the Midwest became more accessible to agriculture. 
 

Welcome Swiss 
 
Data from US immigration officials shows that 
while many of the Swiss arrivals could only afford 
third-class travel, they had more cash to start their 
new lives. Many had also come with their families, 
another sign that they tended to be a bit more 
financially secure than the typical immigrant from 
southern Europe, who traveled alone and usually had 
only a handful of practically worthless lire or 
drachmas in his pocket. 
 
Before the center opened on Ellis Island, the new 
arrivals were registered in an arrivals hall in Battery 
Park, Manhattan, then known as Castle Garden. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VI.  Chapter 

            he third and last major emigration wave of the 19th century began in the 1980s. In that decade, more  
            than 80,000 Swiss had packed their belongings and made their way to the port cities on the Atlantic  
            to board a steamer bound for America. In the 1880s, about the same number of Swiss emigrated to 
the USA as in the previous seventy years. They were part of a wave of almost five million Europeans emigra-
ting, twice as many as in the previous decade. According to American statistics, over a quarter of a million 
Swiss people immigrated to the USA within a century (1821-1920). 
 
 

–

Republiken der ’Drei Bünde’, welche vertraglich nac

The 1880s and advances in technology 

T     
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Arriving from Switzerland, whether they spoke 
German, French or Italian, had been assisted through 
the immigration procedure by an employee who 
spoke their language. Their names and other details 
were recorded and checked against the ship's pas-
senger list before they could continue their journey. 

Free farmland 

Most of the Swiss moved further west to take advan-
tage of the opportunity to get farmland or to travel 
to places where settlers from Switzerland had 
already settled - for example in California, or had 
founded their own communities, as in the Example 
New Glarus in Wisconsin. With the Homestead Act 
of 1862, the US government offered land in the new 
territories to all settlers, provided they committed to 
tilling it for at least five years. In the absence of a 
welfare state, following the liberal spirit, there was 
no provision for the needs of migrants to be taken 
care of by a central state agency. So the already 
resident Swiss helped the new immigrants to get 
farmland, set up shops or other businesses and most 
people joined the local Swiss associations. It is fair 
to say that these years were the best times for 
emigrants! 

Not all immigrants stayed in the US forever. Bet-
ween 1815 and 1914, about one in three European 
immigrants returned to their home country, although 
this varied greatly over time and between countries 
of origin. The rate of return migration increased over 
time, and immigrants from Eastern and Southern 
European countries returned more frequently than 
Central and Northern Europeans. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

Numerous members of the Mutzner family also left their home in Graubünden in the course of the 19th 
century and emigrated to North America. The name Mutzner no longer appeared in Guscha in the 1850s, 
because the Mutzner clan had migrated to Rofels and Maienfeld centuries before. Caspar Mutzner was one 
of the first Mutzners to dare to jump across the ‘big pond’. He was the youngest son of Johannes and Margreth 
Mutzner-Senti. 
 

‘Battery Park’ ‘Castle Garden’.

–

The Mutzner family 
 

Caspar Mutzner, his wife Dorothea Mutzner-Bantli and their children Margreth, Johannes and 
Maria arrived in New York on June 15, 1846. Their first daughter, who was also called Margreth 
and was born in Maienfeld in 1839, died in the year she was born. The Mutzners probably traveled 
through Germany to Hamburg, from where they embarked for the crossing. 
The Mutzner family first moved from New York to Wisconsin, where their son Andrew was born 
in 1849. A year later the daughter Dorothea followed and the youngest daughter Hannah was 
born in 1852 in Darke County in Ohio, the new home of Caspar Mutzner's family until then. But 
the mother Dorothea Mutzner-Bantli died as a result of the birth of her daughter Hannah, and 
from then on her surviving husband Caspar had to look after his children alone. In the 1860 
population register, Caspar Mutzner lived on a farm in Richland, Ohio, with his eldest daughter 
Margreth and her husband John Peterseim. However, the two names of his children Johannes 
(John) and Dorothea Mutzner do not appear on that list, so it can be assumed that they both died 
before 1860. 
The exact date of Caspar Mutzner's death is not known, but it is between 1880 and 1890, since 
he can still be found in the 1880 list of residents of Greenville/Ohio. 
 

nach Rofels und Maienfeld abgewandert. Einer der ersten, der den Sprung über den ‘grossen 
Teich’ wagte, war Caspar Mutzner. Er war der jüngste Sohn von Johannes und M

 Caspar Mutzner                  
1814 – nach 1880 

Emigrated to the USA in 1846 

Caspar Mutzner                      

1814 in Maienfeld/GR -              

after 1880 in Greenville/Ohio  

               

Dorothea Bantli 

1821 - 1852 in Ohio 

Andrew L. 

Mutzner                  

16.01.1849 in 

Wisconsin -

11.03.1919 in 

Newberry/Ohio          

           16.01.1873      

Mary Ann 

Martin 

15.12.1853 in 

Darke/Ohio -            

09.03.1920 in 

Miami/Ohio 

Hannah Mutzner                             

11.01.1852 in 

Darke/Ohio -

17.05.1913 in 

Germantown/OH 

                    

Noah Stoner 

1850 in Ohio - 

1929 in Ohio 

Margreth 

 Mutzner                 

1839-1839  

in Maienfeld 

Margreth 

 Mutzner                 

15.04.1841    

in Maienfeld - 

26.11.1866  

in Ohio 

      

14.10.1856 

John Martin 

Peterseim 

17.11.1832 in 

Miami/Ohio - 

05.09.1906 in 

Ansonia/Ohio 

Maria 

 Mutzner                 

22.02.1846 in 

Maienfeld - 

02.09.1933 

 in Ohio 

 

06.12.1864 

Jacob E. 

Kauffmann 

25.08.1824 in 

Pennsylvania - 

10.06.1895  

in Ohio 

Johannes 

 Mutzner                 

1843 in 

Maienfeld -

befor 1860 

 in Ohio 

5 children 

 

Michael Stoner 

1872-1925 

John Stoner  

1874-1935 

Harriet Stoner  

1876-1938 

Mary Stoner 

1879-1955 

Joseph Stoner 

1892-1966 
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Continued 
next page 

Dorothea 

 Mutzner                 

1850 -  

bef. 1860  

in Ohio 

Martha Hannah 

 Peterseim               

19.08.1857 in 

Richland/Ohio - 

08.02.1937 in 

Jackson/Ohio 

Sarah Jane  

Peterseim                

08.02.1864 - 

25.01.1952  

in Darke 

County/Ohio 

John Wesley 

Kauffmann                                        

10.05.1867 - 

01.04.1899  

in Osborn/Ohio 



 

 

 

Standing: Charles (1884-1912), John Earl (1873-1937), William Henry (1887-1948)  
                David Andrew (1875-1950), Lydia Mae (1879-1948)  
Sitting:    Father Andrew (1849-1919), Grace Katherine (1890-1928),  
               Mother Mary Ann (1853-1920) 
 

der ersten, der den Sprung über den ‘grossen Teich’ wagte, war Caspar Mutzner. Er 

The Andrew Mutzner family 
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- John Earl Mutzner, born June 7th, 1873 in Darke County/Ohio, died January 27th, 1937 in Piqua/Ohio,  
  I. Marriage to Daisy Bertha Cook, born June 6th, 1871 in Jackson Township/Ohio, died Sept. 27th, 1911 in Arcanum/Ohio  
  – 3 sons, 1 daughter 
 II. Marriage on February 25, 1928 to Frances B. Ullrey, born Oct. 28, 1880 in Newberry/Ohio, died unknown – no children 
 
        - David Andrew Mutzner, born August 25, 1875 in Ohio, died March 15, 1950 in Piqua/Ohio, married on May 21, 1895   
           to Jeanette Mattie Wade, b. April 15, 1873 in Parkersburg/WV, d. July 6, 1966 in Covington/Ohio – 3 sons, 1 daughter 
 
                - Lydia Mae Mutzner, born October 26, 1879 in Darke County/Ohio, died December 1, 1948 in Covington/Ohio,  
                  marriage on December 25, 1897 with Charles H. Palser, born May 25, 1875 in Orange/Ohio, died April 9, 1947 
                   – 2 sons, 1 daughter 
 
                        - Charles Mutzner, born September 8th, 1884 in Adams/Ohio, died February 9th, 1912 in Hamilton/Ohio,  
                          was never married 
 
                                - William Henry Mutzner, born March 28, 1887 in Darke County/Ohio, died December 21, 1948 in  
                                   Covington/Ohio, married on January 12, 1910 to Ida Eldora Meztger, born August 25, 1888 in  
                                   Newberry/Ohio, died March 19, 1977 in Greenville/Ohio – 1 son, 3 daughters 
 
                                          - Grace Katherine Mutzner, born August 27, 1890 in Covington/Ohio, died January 23, 1928 in  
                                            Covington/Ohio, married on August 29, 1908 to William F. Smith, born November 16, 1887 in    
                                            Covington/Ohio, died October 3, 1952 in Piqua/Ohio – 3 sons, 6 daughters 
 

–



   

 Johannes Mutzner                
1845 - 1907 

- Johannes, 16.04.1845-28.04.1907 
- Jakob, 14.08.1841-1890 (Page 135)                                                         Johannes (John) Mutzner 
 

Johannes Mutzner was born on April 16, 1845 in Maienfeld. He is a great-great-uncle of mine. His 
brother Paulus (1832-1901) was married to Anna Mutzner (1846-1909). They were my paternal 
great-great grandparents. (See family tree page 5) 
Johannes' father, Jakob (1801-1852), was a son of the town clerk Christian Mutzner (1761-1824) and 
Katharina Mutzner (1775-1843). Together with Elsbeth Riederer (1803-1855), whom he had married 
in 1827, they were parents of twelve children; 
 

Emigrated to the USA in 1866 

- Katharina, 1827-1840     
- Maria, 1829-1836 
- Paulus, 1832-1901 
- Verena, 1833-1833 
- Christian, 1835-1837 
- Andreas, 1836-1918 married on 1865 to 
  Katharina Barbara Stäger 
- Christian, 1838-1839 
- Christian, 1840-1903 was a locksmith and  
  married twice. (Anna Rehli, Christina Haag) 
- Caspar, 06.06.1846-27.08.1846 
- Maria, 21.11.1847-13.08.1931 was since 1869 
  married to Michael Riederer 
 
Her two brothers Johannes and Jakob 
emigrated to North America. 
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My great-great-uncle Johannes Mutzner was twenty-one years old and the only Mutzner on board the 
steamship "Borusssia", which left the port of Hamburg on April 21, 1866. However, there were many 
Swiss on the passenger list, originating from Zizers, Haldenstein, Mels, Lunden, Pany and nine of 
them from Jenaz. We do not know when the "Borussia" reached New York. It must have been early 
May, since the steamships of the time were able to cross the Atlantic within two weeks.  
 
auf ‘Castle Garden’ mit ‘Landmann’ an. Er zog von New York nach Dayton in Ohio und wurde Johannes Mutzner gave his occupation 
to the immigration authorities at Castle 
Garden as ‘countryman’. He moved 
from New York to Dayton, Ohio and 
became a tailor. On February 4th, 1869 
he married Clara Paul from Baden/ 
Prussia. They had two sons together. On 
May 20, 1881 - John Mutzner, as he 
called himself since his arrival in the 
USA, was apparently divorced in the 
meantime - he married Mary Anna 
Schoen. She was the daughter of 
German immigrants from Württem-
berg. Four children came from this 
marriage. (Page 134) 
Until his death on April 28, 1907, John 
Mutzner lived in Dayton, Ohio, where 
he ran his tailoring business. 
 



 

 

 

 

Passenger list of the «Borussia» 
 
Departure date: April 21, 1866                    Captain: Schwensen 
Place of departure: Hamburg    Place of arrival: New York 
Type of ship: Steamer Ship's    Flag: Germany 
Accommodation: steerage 
Ship owner: Hamburg-American Paketfahrt-Aktien-Gesellschaft 
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Marriage certificate of John Mutzner and Mary Schoen 

The first marriage with Clara Paul 

John Mutzner                                

16.04.1845 in Maienfeld/GR -

28.04.1907 in Dayton/Ohio 

             04.02.1869        

Clara Caroline Paul 

um 1831 in Baden/D -            

30.10.1909 in Dayton/Ohio 

John Julius Urban (Mutzner)                                          

27.02.1870 in Dayton/Ohio -

09.10.1923 in Chicago/IL 

             Okt. 1895        

Kathryn Gallagher 

Okt. 1874 in Buffalo/NY -            

15.11.1950 in Chicago/IL 

John and Clara divorced after Charles was born. Clara married Phillip Urban and the two sons must have been 

adopted by him as they took the surname Urban. 

Charles Urban (Mutzner)              

12.12.1872 in Dayton/Ohio -

30.10.1952 

                   

Margaret E. Unknown 

unbekannt - 18.04.1947 in 

Dayton/Ohio 

3 children 

 No children known                         

Feb. 1870 in 

The second marriage with Mary Schoen 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Catherine Rose  

Mutzner                  

24.05.1882 in 

Dayton/Ohio -

06.12.1960 in 

Indianapolis/IN             

       01.04.1903       

William Francis 

Kerber 

14.03.1877 in 

Ohio -            

13.05.1953 in 

Ohio 

John Mutzner                                

16.04.1845 in Maienfeld/GR -

28.04.1907 in Dayton/Ohio 

             20.05.1881        

Mary Anna Schoen 

 1853 in Dayton/Ohio -            

06.01.1898 in Dayton/Ohio 

Mary  

Mutzner                  

geb./gest. 

30.09.1881 

Elisabeth ‘Lizzie’  
Mutzner                  

22.02.1889 - 

21.05.1909  

in Dayton/Ohio 

Christian John W. 

Mutzner                  

30.03.1885 in 

Dayton/Ohio -

16.04.1913 in 

Indianapolis/IN 

             25.01.1911      

Eva Marie Strigler 

01.07.1889 in 

Indianapolis/IN - 

Feb. 1968 in 

Pinellas/FL 

Wedding photo of William Kerber 
and Catherine Mutzner 

n Julius Urban (Mutzner)                                                

Francis Michael 

Mutzner                  

1912 -1932 in 

Indianapolis/IN 

William Kerber and Catherine 
Mutzner with their five daughters: 
(photo 1910) 
 
- Marie (1904-1976) 
- Catherine (1905-1995) 
- Margaret (1906-2001) 
- Loretta (1908-1967) 
- Elizabeth (1909-1959) 
 
Her five sons were: 
- Lawrence Alfred (1910-1971) 
- William (1912-1953) 
- George (1914-1981) 
- James (1915-1979) 
- Paul (1918-1977) 
 

- 134 - 

Catherine Rose Mutzner and William 
Francis Kerber in front of their home 
in Ohio around 1950. 

Catherine Rose Kerber, née 
Mutzner, died on December 
6, 1960 while visiting her 
daughter Catherine in 
Indianapolis. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Jakob Mutzner                  
1841 - 1890 

Emigrated to the USA in 1883 

Like Johannes Mutzner, Jakob Mutzner was my great-great-uncle. He arrived in New York on a cold 
winter's day on February 12, 1883, and after seventeen years he was reunited with his brother, the 
tailor Johannes. Jakob also settled in Dayton/Ohio and is said to have opened a hotel. 
 
Jakob Mutzner was born on August 14, 1841 in Maienfeld and was married there to Margreth Just, 
who was born in Guscha in 1854. The two had two daughters; Margreth, born 1877 and Elisabeth, 
born 1879, who later married Johann Juon in Maienfeld. It is not known what fate the family had to 
endure. Because Jakob Mutzner traveled to America in 1883 without his family. Only his name was 
on the passenger list of the steamboat "Labrador", which had left the French port of Le Havre a week 
before arriving in New York. 
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On July 17, 1883, Jakob Mutzner married Rosina Ernst, born in 1865, in Dayton/Ohio, who was of 
German descent. Their daughter Elisabeth 'Lizzie' was born in December 1883. However, she died 
eighteen months later on June 22, 1885. Jakob Mutzner was not able to enjoy his new home for long 
either. He died on August 20, 1890 at the age of 49, seven years after his arrival in the United States. 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leroy C. Moss 

26.09.1919 in Highland/IL - 

21.04.1960 in Highland/IL 

         14.06.1941 

La Verne Frank 

29.04.1919 in Marine/IL -

18.06.2001 in Highland/IL 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Estella Katharine Mutzner 

05.02.1901 in Marine/IL -

12.07.1968 in Illinois 

          1919 

Wilbur Reginald 

 Schwehr 

30.03.1898 - 24.09.1967 

 

with their three-year-old son Christian. They embarked on the ‘Brarens’ in Hamburg and 
arrived in New York Harbor on August 28, 1846. The trace of father Christian had already 
disappeared at that time. There is no information about his whereabouts in the USA 
databases, which suggests that he died on the journey or shortly after his arrival in the USA. 
This assumption is supported by the fact that Rosa Wüstner married her second husband 
Hans Johann Ambühl in St. Louis/Missouri in 1848. 
 
 

‘Labrador’, die eine Woche vor der Ankunft in New York den französischen Hafen Le 

Magdelena Mutzner 

02.11.1898 in Madison/IL - 

25.12.1962 in Highland/IL 

Aug. 1919 

Clarence Heinrich Moss 

02.10.1898 in Madison/IL – 

16.06.1980 in Highland/IL 

 

Donna Riffel  

13.11.1942 - 

10.01.1995 

Dennis Riffel  

24.03.1945 -

19.03.2007 

 Christian Mutzner                
1780 – um 1848 

Emigrated to the USA in 1846 

Johann Christian Mutzner  

 30.11.1868 in Marine/IL - 

12.08.1902 in Highland/IL 

          11.01.1898  

 Anna Ammann 

04.05.1878 in 

Millersburg/IL - 

23.04.1970 in Pierron/IL 

 

Opal Irene Moss 

28.06.1921 in Highland/IL - 

20.10.1988 in Highland/IL 

         08.06.1940 

Richard Riffel 

10.05.1915 in Highland/IL - 

13.06.1976 in Highland/IL 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Leola Laurene Moss 

01.09.1923 in Alhambra/IL - 

01.05.2018 in Maryville/IL 

         16.11.1949 

Charles Emil Kauhl 

07.05.1917 in Marine/IL -

14.07.1987 in Highland/IL 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

3 sons 

1 daughter 
 

1 son 

 

Bernice 

Schwehr 

09.02.1920 - 

30.11.2001 

 

James 

Laughlin 

30.01.1917 -

10.11.1996 

 

Doris 

Schwehr 

31.08.1921 - 

24.10.1998 

 

Charles 

Corrigan 

01.02.1921 - 

24.08.2005 

 

Wilburta 

Schwehr 

1923 -  

1995 

 

James 

Clarence 

Render 

1921 - 

1994 
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4 sons 

2 daughters 
 

3 daughters 

 

1 son 

2 daughters 

 

Christian Mutzner and Rosa Wüstner from Fideris (03/15/1811 - 10/12/1890) had married 
in 1841 in Maienfeld. Five years later they left their homeland and moved to Germany 
with their three-year-old son Christian. They embarked on the Brarens in Hamburg and 

dreijährigen Sohn Christian nach Deutschland. In Hamburg schifften sie auf der ‘Brarens’ 

‘Labrador’, die eine Woche vor d

Christian Mutzner 

 (Miller)  

1691 - 1754            

          

Barbara Büsch 

1705 - 1756 

Stephan Mutzner 

1747 - 1798  

           1771           

 Margreth Nigg 

1744 - 1817 

Christian Mutzner 

1780 - um 1848  

           1841          

 Rosa Wüstner 

1811 - 1890 

Continued on page 137 
rechts 

Johann Christian Mutzner (photo right) died 
in August 1902 at the age of 34. He was run 
over by a 'runaway' horse. His wife Anna was 
then three months pregnant with Mary Ann. 
Anna married Edwin Franklin Frey in 1904 
and gave birth to six more children over the 
next eight years. 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       
 

 

 

Dale Douglas 

Schwend 

12.04.1925 in 

Highland/IL - 

10.10.1959 in 

Highland/IL 

 

Dean Dallas 

Schwend 

23.11.1928 in 

Highland/IL - 

12.01.1978 in 

Highland/IL 

 

Christian Mutzner 

04.04.1843 in Maienfeld/GR -

16.09.1903 in Highland/Illinois  

              14.04.1867 

Magdalena Ambühl 

30.11.1837 in Davos/GR -   

08.04.1917 in Highland/IL 

 

Christian Adolph Mutzner  

 12.08.1872 in Marine/IL - 

24.04.1901 in Marine/IL 

          04.04.1899  

 Josephine Molly Klein 

11.09.1876 in Illinois - 

19.01.1969 in Highland/IL 

 

Mary Ann Mutzner 

11.02.1903 in Highland/IL -

20.05.1984 in Highland/IL 

          22.06.1920 

Millard Fredreck Schwend 

04.12.1898 in Highland/IL - 

17.01.1970 in Highland/IL 

 

Christian Philipp Mutzner  

 03.04.1901 in Marine/IL - 

28.02.1969 in East Alton/IL 

        21.02.1925  

 Irene Lulu Zimmermann 

19.06.1905 in Highland/IL - 

19.10.1932 in Highland/IL 

 

Loretta Eunice  

Mutzner  

 07.05.1925 in 

Highland/IL - 

20.05.1964 in 

Danforth/IL 

          23.09.1945 

 James Louis 

Sayler 

13.03.1924 in 

Lafayette/IN - 

20.06.1995 in 

Waddy/KY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 sons 

2 daughters 

 

Hazel Lucille  

Mutzner  

 21.10.1927 in 

Marine/IL - 

10.01.1990 in 

Alton/IL 

           11.11.1942 

 Lonzie Crawford 

30.12.1920 in 

Blackshear/GA- 

03.09.1991 in 

Alton/IL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 sons 

4 daughters 
 

Lylah Irene  

Mutzner  

 11.03.1929 in 

Marine/IL - 

März 2014 in 

Marion/IL 

         24.09.1949 

 Wilmar Franklin 

Hock 

19.12.1928 in 

Alton/IL- 

15.04.1994 in 

Cottage Hills/IL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 son 

1 daughter 

 

Helen Faye  

Mutzner  

 07.04.1931 in 

Highland/IL - 

13.05.2014 in 

Edwardsville/IL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          30.09.1950 

 Elven William 

Bufford 

23.06.1928 in 

Wood River/IL- 

21.03.2000 in 

Maryville/IL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 son 

2 daughters 

öchter 
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Johann Christian and Christian      
Adolph Mutzner around 1875 

There is a certain discrepancy 
in the US databases regarding 
the origins of Christian Mutz-
ner and Rosa Wüstner. 
Based on the available data in 
the community archive of 
Maienfeld and the family 
trees created by Jürg Mutz-
ner-Gloor, the data listed here 
is confirmed and verified. 
 
 
 

–

Dampfschiffes ‘Labrador’, 

Christian Mutzner 

1780 in Maienfeld - 1848  

        1841          

 Rosa Wüstner 

15.03.1811 in Fideris  -

12.10.1890 in Highland/Illinois 

 

Christian Mutzner and Rosa Wüstner had a 
child together – Christian, born 1843 in 
Maienfeld. This Christian married Magdalena 
Ambühl in 1867, who had emigrated from 
Davos to America with her parents. The two 
had two sons; 
Johann Christian and Christian Adolph. You 
can tell that Christian was the family's favorite 
first name. 
Their family trees can be found on these two 
pages. 
In den Datenbanken der USA herrscht 

Passagierliste des Dampfschiffes ‘Labrador’, 



     

     

     

           

           

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rosa Wüstner Rosa, born March 15, 1811 in Fideris/GR, died 
October 12, 1890 in Highland/IL, was the mother of Christian 
Mutzner. Seen here with her second husband Hans Johann Ambühl 
(October 5th, 1809 in Davos - November 22nd, 1899 in Mari-
ne/IL), whom she married in 1848 in St. Louis/MO. Together they 
had two daughters. 
 
- Maria Magdalina Ambühl (1849-1930) 
- Anna Ambühl (1854-1929) 
 
It was also the second marriage for Hans Johann Ambühl, and he 
brought three sons and three daughters into this marriage after his 
first wife Magdalena Jenny died in 1842. 
He arrived in New Orleans in 1839 together with his brother Hans 
Luzi Ambühl on an old sailing ship after a 63-day crossing (April-
June) and arrived in St. Louis on a river steamer on the Mississippi, 
where he initially stayed in a 'Corn Crip' before coming to 
Highland, Illinois in September 1839. Corn Crip was the name 
given to the granaries used to dry and store corn. 

Christian Mutzner (1843-1903) with his 
wife Magdalena Ambühl (1837-1917) and 

son Johann (John, 1868-1902)  
photo around 1870 

Gravestone of Christian Mutzner (1843-1903) 
and Magdalena Mutzner-Ambühl (1837-1917) 
in the Highland Cemetery in Madison County 

in Illinois/USA 
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It is probably more than a coincidence that the family of Christian Mutzner and 
Rosa Wüstner settled in southwest Illinois in the Highland area in 1846. Heinrich 

Huber (see page 33) described exactly this area in his emigration report from 1845 
and praised the soil and the country to the skies. 

 
I am sure that the Mutzner family was aware of this report and influenced their 

decision to leave Guscha and seek a new home in the 'promised land'. 
 

 
 

‘Corn Crip’ 
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Epilogue 
 

Man cannot advance to new shores 

 unless he has the courage  

to leave the old ones. 



            

            

            

            

            

            

    

Until the beginning of the First World War in 1914, the flow of emigrants from Europe to 
overseas, be it North or South America or Australia and New Zealand, continued. Not everyone 
found the happiness they had hoped for and some, more than one would expect, returned to their 
homeland. Countless dramas have taken place on the emigrant ships and not all reached their 
destination port. The most well-known shipwreck in history should be mentioned here as an 
example - the sinking of the "Titanic", which on April 14, 1912 shortly before midnight on the 
way to New York in the North Atlantic was hit by an iceberg and sank. 1,500 people died in the 
icy waters - many of them were emigrants from England or Ireland. But emigrants from other 
countries were also on board, such as Leo Zimmermann from Todtmoos/Germany in the Black 
Forest. However, the names of Swiss emigrants were not found on the passenger list. 
 
The 19th century became a real emigration century for Switzerland. Over 400,000 Swiss left their 
homeland, most of them forever. While the mercenaries, master builders and confectioners had 
been exclusively men, it was now mostly entire families who emigrated. Between 1820 and 1920 
at least 260,000 Swiss men and women settled in the USA. 
 
I followed fifteen emigrant families from Guscha and Maienfeld. I looked for their traces and life 
stories, representing everyone, so that they would not be forgotten - just as little as their ‘village 
of six houses and more stables nearby, and on the mountain to the Ahonen, which is called 
Dörfli Guscha, into oblivion sank. 
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Final word 



    

          

Not far from the little St. Luzisteig church, the narrow, mobile path branches off to the village of 
Guscha and leads over the climbing meadows, past the Guscha tower, up the increasingly steep 
forest path to the 1,115-metre-high Walser settlement of Guscha. The six white houses lean 
against the steep heap of the foothills of the Falknis massif and look pensively and dreamily down 
into the valley. 
 
At the end of 1969 the last residents, the Mathis Just family, left their sunny residence on Guscha 
and moved to the valley. The federal government (VBS) acquired the settlement of 16 hectares 
as a security zone for the St. Luzisteig military base. Fortunately, however, the planned project, 
which would have resulted in the complete demolition of Guscha, could never be implemented 
thanks to objections from the neighboring Principality of Liechtenstein. So Guscha was left to 
his fate and decay. But thanks to a few individualists, the Dörfli did not fall into oblivion! 
 
An association was founded in 1974 under the name "Pro Guscha" and an agreement was reached 
with the owner, the federal government. The purpose is the preservation, improvement and use 
of the buildings and the conversion of the old Walser settlement of Guscha. I have been a member 
of this association since 2022. 
Through the voluntary commitment and countless hours of forced labor by the members of the 
association, many of the buildings of the old Walser settlement could be rebuilt, renovated and 
repaired and thus saved from decay. 
 
Today you can live on Guscha again, take a break on the hike, strengthen yourself in the Stübli 
by the tiled stove with a warm soup, homemade sausage and mountain cheese or even spend the 
night in one of the houses, almost like in the times of the Walsers. 
In June 2018, the contract with the federal government extended into the 1930s. so that the 
association can continue to look after the Guscha settlement. Thus, the spirit of the former 
inhabitants of Guscha lives on in the 21st century - and with them their stories! 
 

– ‘Titanic’

Guscha today 
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Once upon a time, the descendants of the emigrants from Valais, who were called Walser 
in Graubünden, migrated down from the high valleys of the Rätikon and founded the 
settlement of Mutzen in the first half of the 14th century, which today bears the name of 
Guscha. For countless generations, the families, above all the Just, the Riederer and the 
Mutzner, remained true to their village and lived high above the Luzisteig near Maienfeld, 
close to the border to the Principality of Liechtenstein, an existence full of hard work, 
deprivation and toil. Their houses and stables were burned down twice over the centuries 
as a result of armed conflicts with the Habsburg Empire. But the Walser on Guscha stayed 
and rebuilt their houses – for the time being. 
It was not until the middle of the 19th century that the first families gave up their existence 
as mountain farmers and left their homeland for good. More and more families followed 
the call from afar and, like their ancestors centuries before, some Walsers set out again. 
Except that the circumstances, the motivation and the goal were different. This time they 
were not recruited by feudal lords who gave them a piece of land to farm and farm and 
granted them liberty rights. Poverty, famine, disease, war and death, lack of prospects and 
desperation drove them on their last (emigration) migration. Many sought their fortune 
overseas and most of them found it. Nobody ever returned to Guscha. 
I followed the footsteps of fifteen emigrant families from Guscha and Maienfeld. The last 
way of these Walser led to North America and via Australia to New Zealand. Their stories 
with family trees are told in this book, illustrated with old photos, original documents and 
passenger lists. 
A contemporary document of the past for present and future generations! 
 
nno 1845 wanderte Peter Bardill mit seiner Frau Margreth Metz und ihren vier Kindern von 

–
‘ ’


